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go to the British Dominions as coolics in any number Lo
sow for others to reap.  But they had no claim .to be
treated as human beings and when their  multiplication
led to their domicile in thuse places they came to be,
felt as regular thorns on their sides.  The most ugly
manifestations of this fechng have proved the utter
hollowness of the equality-cult of the Western Demo-
cracivs.  Colour-prejudice is almost a disease with
them,  What to speak of the wage-carning classes of
India, even persons of high social standing whose partner-
ship m life 15 sought by European ladics, fare no beiter.
in (he matter of securing entry into the lands of their
White wives. Here is an structive story.

Dr. Dantra, a respectable fndian, marded an’
Austradian lady and went in for expensive landed proper-
ties in Australia in the bope of setthng there with his
family after retirement from screvice. But the gentleman

- was not allowed to enter Australia when he  wanted to
live there on his propertics. A very instructive corres-
pondence in this .connection throws some nght on the
unanimity of opinion amongst all whitemen in the matter
of exclusion of Indians from the Dominions, the  British
Statesmen only urging the use of some clever dodge in
place of an open sign of “No  Admission.”  The letter
runs thus :—

“ Mr. H. \W. Hunt, president of one of -the
Melbourne Theosophical  Lodges, and a well-khown
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public man, had an intervew on the subject with the
Commonwealth Minister for External Affairs who was
“sympathetic” he says, but helpless. The Act does
aot mention colour or race but the Minister stated
(according to Mr. Hunt) that the intention was to
exclude all coloured races, and he adwitted that, if
an Irdiangentleman who knew European languages
presented himself for admission to the Commonwealth,
he would be set a dictation test in some language,
say Russizn, which he did not know. He said further
that this hypocriical method of carrying out the
purpose was suggested in a despatch by Mr. Cham-
berlain, then Colonial Sceretary, who pointed out
that the Japanese would regard an exclusion on the
ground of colour, so stated in an Act of Parliament, as
offensive to them as a nation and as imposing upon
them a badge of inferiority. Mr. Chamberlain, therfore
suggested that the then recently adopted National Act
embodying the “dictation test” would meet the difficulty
and attain t3e same end, while being less offensive to
Japan and India”.

“And how did they kcep him out? By a law
that unless an Indian can pass a language test he is
not to be aflowed to goin: and they may set it n
any language they like, Modern-Greek, Russian, Polish,
Roumanian. The Indians are very clever in language
but it is hopeless for them to try to pass such a test.
The test was made at Mr. Joseph Chamberlain’s
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suggestion, for he said it would make them less angry
than if you said plainly that a coloured man must not
come in. [t scems to me more hateful because of its

a hypocrisy”.

Thus all the different Colonies have got immigra
tion laws as a standing monument to their selfishness and
colour-prejudice, and the badge of inferiority imposed
upon all coloured races and this insult to their national
self-respect bind them together with a tie of common
indignation. Inview of the above facts 1 shall not be
surprised, if in case of any clashof interest between
Australia- and Japan, the sympathy of British India,
whose national honour is at stake, flows towards Japan
and all coloured races make a common cause against
the arrogant affront of the Whites.

As | was directly concerned with those which
adorned the Canadian Statute book from time to time,
. a short narrative of lndian immigration into Canada is
called for,

At the beginning of the 20th Century the Indians
were allowed to go to Canada and U.S.A. The stream of
Indian immigration began in 1903-4 and by 1910, it
was estimated, about 10,000 Indians had landed in these
shores. 90} of these persons were Sikhs and of them
807, were retired soldiers. At that time an average
labourer could earn there something like Rs. 10/- per
diem. As the Indians were generally superior is physical
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finess they could increase theirearnings considerably.
The Sikhs in this way made money and acquired landed
properties &c., the vilue of which approximately
awounted to 2 crores 15 lacs of Rupees in 1908, This
prosperity of the Indians was an eyesore to the vagabond
Europeans whose carnings were affected by the immi-
grant coolies ( Indians ), conscquently they left no
stone unturned to pack off these millioneers out of the
Country.

An European named Genl Swain declared that
no Indian could be allowed to put up in a British
Colony and to make money through business. It
was apprchended that as the Indians were at that time
enjoying cqual rights with the Europeans, they
would induce their fellow countrymen to migrate to the
colonies and carry on business there and enjoy equal
rights with the Europeans and thereby they would
lower the prestige of the white-races and this would
have far reaching effect in weakening the hold of the
B:itish Government in India.

A report to that effect was despatched to the
India Government which deputed an ]"uropeﬂl C.LD
officer to look in to the matter.

This C.LD. officer was well up in Hindi language.
I 1908, the Canada Government took up the matter
m right earnest an | passed an order upon the Indians to
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leave British Canada and to migrate to far distant
British Honduras, another name of which 1s “Hell”.
But the Indians replied that they could not go else-
where leaving behind them properties worth
Rs.2,15,00000/- Reconsidering the matter the Canadian
Government thought it wiser to take shelter behind'a
clever dodge, and a law was passed in 1910 on
gth May, by the Governor General of Canada
in Council, by which it was enacted that ¢ from
and after the date there of, the landing in Canada
shall be and the same is hereby prohibited of
any immigrants who have gone to Canada otherwise
than by continuous journey from the country of which
they are natives or citizens, and upon through-tickets
purchased in that country or purchased and  prepaid
in Canada,” There was another provision that “no
immigrant of Asiatic origin shall be permitted to
enter Canada unless in actual and personal possession
in his or her own right of 200 dollars, unless such
person is a native or subject of an Astatic country in
regard to which special statutory regulations are in
force or with which the Government of Canada has
made a special treaty or convention.”  For its success
in keeping off Indian immigrants the Canadian Govern-
ment relied on two factors wiz.

. There was no direct Steam Ship service
to Canada from India,
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a. No Indian who had not with him 200
dollars equivalent to Rs. 600/~ in cash
would be able to land in Canada.

The intention was that no Indian would be able
to go there for after spending Rs. 450/- for passage he
would hardly have Rs. 600/- cash in hand. For in that
case he must have possessed altogether more than
Rs.1,000/-, 2 prohibitive sum for most Iadians. The
latter apparently innocent provision was very cleverly
explained to be merely in the interest of the immigrant
adventurer who, for the sake of prudence, should have
something to fall back upon so as not to be left stranded
on a foreign shore.

Though this law was for all colours and races yet
praciically it was operative against the Asiatic people
alone.  As this policy was opposed by the Japancse
Government vigorously and as they were even prepared to
go to war for it, il necessary, it was modified
for them and a treaty was concluded with the Japanese
that they would be allowed to send 400 people every

year and the above resirictions would ‘be waived in
their favour.

Next the Chinese Consul opposed it and threatened
the boycott of Canadian goods. So they had to come to
terms with China as well and it was agreed upon that
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any number of Chinese could come in after paying a
tax of Rs. goo/-per head.

The settlement was made with these two couniries
hecause they arein a position to answer the affront
to their rights and honour.

But what about the Indians who are said to be

" British subjects protected by their benign governs
-ment # They have no Consul of their own to represent
them there.  Serfs at home, they are treated no better
than helots abroad. What most grievously hurt them
was that Indians living in Canada had sent for their
wives and children who purchased tickets up to
Hongkong ( as there was no direct steam ship service to
Canada) and thence to Canada.  When they were
about to land the Canadian Government stopped them
with an order to return back to Hongkong. Pause for
a *moment to imagine the heart-rending scene on the
docks. Fathers had come to receive their children,
husbands had come to receive their *wives but the
Canadian Government’s brutal order stood between them.
T'o sigh and shed.tears in silence was all they could do.
Those on board had spent their last farthing to reach
Canada where the protection and help of their relations
and friends awaited them and the order passed by the
Canadian Government threw them into utter destitution.

Can anything be more (ragic and brutal ?
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Indian Immigrants in Canada,
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To carry on agitalion aganst this most inequitable
discrimination against Indians two societies were formed
on tee 15th December, 191t under the names of “United
india  League” and “ Khalsa ewan  Society-
v ancouver.” They jomntly made a deputation to
the Canadian Government at Ottawa for redressof these
wrengs but in reply they were informed that the Canada
Government would communicate the matter to the India
" (Government” and let them know the result afterwards.
The Indian Government and Canadian Government had
joined hands in framing this rule and this talk of referring
to the Indian Government was merely a pretext to suppress
the agitation for the time being, so no reply from the
Indian Government was ever received.

On 22nd February, 1913, they held a meeting
and resolved to send a deputation of three represen-
tatives iz —(1) Sardar Balwant Singh, (2z) Sardar
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Nand Singh, (3) Sardar Narain Singh. This deputa-
tion first went to Ottawa and then to England. In
TLondon on 14th May, 1913, a big meeting was
held in* Caxton Hall and resolutions were passed for
redressing the gricvances of the Indians living in Canada
and for bringing pressure on the Canadian Government to
force them to withdraw the whimsical laws enacted to
prevent Indians from larding there. Copies of the
resolutions were subsegently sent to the Parliament and
to His Majesty George V., the Secretary of State for
India in Council and the Government of Canada.

The deputation later on visited India and waited
upon the Government of India, approached the Hindu
Sabha and other influential public bodies but without any
results,

]

Of these three persons, Balwant Singh was hanged
without any reason, of which mention will be made
later on. '

The year 1913 was a tragic year for India.

(1) The persecutions of the Canadian Govern-
ment compelled respectable Indians who could not enter
Canadato take to manual labour for a living like stone
breaking etc on. their way back to India. 1 was at this
time in Malaya where these people met me and narrated
their tales of woe.



Voyage of “Komagatamdru". 15

{z) In this year Mahatma Gandhi with his
wile and thousands of Indians courted imprisonment
figating for the rights of Indians in South Africa.

(3) The Government of India demolished the
walls of the Sikh Gurudwara at Rakabgunge, New
Delhi, and thereby desecrated the holy place.

(4) In the Malay States, without the least
show of an excuse, the Government sent to jail about 60
Sikhs and then by force expatriated them to Madras where
they were left stranded and penuiless ; and Madrasi
being a language quite foreign to them, they could not
maintain themselves by begging even.

These incidents upset my balance of wmind and
consequently 1 gave up my contractorship and went
to Hongkong in 1913 to witness for myself the real
styte of things.

At Hongkong a *sabha’ was held in December 1913
and 1 was asked whether [ could do something for my
Indian brethren. In my speech I pointed out that the
British Government does not take us to be men, sc
we have to become men first before we can do
something. Thousands of deputations will not move
the Canadian Government or change the views of
Indian Governmen*s  There was only one way in which
we could vindicate our right of entering Canada andthat
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would be the casiest one ez, to charter a steam ship of
our own andsto fulfil the provisions of the existing law
we would have to make a direct voyage to Canada.
Secondly % 1,00,005 would have to be a deposited in a
Canadian Bank for the sureties of every individual of
our community intending to land there so that Canadian
Governmept may not raisc *any objection on the ground
of rour financial position. It was worth while to lay out
a good deal of money on such an enterprise. 1 obtained
the sanction of my community to make the voyageto
Canada and [ sct about making preparations accordingly.
My community promised to subscribe Rs. 80,00,000 when
I shall have madc one test voyage to Canada. So |
took the charge of 8. S. Guru Nanak Nawigation Co.
The proposed voyage would be a test of the sincerity of
the Government of Canada in framing the rules.  If we
complicd with all the provisions of the law regulating
the immigration of foreigners into Canada, it was up to
the Government to permit us to land and prove itself
to be just and fair. My scheme was to arrange for four
ships, two to ply in the Canada Caleutta Line and two in
the Bombay Brazil Lmne,

The dispute between me and the Government of
Cauada arose because [ wished to help my countrymen
to immigrate to the Colony and carry on lawiul trade
there, and the Governiment was resolved at any cost to
thwart me in this as it was obviously opposed to their
policy of exclusion. The venture failed because I got
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no help-or support from the Indian Government, which
joined with the Canadian Governmentin an unholy
alliance to deprive us of our legal rights. The personal
injury done to me was so manifestly unjust that they
tried their level best to shield it by holding me up as a
law breaker and rebel in the eyes of the world,  There
is no need to clte wiinesses to depose fore me.
I do emphatically assert that I did not violate the
regulations laid down by the Canadiain Government to
make a direct voyage to Canada and T was prepared to
deposit, on behalf of my countrymen, whatever sums
were required under the law but both the India Govern-
ment and the Canadian Government stood in my  way.
In fact both the Goveroments violated and ignored
the laws of their own creation.

[ am prepared to establish to the complete
satisfaction of all unprejudiced readers that we were
in no way responsible for any breach of law. We
serupulously complied with every provision of law
and took special care to sec that there was no infring-
ment of the rules at any step. The conduct on our
part was in all respects lawful and unexceptionable. 1
daresay every reader will beur me out in this who
cares to follow the course of events in a disinterested spirit
of enquiry. The tragedy of the Komagatamaru was a
glorious moral triumph for forty lakhs of brave and
spirited Sikhs who proved to the world the righteousness
and justness of their cause and amply demonsirated
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to the world the scant regard that the Governments of
Canada and India pay to their own laws when these
happen to clash with their self interests.

When we approached a firm of Solicitors
Vancouver for taking up our case and offered to pay any
amount they chose to name, they declined the offer on
the ground that the matter had got “beyond the realm of
such legal proceedings” and had become a question of
national policy and diplomacy rather than of law. They
made it absolutely clear that it was not going to be a
“legal fight” at all. The Canadian Government did not
take their stand on the legality of their actions and
hence the solicitors could not conscientiously take up our
casc. Their reply runs as follows -—

24th June, 1914

From M, C. Crassan & Harper,
Vancouver B, C. .

Re. S, 8. Komagatamarus

Dear Sir,

Persuant to your request and the request of youf
committee, we have carefully considered this matter and
regret 1o say that we, after full consideration, must
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decline to accept a retainer. We feel that the matter
has become of such great moment that it has got
beyond the realm of such legal proczedings and has
‘become largely, if not entirely, a question of national
“policy of vital importance, nat only to the Government
of this country but also involves conflicting Linperial
© interests.

In the face of this, it seems to us that it isa
question for diplomacy rather than law, and we do*not
feel that we could conscientiously enter upon a legal
fight under these circumstances notwithstanding the
fact that you have offered a very gencrous retainer.

We beg to advise you therefore that we feel
compelled to decling the retainer.

Yours truly,
(Sd.) M. C.Crassan & Harper.

We consulted the three foremost Councels of
I'-Iongkong to ascertion the legality of the voyage we
proposed to make and they unreservedly and unanimous-
ly gave the following opinion.

From
C. D. Williamson,
E. }, Grit,

C. E. H. Davis.
. 9, Queens Road,

Hongkong, 24th March 1914.
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To

Gurdit Singh, Esqr,,

Dear Sie,

_Referring to your interview with us this afternoon
when you enquired whether there were any restriction
upon Indians who wish to travel to Vancouver, so far
as this colony is concerned, we have to advise you
that in our opinion there are no restrictions upon the
immigration by Indians from the Colony unless they are
under contract of service. {and the intending passengers

were under no contract of service.) * % #

The Komagalamarn Enquiry Committee of the
Government of India could hardly conceal their chagrin
when they werc forced to confess ( para 6.)
“If such a course had been possible under the law, the
Colonial Government would have absolutely prohibited
the vessel from leaving Hongkong.” It is evident from
this that the vessel proceeded from Hongkong with full
legal authority. '

We now invite the attention of the readers to the
terms of the Charter contract entered into with the owne:
of the vessel Komagatamaru through his agent which i
reproduced below in full. All the provisions of the
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contract, as can be gathered from what follows, were
fulfilled and no case could be made out agamst me as
charterer on the ground of non-compliance with the terms
of the contract, nor could the boarders of the vessel be
debarred from landing in Canada on that score,

The Charter Parly is reproduced in full in the next Chapter,

gueuo

THE RAMAKRISHNA MISSION
INSTITUTE OF {ULTURE
LiBRARY

——tot






CHAPTER 1l

The Charter Party.

A. Boxg, L4th March 1914,
Ship Broker. Hongkong
Stamp Duty.

245tk March 1814,

R. S. Government form of Time Charter Party,
Hongkong.
24th. March 1914

1t is this day mutually agreed between A. Bone,
Esqr. Hongkong, as Agent for owners of the Goods Steam
ship called the Komagatamaru of 3096 tons Gross Regis-
ter,and 1918 tons Net Register 265 horse power nominal
classed German Lloyd 100 A. L of 4300 tons nett
weight and tons cubic capacity or there abouts inclu-
sive of Bunkers, which contain 444 tons : and Gurdit
Singh Esqr., as Time Charterer.
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1. That the said A, Bone Esqr. Hongkong, agrees
0 let and the said Gurdit Singh Esqr., agrees to hire
the said Steamship for the term of six calender months,
she being then placed at the disposal of the Charterers
it Honkong in such dock, or at such wharf or place
(where she may always safely lie afloat) as charterers
nay direct, she being then tight staunch, strong and
n every way fitted for the service (and with full equip-
nent of officers, seamen, engineers and firemen for
ressel of her tonnage) to be employed in such lawful
rades in Asta not North of Vladivostock nor west of
Suez, European Asia excluded, including Australia,
nt excluding Africa with the exception of Mauritius ;
acluding west coast of Canada, United States of North
\merica, Mexico, Central and South America, as
sharterers or their Agents shall direct on the following
sonditions ;-

The act of God, the king's enemies, pirates,
obbers by land or sea ; restraint of princes, rulers, or
reople ; loss or damages from machinery, boilers or
team or from explosion, heat or fire on board, in bulk
r craft or on shore jettison, baratry; collision, any act,
ieglect or default whatsoever of pilots ; master, or crew
1 the management or navigation of the ship and all
nd every manner of the dangers and accidents of
he seas, rivers and canals and of navigation of what
ver natuce or kind, or mutually accepted.
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General Average, if any, to be scttled according
to York Antwerp Rules, 1890, as construed and governed
by British Law,

2. That the owners shall provide and pay forall -
the oils, palnts and dock store, and forall the provisions
and wages of the Captain, Officers, Engincers, Firemen
and Crew, shall pay for the insurance of Jthe \'ussél,
also for all engine room stores and maintain her in a
thoroughly efficient state in hull and machinery for
the service, That the Charterer shall provide and
pay for all the coals, fucl, port charges, piloliges, agen-
cies, commission and all other charges  whatsoever
except those bifore stated,

3. That the Charterer shall pay for the ase and
hire of the said vessel at the rate ol 11,000 Elaven
Taousand dullars Honkong  currency registered 1on per-
calender month commencing on the date of delivery,
gay about 27-28th  March 1914 and at. thoe
same rate for any part of & month’s hire to contivue:
from the time specificd for terminating the Charter-
until her delivery to Agents unless lost at Hongkong,

4 Payment to be made in advance mouthly to
owners’ agent at Hongkony in cash as per clause No 33
and in default of such payment as thercin specilied
the owners shall have the faculty of withdrawing
the said steamship from the service of the Charterer
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without prejudice to any claim, they, the owners may
otherwise have on the Charterer in persuancz of this
Charter.

g The steamer shall be ready for Charterer at
Hongkong on 31st March 1914, or Charierer shall
have the option of maintaining or cancelling this
Charter. This Charter shall commence 20 hours after
notice in writing has been given to Charterer that the
steamer i ready to receive cargo with clean swept
holders, but the Charter shall not commence before
2sth March 1914 unless with the Charterer’s consent.

6. That when necessary and recommended by
Survey Report, the steamer shall be docked at owner's
expense and time so used shall'mot count under this
charter party. '

y.  That any reasonable quantity of bunker coal
on board the steamer at the commencement or ter-
mination of this Charter shall be taken over respec-
tively by the Charterer or owners at market price
of the port,

8. That the cargo or cargoes shall be loaded or
discharged in any dock or at any wharf or place that
Charterer may direct where the steamer can always
be afloat.

9. That the whele reach and burthen of the ship
(not being more than shall reasonably stow and carry),
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shall be at the Charterer’s disposal, reserving only proper
and sufficient space for ship’s officers, crew, tackle,
apparel, furniture provisions stores and water etc,

to. That the Captain shall proszcute his voyage
with the utmost despatch and shall render all customary
assistance with ship’s crew and boats, *

i1. That the Captain (although appointed by the
owners) shall be under the orders and directions of
the Charterer, as regards employment, agency or other
arrangements provided the same be within the terms of
the Charter and the Charterer hereby agree to indem-
nify the owners from all consequences or liabilities that
may arise from the Captain's signing bills of lading or
in otherwise complying with the same, so long as these
acts are performed with the consent of- the Charterer
or their agent, provided that at the time it is in the
power of the Captain to consult them.

12. That if the Charterer have reasons to be
dissatisfied with the conduct of the Captain, Officers or
Engineers the owners shall on receiving particulars of
the complaint, tnvestigate the same, and if necessary
make a change in the appointment.

13 That the master shall be furnished from time
to time all requisite instructions and sailing directions
and shall keep a full and correct log of the voyage or
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voyages which are to be patent to Charterer or their
agents,

14. That in the event of loss of time from diffi-
ciencies of men or stores, break down of machinery or
damages preventing the working of the vessel for more
than 48 working hours, the payment of hire shall cease
until she s again in an cfficient state to resume her
sérvice; but should the vessel be driven into port or
anchorage: by stress of weather or from any accident
to the cargo such detention or loss of time shall be at
the Charterer'’s risk and expenses.

13 Aoy time wsed for repairs or any time, which
“under previous elauses does not count’ for payment of
hire may at the option of the charterer be reckoned
as parl of the term of this charter party, or in addition
- o' the'said term, provided notice be given at the hme to
the owner’s agent.

16, -That should the vessel be lost, any hire money
paid in advance and not earned (reckoning from the

date of loss or being last heard of) shall be returned to
the Characterer,

17. That the vessel "is only to be employed in
ssteictly newtral trade, and s’ not 10 carry contraband
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of war, for trade t6 or from ports declared under
blockade and in the event oiihe trade stipulated for
beco ning impossible in consequence of war, blockade, or
hos:ilities this Charter shall forthwith terminate,

13.  No goods injurious to the vessel to be shipped
during the currency of this charter. .

1g. That the owners shall have a lien upon all
cargoss and all sub-freights and passenger money for
hire money duc under this Charter and Charterer to
have a hen o the ship for all monies paid in advance
and not carned, -

20, ‘The net results of any salvage after pay-
ment of any award to master and crew, if required,
shall be equally divided batween owners and Charterer ;
time s0 used to count under this Charter.

21,  Custom house officials, purser and doctor,
watchers and tailymen to be viclualled by the steamer
at one doller and fifty cents (Hongkong) ¢ 1.50 per
day. Room shall if required be provided for purser
and doctor, who shall mess with the master at Charterer’s
EXPeNses,
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22. Should the officers, engineers or crew of the
steamer be required to work in port on Sunday or
before six AM. and after 6 P.M, 01 week days
allowance for work so performed shall be paid to them
by the Charterer wiz.—engineers and officers at 50
Hongkong ccnts (or the equivalent) per hour, and
steamers crew at the rate of 12 Hongkong cents per

hour. Suane

23. That should any dispute arise between the
owners and th~ Charterer the matter in dispute shall be
referred 0 three persoas in Hongkong, one to be
appointed by each of the party hereto, and the third
by the two so chosen, their decision or that of any two
of them, shall be final, and for the purposes of enforcing
any award. This agrecement may be made a rule of
court.

‘24, Penalty for non-performance of this contract
shall be in anccordance with the estimated amount of
damages.

25 If required sufficient cash for steamer's dis-
bursements but not exceeding what is necessary, to be
advanced to the Captain by the Charterer at the various
gorts of call free of commission and insurance.

» » * ]
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26. No charge (0 be made against the owners of
the steamer for ageney at any of the ports of call.

27. The stecamer to be sufficiently immersed in
the master’s judgment to be sea worthy for the various
passages. No cargo to be carried on deck in the
transpacific passenger trade when carrying more than
100 passengers provided always that such aumber is
allowed by the authoritics of ports of departure and
destination.

28.  All cxpenses due Lo quarantine o be paid by
Charterer and hire to be paid durinyg detention in con-
sequence thereof,

29. All cargo claims o be paid by the Charterer,

30. Charterer shall pay all charges and expenses
ansing through taking stecrage passengers and shall
supply all provisions, water, galleys, cooks, fittings
and medicines, medical stores, also doctor and purser
if required by Charterer—in every respect in accordance
with the Hongkong Ordinance and to the satisfaction of
the immigration officers, Hongkonyg, passengers certifi-
cate for a full compliment of stecrage passengers, for
which the measures under the certificate, with the neces-
sary Loats and rafts to be provided by the owners.
Charterer to pay for immigration license at Hongkong
Time used for building, fittings and renioving fittings
te count under this Charter.
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31, On re-delivery the vessel to Le reconditioned
and restored to owners in her original state, fair, wear
and tear cxcepted.

32, Owners guarantee that the vessel can pro-
cure a Fongkong passenger certificate.

33 Onc month's hire ta be paid on signing this
Charter and another month's hire within one week
from commencement of Charter, another two month's
hire to be paid at Hongkong within 14 days from date
of commencement of charter but not later than the
day before steamer’s departure from Japan for Canada
Afterwards anothier two months, hire to be paid by
Charterer to owners agent at Hongkong ab the duc
date, two montas after commencement of Charter,

3+ In the event of the steamcr being detained
or seize:l on account of Charterer not complying  with
the laws and regulations of the respective Government,
owners will be paid under such detention and until
steamier is redelivered in Hongkoag,

# - *® ke #

35 Winle in the transpaciic trade and making
consecutive voyages to the west coast of America the
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stcamer is to have at least six days in Hongkong bet-
ween arrival and departure for the customary cleaning
of boilers and general overhaul of engines, such time
to count under the charter and paymen: of hire to
continue uninterupted.

36. Any overpaid charter money to be returned
to Charterer pro rate according to the time steamer is
employed under this charter ; should charter hire not be
paid as above stated, owners are allowed to order
steamer to Hongkong on terms as stated in clause §.

37. Owners shall not be obliged to equip the
steamer with wireless telegraphy.

Witness to the Signature (Sd.) GurpiT SINGII,
(Sd.) R. SoLoMon. (Sd.) A. BONE,
For the Owners
by Telegraphed Authority
Dated Kole, 23vd Mavch 1914,







CHPTER IV,

Canada’s Hideous Crime
under cover of law, -

03—

The report of the Komagatamaru Enquiry
Committee ( appointed by the Government of India )
admits clearly in paragraph 10 line g that the ship had
accomodation for 533 passengers and that had the hope
of getting 500 passengers been fulfilled, I would have got
thereby one hundred thousand dollars and huge profits
would have accrued. But alas the Committee caring
not a whit for truth and fairness purposely ignores to
record the well known fact that the Honkong Govern-
ment arrested me on the eve of our departure to
scatter the five hundred passengers by coercion and
intimidation. No charge was.framed against me nor
was [ told what I had donz te incur Governmental
wrath. Qoviously this was done to scare away my
followers. Woe to those who dare to make such a bold
venture |
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The Committee further pointed out that out of the
handred thousard doliars ten thousand would have to be
expended on coal and other provisions and that after
two months many passengers could have been got for
the next trip. But the Committee for reasons best
known to it under estimated the figures for the income
from the targo frieght which would have far exceeded
the expendilure on coal and provisions and this would
have fetched me a profit of more than a hundred thou-
sand dollars for each trip,  That was why the Hong-
kong Government inspite of the fact that legal demands
made upon the ship had been duly met, having delibera-
ted with my legal advisors paid $12§ (according to the
Emigration Act, Hongkong} to the “Government
Passage Office” and bought 500 pass tickts, upon each
onc of which was written—one passenger fron
Hongkong to.-Vancouver.

Thz Committee found the vouchers in my
office, yet tried in vain to prove that the pass tickets
were counterfeit ones, by alleging that they were white.
Vide Report para 4.  Everything relating to the ship
had been published in the Post Ouice Gazette and five
hundred passengers were ready to embark when all of
a sudden the Government arrested me and took
possession of my office on agth March, 1924 although
after examining all my papers and finding nothing
objectionable, they released me on bail. On the 28th
March 1614, I was presented before the Court, but
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the Police withdrew the case. Advantage was taken
of my arrest and the intending passengers were
intimidated to give up the icea of their projected voyage
The result was that only one hundred and sixty five
passengers remained while pass tickets had been
obtained for five hundred passengers. Para 4,
of the Committec’s report clearly admits that before
my arrest muliitudes of men were gathering in groups
every day to book thamselves for the voyage, but as
the Government was bent upon ruining my enterprise
I was prepared even to return the fares of all those
who had already booked passage. But they persisted
with the result, that the ship had to wait, for passengers,
for six days at Shanghai and for five days at Kobe,
Japan. Even then the required number of passengers
could not be got. Moreover some of the passengers
were not able to pay their fares on the spo*, and hundies
ampunting to $ 24,000, ( vide Komagatamaru Enquiry
Committee Report para 10 ) had to be accepted. The
Hongkong Government is resgonsible for the loss of a
hundred theusand dollars. I served notice upon the
Hongkong Government, through my solicitors
~for the loss incurred as it had detained my ship
for a considerable period even alter the case
against me had been withdrawn. The Chinese and
theJapanese people wondered why the Government did
not detain other ships that were sailing every day, and
why this particular ship, the Komagatamaru, had been
held back but these simple folk, unaccustomed to the
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wiles of the alien Government, did not know that the
ship belonged to the helpless enslaved subjects, and
that the same Government which was to administer
justice on the matter, was itself responsible for the loss,
When persons enquired of me the reason why the ship
had been detained, I used to say in reply that Govern-
ment was‘only testing our loyalty. Many Sikh, Hinc".
and Mohammadan gentlemen grew very angry af
times, bu’ I always pacified them.

My interview with Mr, Severn, the acting
Governor of Honghomy 1—

On 3rd April 1914, when we three or four gentle-
men were talking with one another on the road side an
Englishman was seen hallooing me by my name.  As
1 approached him, he stretched his hands (for a hand
shake} out of the Rickshaw in which he was sitting, and
asked me, if I recognised him. I was about to say
something when he gave ou* his name as Mr, Severn.
Atonce I recollected that he was an Englishman of
noble descent, and he was the same man who once held
the office of District Magistrate and some other simil ar
posts in the Sclangor State, where Ihad been previ-
ously engaged in trade and contractorship. He told
me that he was occupying the postof the Colonial
Secretary at Hongkong, but was discharging the duties
of the Acting Governor as well, as the Governor Mr.,
May had gone on furlough. The loving words that
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were used towards me by Mr. Severn, on this occasion,
need not be given here, suffice to say that I still
remember them gratefully. After about a quarter of an
hour’s conversation, the next day (the 4th April 1914)
was appointed for our interview.  Accordingly the
rext day, I went to him with some presents worth five
or six hundred dollars, to which I drew his attention,
but he remarked with some irritation “ You ‘are my
friend and you are perfectly aware that I never accept
nor have I any desire for any presents ; low dare you
bring these presents to my preseace ?" [ felt rather awk-
ward, and replied “Yes, I know it perfectly well but
you know I had lately an occasion to reside for some
years in Hindustar, and there this praciice, condemna-
ble though it is, is so -prevalent that it was engrafted
on tome, for which [ am certainly to he blamed. We then
talked together for more than an hour and a half, on
miscellaneous matters of which the followng is relevant
to the present case :=

MvsiELF (—“Would you please lei me know why
. the ship has been detained though all legal
requirements have been complied with ?”

SEVERN I—“0) yes, | called to the Canadian
Government at Ottawa, and to the Indian
Authorities telling them that Komagata-
maru was carrying Sikhs to Canada, and
mquiring of them their opinion on the
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puint. But six days have elapsed and [
have received no reply as yet, and so I
have permitted your embarkation. You
arc therefore at liberty to embark, but
can you kindly let me know your object
in making this voyage to Canada™

MysiLr :—“Yes, by all means. My object in

launching this project i1s patent on the
surface and may be summed up in one
word—the promotion of the material well
being of my country. We, the enslaved
people of India are in the throes of a fierce
economie, and political struggle, poverty
has stamped its indelible mark on our
Country, famine and starvation stalk like
spectres” in the land capturing thousands
every year as their victims.  British
Domination in [ndia is another name for
the disguised British exploitation of the
soil, both of its wealth and intellect.
Iardly any effective step is taken by
the Government to improve the agri-
culture and industry of the Country. The
people have no opportumty or provisions
to be trained in any useful and profitable
art or industry, We do therefore stand
inneed of emigrating to far off lands
where the industrious sons of India can
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earn by manual labour a competency
for themselves and their families and
where they may acquire efficiency in the
various technical and industrial pursuits
which are essentisl for the economic
salvation of the Country. Besides, the
visions of men are widened by travel and
contact with the citizens of a free country
will infuse a spirit of independence and
foster yearning for freedom in the minds of
the emasculated subjects of alien rule.
Bat my object is purely commercial and
economic¢ and is in no way political.

SEVERN ;—How many Indians are prepared to
undertake this enterprise?

MYSELF At present 24,000 persons are ready
forit. 7They have assured me that they
would place at my dispusal £ 500,000 for
ihis purpose. This first trip is an experi-
mental one. On my return from Canada,
I will equip 4 ships, and take them from
Calcutta to -Canada and from Bombay to
Brazil, and a .regular service would thus

be commenced.

SEVERN —~“What would you do if the Canadians
do net allow you to land?”
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MyYSELF :—*Well, we " have already- thought

about it, First of all we know that the
Canadian Law which prohibited immigrants
to land have been annulled in the court
of the Chief Justice, Mr. Hunter, on 24th

. November 1915 and moreover, we being

Briiish Subjects are in every way entitled
te land, However, if the Canadian

_Government should persist in  objecting

SEVERN

MYSELF :

to our landing we would not mind, for we
shall be free (o take our ship to Brazil in
South America. That country is free and
requires to be peopled carnings there
are in no case lower than n Canada, and
the Country 13 most suitable for trading
purpeses for many of the Indian commodi-
ties can be exchangedythere very profit-
ably. But it is your duty, too, to help
us to land in Canada.”

=" yes, I shall write to the Canadian

Government to allow you to land, and
I will also write to :the Government of
India for it is its duty as well to heip you."

—“l would also 1twry to influence the
Government of India through * The Chief
Khalsa Dewn’ to take,steps for.the protecs
tion of our rights as British Subjects.
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SeverN :—~"Would you, if necessary, employ
the same principle of passive resistance
which Mr. Gandhi now a days employs
in Africa?

MySELF :—“Olh yes, ceriainly in the like manner,
' " for Mr. Gandhi's weapon of passive
resistance is effective and the only weap-
on for the otherwise unarmed and poor
Indians, and we approve of his methods.”

Towards the close of the interview, I asked
“Well Sir, what.do you thiak about it ? The Immigra-
tion act of Canada required us to embark from Calcutta
to Canada. But you know, we have our own ship s
we can go to Calcutta, take more passengers from .
that place and then leave for Canada. That would
be rather profitable for us, But waat do you think,
would the commencing of our voyage from Calcutta
be advantageous (o the Canadian Government or
‘would our starting from Honkong suit them better?”

Mr. Severn laughed a litde and replied, “In my
opinion it does not matter the least for the Canadian
Government if you start either form Calcu:ta or from
Honkong, for such restrictions have becn done away
with now."”

The ship left the port the very day i. e on 4th
April 1914 after we had suffered so enormously -owing’
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to the unjust and hos'ile conduct of the Honkong
Goverament wiich wis di ecly responsible for pur-
poscly irjuring our concern.  No natioa in the world,
barring the B.i ish, deemsit an offence to carry on trade
within legal limits The documents men.joned above
amply testify to the fact that the object of the voyage
was perfectly lawful and the organisers did not infringe
any section of law,

Innumerable difficulties and obstacles were placed
in our way, by tlie Aurhoriries of the Nation that govern
us, at Shanghai and Kobe details of which and the
journey on the high seas, | am compelled to leave out
owing to the fear that the sizz of the book will increase.

On 2tst May 1914, the ship arrived at Victoria.
The . Oficers with a squadron of steamboats
hemmed in the ship. The doctors certified that the
ship was quite clean and the passengers healthy.
According to the law, there remained nothing to impede
‘the progress of the ship to Vancouver. Harbour
regulations require each and every ship to obtain a
clearance paper from the Authorities before it is
allowed to leave any harbour. The clearance papers
give the number of passengers in the ship, her tonnage,
and her draft of water and are shown at the destina-
tion, so that the officers there may be able to detect
any loss of life that might have occured during the
Yoyage or may find out any irregularity that might
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have taken place. When the ship was making ready -
to proceed to Vancouver, the authorities demanded the
clearance papers, in order to have a look at it. It was
the duty of the Captain to present it but he said that
it was lost, The Authoritics were now preparing to
order the ship to sail back to Japan. A telegram
to the same effect was despatched to the Central
Government in Ottawa. In fact it was a matter of
little significance, for [ told them that I could procure
at my own expense a copy of the clearance paper
through telegraph, from Yokohama, Japan. But
inspite of my offer the authorities remained obdurately
stern. However in the meantime Sardar Daljit Singh,
my private secretary, found out the clearance papers
hidden somewhere. It might be, the Captain had
forgotten where he had placed the paper. However,
the officer’s first attack proved futile, and the ship
arrived at Vancouver curing the dark on the s2and
May 1914, Instead of allowing me or my subordinates
to deliver at the harbour master’s office a true and full
report of the ship immediately, we were rather regarded
as outcasts with the right of landing refused to us.

It is necessary to state here the ususl procedure
{that is followed on the arrival of any ship and what
was actually done in our case.

‘When the health officers had certificd and the
fall report of the ship had been delivered by the agent
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* consignee, master, or person incharge of the ship at
the Harbour Master’s office o: at the harbour
Commissioner’s office, the passengers ought to have
been allowed to land, and kept under official supervision
in a Government " building, especiully provided for the
country while thet rest were to have been deported
back in the return trip of the same vessel. Such was-
the procedure usually followed in the case of other
vessels as will appear [rom section 14 of the by-laws
of the Corporation of the Harbour Commissioner’s of
Vancoaver B. C, 1914, the text of which is quoted

below.

“The Agent, consignee, master or person incharge
of every vessel arriving in the harbour shall without
delay and before she breaks bulk, make and cause to be
delivered at the Harbour Master's office a true and
correct report i writing, signed and certified by him,
of the arrival of the vessel, of her tonnage, and of Ler
draft of water and shall pay all dues in respect of the
vessel and of her cargo to the Harbour Master, or any
person.authorside by a resolution of the Comumissioner’s
to receive the same ;  and shall also then pay all arreas
of dues, and all penalties then due to the said
corporation in respect of the vessel, or of her cargo
on aay previous voyage thereof,” '

~ Note :—Contrary to the requirements of this
by-law, neither | nor any other person acting on ‘my
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behalf, was allowed to deliver the report of the ship
at the Harbour Master's office.

The Commissioner of the Harbour or his Agents
may from year to year allot for the use of any regular line
of vessels trading to the Harbour of Vancouver, space
or any position of the wharves, piers or vacagt ground
then umder their jurisdiction, and the Harbour Master,
or such other oflicer as is thereto authorised by the
Commissioner ; may, on behalf of the Cominissioner and
under their directions, allot to the vessels “space or
any position of the wharves piers or vacant ground,”
and the Harbour Master may “permit the erection
thereon of temporary buildings and plinth and, he
may, acting as aforesaid, allot any part of the same
for the piling thereon of firewood or other lumber, or of
other articles,” the whole subject to such rate of charges
and for such period as is from time to time fixed by the
Coramissioner ; and such allotiment shall be in writing.
Upon the expiry of the term of such allotment, the
space so allotted shall forthwith be cleared of all build-
ings, goods or materials of any kind and by the person
to whom the same may have been allotted.

According to Sec. 18, (a) “The Harbour Master
shall.assign to each vessel arriving at the harbour the
berth it shall occupy giving precedence when practicabe,
to a vessel with cargo over a vessel with ballast or
taking in cargo,” * * *
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And may change such berth from time totime as
he sees fit, and such assignment of a berth may be
made by a verbal notice to the agent, consignee,
master or person incharge of the vessel, on each tdip
of the vessel, and no such vessel shall take up or
occupy a berth in the hardour unless such berth has
been allotted to the agent of the vessel or has been
assigned to her by the harbour master; provided,
however.

(b) That it shall be the duty of the Harbour
Master to assign berth at any wharf or pier constitu-
ting private property in the Harbour to vessels owner
posessed or Chartered by or consigned to, proprietors
of said wharf or pier, and no other vessel shall be
assigned berth at such wharf or pier ; except when
there shall be a sufficient berth.at the said wharf or pier
not then occupied by a vessel owner, Chartered by or
consigned to the proprietors of said whirf or pier and
then the harbour master may, at his direction, assign
berth to another vessel at such then unoccupied space
or any private wharf or pier, until such time as the
space shall be required for berthing a vessel owned,
charted by or consigned to the proprietors or such
wharf or pier,'when it shall b2 the duty of the Harbour
Master to cause the vessel then occupying the said
consignee, master, or person incharge of the ship at
the harbour master’s office or at the harbour
Commissioner’s office, the passengers ought to have
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been allowed to land, and kept under official supervision
in a Government building, especially provided for the
purpose, where due selection should have been made
of those who were to bc permitted to remain in the
country while the rest were to have been deported
back in the return trip of the same vessel. Such 'was
the procedure usually followed in the case of other
vessels as will appear from section 14 of the by-laws
of the Corporation of the Harbour Commissioner’s of
Vancouver B. C, 1914, the text of whichis quoted
below.

“The Agent, consignee, master or person incharge
of every vessel arriving in the karbour shall witheut
delay and before she breaks bulk, make a cause to be
delivered at the harbour master’s office a true and
correct report In writing, signed and certified by him,
of the arrival of the vessel, of her tonnage, and of her
draft of water and shall pay all dues in respect of the
vessel and of her cargo to the harbour master, or any
person authorised by a resolution of the Commissioner’s
to receive the same; and shall also then pay all arrears
of dues, and all penalties then due to the said corpo-
ration in respect of the vessel, or of her cargo on any
previous voyage thereof. *

Berth-to be removed to some other locations
“loading or unloading from vessels or rafis in the
harbour shall commence soon as possthle and shall be
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carried on with dilligence to the satisfaction of the
harbour master,

NOTE :~—What to speak of commencing
unloading with diligence, we were not even allowed
to.unload. Since nonce of the passengers on hoard
-were permitted to go ashore, the supply of provisions
and water ran short. It was after a long and
protected  commuanication  with  the Immigration
Department that Inspector Hopkinson came to see me
and wanted to converse with me confidentially. At
first he had showed an inclimation to approach me
through some passengers, but then he decided to take
me direct into his confidence. He told me that the
Canadian Government would regard no cxpenditure
as too heavy to prevent our landing, that he was
well acquainted with Indians and he had been deputed
there by the Indian Government to advise the linmigra
tion department as to the customs and manners of*the
Indians and finally that he had been sent to mwe by
Mr. Reed, Agent to the said Department, to have a
frank talk with me as one gentleman with another so
that I might come to terms with them, otherwise the
law would not stand in any good stead. Aflter pro-
longed discussion Mr. Hopkinson consented to accept a
sum of £2,000 as bribe to lead us out of the tangle.
Mr. Hopkinson held out that this was the only way open
*to us for effecting our landing and | agreed 1o relieve
the sufferings of the passengers. T was to hand over
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to him an earnest of 41,000 ( gold), the remainder
to be paid when all my passengers had landed. Unfor-

tunately the settloment could not be effected as Mr,

Hopkinson wanted me to swear by the Guru Granth
Sahib that I would not mention this to anybody. [ told

him plainly that it was not for me to swear by the

Guru and that the £2,000 sterling were to be paid from
the chest of the Sri Guru Nanak Steam Navigation

Company, and the fact thercfore, could not be con-
cealed from the rest of the community. This upset
“Mr. Hopkinson and he left me with the threat :(—"{
will see you.” Tlus incident became the stumbling
block in our way. [ was quite prepared to pay the
sum as [ told my fcllow passengers but I could not
agree to keep it a secret for all time to come, The
Komagatamare Enquiry Committee have repeatedly
charged me of defrauding the passengers, who however
had approved of my conduct and they firmly believed
that 1 was acting in good faith in the service of the.
country and my people. My fellow passengers tried:
to pursuade Mr. Hopkinson to accept the money withe
out demanding any vath but he declined to do so say-
ing that in the first instance I had proceeded wrongly
and secondly the sccrecy of the arrangement had been:
violated and it was possible that the Indian Committee
on the main laud might get scent of 1t and a charge.
of bribery might be laid at the door of himself and the

Immigration Department. The good that came out of®
this rupture was tht attempts at creating split between
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me and the .passengers failed.  This distinguished
the last ray of hope of the passengers’ landing.
We were prisoners in the hands of the Immigration
department ; all our correspondence and purchase of
provisions were effected through them. Our plight
was worse than that of a wretched bird in the hands
of an infuriated bird hunter. At last we were obliged
to enter into correspondence for succour with the
officers of the said department, copies of which are
appended herealfter.

It is recorded in para 14 of the Report of the
“Komagatamaru” Enquity Committee that the vessel
reached Vancouvar on May 25rd 1914. The port
officials prohibited all passengers except a few to land,
for they failed, mn their opinion, to fulfil the conditions
laid down by the reglations of the Dominions of Canada.
Consequently only a few persons, including Dr. Raghu
Nath and Bhan Singl, a student, were allowed to land
I should very much like to know from the Enquiry
Committee why Raghunath’s wife and child were not
mentioned in this connection and why have they not
specified what particular conditions of ithe Canadian
immigration laws were not fulfiled by the other passen-
gers which this Raghunath with his wife and child and
Bhan Singh did.

« At this stage I'should like to draw attention to
the Canadian regulations and to the procedure followed
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by the Canadian Officials. According to these resolu-
tions, {mentioned in para 3 of the B. C. Report) any
person travelling direct from his home to Canada and
having $200 in his possession was entitled to land ; but
the following classes of persons were exempted from
the said restrictions :—

Preachers, Traders, Students, Tourists,
Government Officials.

It is evident that the Dominion Officials defied
their own laws as established by the decision of chief
Justice Hunter announced on 24th November 1913
wherein he had set aside the said regulations but these
were applied against us, quite arbitrarily, in order to
prevent us from landing. Even granting that the
Canadian Officials had any Justification for consider-
ing the said regulations in vogue they could on no ace-
oual have prohibited the landing of the above mentioned
five classes of passengers and the vessel carried no less
than so persons who should be counted as preachers
( Granthis, Maulvis ), students and traders. 1 was
myself a ship merchant who had to Joad and unload
cargo and, according to the charter contract, had te
pay customs and other duties and purchas provision and
victuals. 1 had every right toland. The Dominion
Government was not within the bound of law and
equity to prohibit me to do so. [ challenge it now as I
did then, that [ want to see the law by which I was thus,
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to all intents and purposes, kept imprisoned on the
waters for nearly two months at Vancouver and more
than two months on the journey which caused me the
heavy loss of about 80,053,000 of rupees. Were the
Government of Indit to prohihit any Japanese subject
from landing on the shores of our country and were
they to parsccute him or the subjects of any other
power in the world as we were persecuted on the shores
of the British Dominion of Canada the world would have
witnessed an awlul calamity of a terrible war. But'the
alien Government protects us in no way and holds our
lives at a pins fee. I shall fully establish the wrongs
done to me when later on { shall relate some incidents
and present certain documents, for the return of which
1 have asked the Government of India. For the present
it will suffice to mention that the utmost the Government
of Canada could do was to prosecute me in a court of
law for any breach of law for which I might have been
responssible and to get me sentensed. They did not do
so, evidently because 'had violated no law. My only
fault was that [ had not ministered to the greed of Mr.
Hopkinson and he thought it his duty to carry out the
threat he had flung at me. Neither I nor any of my
men werc allowed to go on shore though Mr. Hopkin-
son knew well enough that I was under obligation to
pay up an instalment of $22,000 to the owners of the
ship before June 4th, 1914 and that I could not do so
unless | went to the shore and to a bank. Further that
m the eveat of the non-payment of the instalment, the



"Voyage of komagatamaru” 55

owners of the vessels according to the charter agree-
ment would be entitled te forfeit the swins paid previous-
ly by me and to take possession of the ship and take it
wherever they pleased.  The Government of Canada
wanted to make the whole thing appear like a farce to
the outside world after having defrauded our rights
and having debarred me from entering in to, Canada,
Thus they could have said that they were not harsh to
the Indians but we could not pay our liabilities for which
we were dispossessed of the ship by the owners. We
did our best to meet this contingency and our Indian
brethecn of Vancouver rushed with thousands of rupees'
for our help. Most of them were Sikhs. Their business
and Land proprietor-ship excceded 7 million dollars
(Rupees two crorers). They wanted to offer Lhe whole
of this amount in charity to the “Sri Guru Nanak
Steam Navigation Co.” but the most difficult of all
questions was that of my own landing becanse a widely
travelled, experienced and honest man was required
to carry out this great mercantile project which the
Governm:2nt of Cinada wanted to ruin.  To thwart the
end they restrained me from landing by resorting
to force and fraud. No friend of mine was given
access to me, neither could I send any of my own men
to them. Mr. Bird, an Advocate wanted to see me
on 4th June 1914 o1 professionsl duty but he was
not allowed to do so. That he was so held up can
be proved from the papers now in possession of the
Government,
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It is necessary to state here that we corresponded
with Mr. Reed, the head immigration Officers : Khalsa
Committee, Gurdwara, Vancouver ; (through telegran
etc.) the Government at Ottawa, the Government of
India, British Parliament, His Majesty George V the
Emperor; the Maharajas oi Nabha and Patiala; the
Chief Khalsa Dewan Amritsar; the Hindu Sabha and
various ocher bodies. [t is almost impossible to get all
the correspondence because the papers in our office
were seized by the Police when we were forced
to leave Komagatamaru at the point of bayonets. They
were never returned to us afterwards and must be in the
possession of the Governments of Punjab and Bengal.
The correspondence with the Khalsa Gurdwara Com-
mittee, Vancouver, also, could not be recovered be-
cause the officers of the Khalsa Committee were sho:
dead, presumably .at the instigation of the authorities
by Bela Singh a C. 1. Dinformer, and the office papers
somehow mysterionsly disappeaed. We conld however
procure copies of some of the correspondence, though
ncomplete, from the office of our legal advisors which
will throw a flood of light on the actual course of events
and are reproduced below in proper places. If “the
History of our voyage” spoken of in para 17 of the
Komagatamaru Enquiry Committee be returned to me
by the Government fuller light may be thrown upon the
subject. On page 6o of the judgment sheet in the case
against Sardar Balwant Singh whicn (case) was
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disposed of by the Special Commissioner, Gopal Das
Bhandari of Amritsar—this veport is referred to as
having been filed in the case. Sardar Balwant $iigh
was sent to the gallows in 191y, at Lalore, his gravest
fault being the supplying of provisions for his fellow
countrymen on board the Komagatamaru Steamship.

I have got copies of documents in my possession
to prove that we engaged a lawyer as soon as our ship
arrived. Had it been owr intention to go against law
we would well have spared ourselves the {ees that we
paid for legal advice, and aiso the money that we
spent on telegrams etc. amounting to thousands of

rupees.

We proceeded legally through our Solicitors, the
reply to whose letter from the Immigration Department
is reproduced below.

[mmigration Branch,
Depariment of the Interior Canada

Vancouver B, C. |
May 23cd 1902
I. R./E. C.

To. Messrs Macvali, Bird Macdonald & Daruving,
Barristers etc.
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Vancouver, B. C.
Dear Sirs,
Re: Gurdit Singh etc. All on -
Board S§. S Komagatamaru.

[ beg to acknowledge receipl of your communica
tion of date. When Boards of Enquiry are being held,
you will be notified.

Yours truly,
(Sd.) Malcolm, R. I. Reed.

Note :—it is evident from this letter that, I served
the following notice on thc authorities protesting
against my illegal detention and holding them respon-
sible for the damages I suffered thereby.

Vancouvar, B. C.

23rd May 1924,
Sir,

. 1thereby give you notice that if you do not let me
go ashore you will be held responsible for the damages
which [ have to suffer. You know that I am a mer-
chant and there is no law to prevent the merchants to
go on shore. 1 have to buy necessary provisions
for the steamer. ‘
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You can detain the passengers, not me, you are
respnosible for the damages.

{ Sd. ) Gurdit Singh,
Charterer S. S. Komagatamaru.

As a merchant and Charterer of a ship I was
immune {rom the disabilities attaching to an *immigrant”
and hence could not, under any circumstances, be
debarred from landing according to the clearly stated
terms of the law. [ now draw the kind attention of
the readers to the following excerpts from the Canadian
Immigration Act

Excerpts from the Canadian Immigration
Act.

(g) “Immigrant” means a person who enters
Canada with intention of acquiring Canadian domicile,
or for the purposes of this every persoa entering Canada
shall be presumed to be an Immigrant unless belonging
to one of the following classes of parsons, herein
after called “Non-Immigrant Classes :—

(i) Canadian Citizens, and persons, who have
Canadian domicile.
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(i) Diplomatic and Consular Officers and all
accredited representatives and officials of British or
Foreign Government, their suites families and guests
coming to Canada to reside or to discharge any official -
duty or to through transit.

(iit) ORrers and man with their wives and
familics helonging to or connccted with his Majesty's
regular naval and military forces.

(iv) Tourists and travellers merely passing
through Canada to another country,

(v) Students entering Canada for the purposes
of attendance, and while in actual attendance, at any
University or College authorised ty statute or by
charter to confer degrees or at any high school or
collegiatc institute recogniscd as such for the purpose of
this act by the Mimnister.

{vi} Members of dramatic, musical, artistic,
athletic or spectacula- orgamisations entering Canada
temporarily for the purpose of giving public performances
or exhibitions of an entertaining or mstructive nature,
and actors and artists ; lecturers, musicians, priests and
ministers of religion, professors of colieges or .other
educational institutions, and commercial travellers
entering Can:da for the temporary exercise of their
respective callings.”
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In fragrant defiance of Sec. vi of the Immigration
Act. quoted above the authorities kept me a prisoner
on board the ship. This is not all. The act provides
for the release under a bond with approved security or
deposit of money in lien thereof of any persons detained
ander this act.  The Gurdwara Committee were pre-
pared to stand security for the passengers of Komagata-
marun and offered to put their entire resources exceeding
two crores of rupees at our disposal for deposit but our
prayer for release under this section was peremptorily.
See 33 of the Immigration act reads as follows ~——,

Fron—IMMIGRATION ACT. 33 paras 1t and 12.

(11 ) Pending the final disposition of the case
of any person detained or taken into custody for any
cause under this act he may be released under a bond,
which bond may be in the form F. in the schedule to
s act, with security approved by the officer-in-charge
in lien of a bond, and to an amount approved by such
officers- ;: upon condition that such persons shall appeal
before a board of enquiry of officers acting as such at
any port of entry named by the officer incharge, and at
such time as shall be named for examination in regard
to the cause or co.nplaint on account of which he has
been detained or taken<into custod_y.



03 Canada’s Crime

Dominion Iinmigration Agent and Inspector,
Vancouver, June 16th 1914,
To the Secretary,
Governor General,
Ottawa,
Yours 17th Gurdit Singh gratefully acknowledged.
As Counscl for Gurdit Singh Immigrants Komagata-
maru declare that statement that clients are allowed
consult their solicitors only partially true.  Have
_ interviewed Guedit Singh only once. Am not allowed
to go on board nor him to come onland. Every
difficulty thrown in my way of commaunication.
Proceedings being delayed and obstructed, Desire
your interventions.

j- Edward Bird,

———

Vancouver, B. C.
July #th 1914. -
R. L. Reid, Esqr., K. C,,

Canada Life Building, Vancouver,
Dear Sir,
Re. Komagatamaru.

I went on board this moring through the kind
offices of your Mr. -Ladner, and had a full discussion
with Gurdit Singh and his passengers and after polling
them most caretully have received written instructions
not only from Gurdit Singh but signed by a Committee
app0inted by the passengers agreeing to dispense with
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Board of Enquiry. All they now wish is permission to
land the cargo and take on freight for the Orient,

As desired by you, I shall put in another letter
certain propositions which I desire you to consider, but
in the meantime, as I promised, [ now send you here-
with the original "etter of Messrs Wilkinson and Grist,
Barristers, 9, Omen’s Road, Hongkong which’ has led
Gurdit Singh to come to Canada and he has come into
Canada in the utmost good faith, believing he had a
right to land his passengers, and assuring them on the
opinions of these barristers, men of standing in practice
in Hongkong, that there will be no difficulty to him.,

I write this letter as a ground that the Depot should
now treat Gurdit Singh and his passengers with the
utmost consideration. He has not co.ne here, as it has
been freely canvassed, in defiance of the Jaws of Canada,
but believing as a British subject that he and his
passengers wete entitled as of right to come into Canada.

I zlso would respectfully point out that Colonial
Secretary at Hongkong cabled to the Governor General
in Council at Ottawa and to the Indian authorities at
London on or about the 24th March last stating that
the Komagatamaru was proposing to sail on the z8th
with a ship load of Hindu passengers for Canada, 'The
Governor at Hongkong actually held up the ship until

the 4th day of April, refusing to give her clearance until
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he heard from Canada and not hearing from Canada on
the 4th April, through the Colonial Secretary
Mr. Severn, who is 4 personal friend of Mr. Gurdit
Singh provided for the clearance of the ship
for Vancouver.

These things should, 1 believe, put an entirely
different light on the matter, and I respectfully urge
that you impress the situation upon your principals.
The Hindus in Vancouver and on board the ship are
demonstrating, in my belief, that they have come here,
as previously stated by me, as good citizens, makiag
only what they bslieved was their right, and not in
defiance of law and order.

I would also respecthully put to you that had
I been given free aceess to Gurdit Singh and rights of
consultation with him previously, those matters that |
now am prepared to evidence to you by correspondénce
with the Colonial Sccretary an otharwise would have
been open to your department for consideration
and discussion.

Yours truly,
(Sd ) J. E. Bird.
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Note—

Readers kind attention is drawn to a letler printed
on pages 18 and 19 which aiso puls light on the matter,

Shriman Bhai Bhag Singh Ji.
Sat Sri Akal.

We cannot fully thaak you fer yeur kindness
which you have done us by paying the instalment. We
hope you will try your best for the landing of the
passengers in the same way. Now pray, do not waste
money on lawyers in this way, but oblige him to try for
an early landing of Baba Gurdit Singh Ji. Everything
will be alright then, We will be in Joss till Baba Jiisa
prisoner in this way.,  So try for Baba Ji's landing with
all your heart first of all. Do inform us about the
actuity of the lawyer in this respect.

‘8d. Daljit Singh.

e ave——
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Macneill, Bird, Macdonald & Darling,
Metropolitan Building,
Vancouver, B. C.

goth June 1914.
Messrs Bowser, Reid and Walbridge,
: Barristers,
Canada Life Building,

Vancouver, B. C.

Dear Sirs,
Re: Komagatamaru.

—

Pursuant to my convetsation with your Mr. R. L.
Reid and your Mr. W. H. D. Landner, I beg to advise
you that 1 am now prepared to make an offer similar to
that made by Mr. Reid to me, and that at the start the
Hindu Committee who were instructing me on behalf of
the Immigrants on board the Kumagatamaru were not
prepared to accept, and | now make the following
propositions for the purpose of enabling the hearing of
decision of the applicatiens of these men on board the
ship to be disposed of at the earliest possible date.
If the Immigration Authorities will facilitate the bringing
on of a fair, reasonable case before the Board of
Enquiry, not involving any question either of previous
domicile or lease. Qut of one or more cases that will
test the validity of the orders in Counsel relied upon by
the Immigrants entering Canada, I am prepared to take
a habeas corpus immedialely for the purpose of testing -
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same, except proforma dismissal of the application be.
fore a single Judge and immediately appeal to the Court
of Appeal now sitting at Victoria, providing your depart.
ment will secure through the Attorney General of the
Province, or otherwise, the continued sitting of the
present Court of Appeal to hear the matter specially and
at once, security for costs to be waved, no attempt to
be made to prejudice the application of the other Hindus
for entry into Canada, and no Boards of Enquiry to be
proceeded with, unless desired by your department, in
the meantime and until the decision of the test case,

It is understood, as stated by Mr, Reid, that all
the other cases are not necessary to be bound by the
decision of the one case, but that all the other cases
will be retained in status quo until the test case is
decided. '

Moreover, our clients ask that pending the deci-
sion of this case, no harbour dues or Government
charges in connection with Komagatamaru shall be
imposed.  This offer is made really at the instigation
in the first place, of your office, who made attentive
suggestion of a similar proposition sometime ago.

I put this in writing for youat the earliest oppor-
tunity and request you to be good enough, if possible,
to have a reply for me on Monday morning.

Yours truly,
Sd. J. E. Bowser, .
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Mac Neil, Bird, Macdonald and Darling
Matropolitan Building,
Vancouvar, B. C,
20:h June 1914.

To

Messrs Bowrs, Reid and Wallbridge,
Canada Life Building,
Vancouver, B. C,

Dear Sir,

Re : ~Komagatamaru.

I have just read my letter of this morning here-
in to the Committee and they point out to me that {
admitted in the same to call your attention to the fact
that the positions made about a week ago by Mr.
Gurdit Singh, wherein he agreed to supply a detention-
shed for the men on land, thus relieving the ship from -
being tied up idle in the harbour pending the decision
of the port is still unanswered. They respectfully
urged upon your department and answer thereto.

So that matter might not be delayed, I called
up your Mr. Lander this moming.to remind him that my
former communication. asking this suggestion, which
at the time appeared to your Mr. Lander and to us
as very reasonable was yet unanswered although
acknowledged in due course by your firm,
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You will learn this morning that C. Gardner
Johnson on behalf of the owners have received pay-
ment in full of harbour due to date and now the present
Charterers of the Komagatamaru are Bhag Singh and
H. Rahim of this city.

Yours truly,
Sd. J. E. Bird.

70, Bada Amritasar June z0-14.

Khalsa Dewan Vancowver, B, C. Telegram
received am petitioning Government.

SIC. Dewan

133 R. A, Q. 3l 1215 P.
Ottawa, June asth.

] Edward Bird Esqr.,
: Vancouver.

Your Telegram 23rd instant. Immigration
officials inform me suitable arrangements were
communicated to you for purpose of seeing clients.

R. L. Barden.

2T WESION sy
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Bowser, Reid and Wallbridge,
Canada Life Assurance,
Vancouver, B. C.
June z5th 1914,

J. Edward Bird Esqr.,
C/o. Messrs Macneill, Bird, Macdonald & Darling.
Barristers Etc.
Metropoliton Building.
City.

Dear Sir,
Re. Komagatamaru.

Yours of the 25th instant at hand and contents
noted. It appears to be impossible to get you or your
clients to remain fixed on one line of action for any
length of time last night on the lines of my letter of
yesterday morning, unless instructed to the contrary by
the department at Ottawa.

I have instructed Mr. Malcolm ]J. R. Reid to
have the two menselected at the office at 11. 30. If
you are ready to go on with the Board of Enquiry it
will be held at once on the men selected by you,
otherwise alt parties shall be at liberty to proceed as
they see fit.

Yours truly,
R/C. M. D. R. L. Reid.
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Note.

But the Committee of Enquiry did significantly
ignore to put on record some of the incontrovertible
facts which I do briefly mention below and which shall
as sight lights adumbrate the hidden alleys of the
designing and arbitrary diplomatic stratgems of
the Canadian Authorities, .

To convince of the integrity of our purpose we
did not scruple to give -a bonafide assurance in a
letter addressed to Mr. Reid, the agent of the
Dominion Government that no seditious docoument
objectionable or prohibitary articles would be brought
on board frem the shore. A copy of the notice can
be found in the file of the papers scized and taken
away from the ship and now in the hands of the
Indian Government. Mention of it is also made in
the history of voyage of our ship from which the
Cotumittee of Enquiry openly drew confirmation,

[t is important to mention here, that since the
time the Charter party transferred in the name of a
committee of two | remained no longer responsible
for supplying water provisions medicines etc. to the
passengers of the steamship. In reality from the
date the S. S. Komagatamaru arrived at the port
of Vancouver, the port authorities had treated me
like a prisoner alohg with the passengers and deprived
me of all rights of a tradesman. 1 could not go on
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the shore and bring necessary things for the staff
and ' the passengers. The Charterers too, were
helpless for they were not permitted by the authorities
to come near the steamship inspite of the fact that
they had paid all the money due from them to the
port authorities or the agents to the owner of the
steamship.  Moreover, according to the rules and
regulations of the Immigration Act the responsibility
for providing provisions did not lie on their shoulders,
Under the circumtances it was the duty of the port
authorities to see to the needs of the passengers and
make arrangements accordingly. But the Canadian
Government, on the other hand, anxious to get rid of
the Indian element from the Canadian soil, was bent
upon teaching a good lesson to the passengers of the
Komagatamaru who had taken courage in coming
over there,

By this time the food and water on board the
ship had exhausted. The passengers were hungry
and thirsty. For the last few days they had had no
draught of water to quench their thirst. The Japanese
sailors of the 8. S, Komagatamaru were allowed to go
ot the shore, who daily brought a cask of water for their
own use. If any passenger begged them for a cup of
water, they bluntly refused.

One day a child of ours named Fouja Singh
son of Sundar s_inqh actually fainted due to thirst,
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His mother began to weep. It was a heart rending scene.
I hastened to the cabin of the Captain of the steamer
and brought a bottle of beer. As soon as a few
spoons of it were put in to his mouth, the child began
to regain senses. But the lapanese felt very much
offended at my bringing the bottle of beer from their
Captain’s cabin. Another incident of the same sort
made our relations with the Japanese still worse.
When on the evening of the same day they brought
their barrel of water ‘as usual, the passengers being
mad with thirst, lost all control over themselves and
not restraining their feeling of temptation, began to
plunder the water. Oh, it was an awful sight to see.
They fell upon it just as a hungry wolf ponnces upon
his prey, Some tried to take water in their cups,
some licked the spht water and others moistened their
lips by soaking cloth. Those who wele successful in
filling up their tumblers had hardly time to pore them
dowrt their throats when the water was snaiched away
by stranger hands, Many in this struggle fell one
over the other in heaps. The religious and caste
prejudices were forgotten in the heat of fury.
Everybody considered his own life more precious than
the other and was anxious to save it.

At this loot of water from the hands of the
Japanese sailors, the Captain who himself was a Jap
flew into anger. He at once reported the matter
“0 Mr. Hosithe Japanse Counsel at Vancouver.
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Mr. Hosi by wireless messages, at once called
the Japanse men-of-war, from the pacific waters. In
two days time, we found ourselves surroundeéd by them.

At the -same time Mr. Hosi took the Canadian
Authority to task for the insult of the Japanese at the
Canadian Port and held them responsible for our
action,

This threat of another power was sufficient for
the Canadian Government to bring it to senses and
they offered as much ammunition and every sort of other
help as the Japanse required for our chastisement.
A week disunited and ruled nation is always in the
wrong. ' '

But our men at the port, also approached to Mr.
Hosi and bringing him on the S. S. Komagatamaru
explained to him the whole situation. That gentleman
was fully satisfied and held us in the right at our action,
under the circumtances. He sent back his men of war.

The news about this happening spread like fire
and papers of all shades of opinion severally criticized
the Government. Upon this the Authorities issued a
communiqu to the cffect that any one willing to
supply water could do so, This we were allowed
and given hundred tons of water on the 27th June 1914.
For "reférence the attention of the kind reader is drawn
to the letier dated 15th July 1914, and quoted below



Yoyage of “Kotnagatamaru . 13

Now 103 tons of water for 360 passengers and
forty sailors, at the rate of 15 ton per day, for
drinking bathing and other purpose could last for one
week. “But from a7th.June to 1gth July no more,
water was allowed us. On the 19th July the S. S,
Komagaramarn was ordered+to leave the port without
water and another provisions. .

T undertake to do all I can to assist the S. S.
Komagatamaru taking a profitable cargo fos return’
trip the Honkong, and to use my best endeavours
to secure .consent of Customs Officials or other
port ~officers that may be necessary to allow
H. Rahim and Bagh Singh to have access to the 5. S,
Komagatamaru for all legitimate business purposes.

_ G. Grander Jonsons,
Agent for S. S. Komagatamara,
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sth July 1914.
To

J. E. Bird, Espr.,

Vancouver, B, C,
Sir,

I sent you a very important registered letter on
3rd instaht through the Immigration Department. But
I am not certain weather you have got that or not,
as ] have.not got the receipt of the same back as
yet. Today I again thinking it very necessary and
important am sending the copy of that for your
consideration. This i a golden chance for you to
take action against Immigration Depot, I hope thai
you will read it carefully and take an immediate
action on it. The letter runs thus : —

“1 beg to inform you that to-day (3ed)
Jmmigration officers on duty brought four Indians
to our ship, ‘so that they .may see their friends on
board. 1knew fully [well that those men are on the
side of the Immigration Depot. The Immigration
Depot wants to make any case against us.

They called their relatives without my permission
in launch and took our men’s signatures which we
do not know what they were for.

My Secretary asked Mr. Harnam Singh the
Immigration man to show the signatures which he
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took “from his relatives, but he refused and gave
them to the Immigration [nterpreter.

I am sure that they have played a trick to use
against us but I, at once, took up the gang way and
told the Immigration Officer unless you show the
signature [ will never allow the men to come on ship,

Our other. passengers are never allowed to see
their friends who come often and are treated badly.

You know fully well that you were hardly given
permission to see me and talk with me a very little,
but you are never allowed my signature except -
through Immigration Depot,

Now our other passengers threaten me that if I

allqw the men to come on board ‘they will certainly
kill me.

It s a fact that my death will be by the
hands of the passengers and that is on the shoulders
of the Immigration Depot who has not given me any
chance to go ashore as yet for my safety,

I now lastly advise you that you may please
arrange to release me on bail and to take my
statement before Court, '
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I further add ‘that Mr. Hopkiason enrages
my passengers against me, S

Yours-trnly - _
Sd. Gurdit Singh,
Charterer, Komagatamaru.

Mac Neil, Bird, M:cdonald and Darling,
go1-912, Metropolitan Bailding,
Vancouver, B, C. _
July 6th 1953.”
R. L. Reid, Bsqr,, K. C.
' Canada life Building,
Vancouver, B. C.

Dear Sir,
' Re. Komagatamaru,

On behalf of Gurdit Singh, and on his behalf
only, I respectfully urge a reply at once to my letter
written to you on Friday. [ am in receipt.of a letter
from him this morning, which would indicate that he
has not received my answer, and that:apparently the
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Immigration Depot are holding up communications
between hin and myself. With this 1 hope you will
not concur. : - :

[ feel that an article that appears in this
morning’s “Sun” is inspired from the Immigration
Depot Vancouver, as many of the phrases used in
that articles are in familiar use at the Beard of Enquiry.

It appears to me that the situation is extremely
serious Gurdit Singh is not afforded any protection
and actually claims that Immigration officers have
been conspiring in a manner that his life is at present’
in danger from the passengers on board the ship. Now
if in view of the fact that no protection is afforded
him he takes steps for his own protection by keeping
consplrators off his ship. [ do not see that anybody
can complain concerning his action, specnally in lieu
of, the silence of the Immigration Depot since my letter
of Friday last.

Yours truly,
Sd. J. Edward Bird.
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6th July 1914
Messrs. G Gardner Johnson & Co.
Agents of the Owners of the Komagatamary,
' 522, Seymour Street,
Vancouver, B. C.
Dear Sirs, -

1 beg acrewith to forward you copy of letter
[ have written to Mr. R..L. Reid, K. C. Solicitor,
for the Immigration Department which shows the
position of the charterers, Messrs Bhag Singh and
H. Rahim. You will understand that the charterers
have nothing what ever to do with the alleged troubles
of board the Komagatamaru, reported in the local

paper.

We also desire in case the Munshi Singh's case
now before the Court of Appeal, is decided against
Munshi Singh's cotention this morning, that Hindus on
board the ship shall be taken off immediately for
deportation, as the charterers do 'not propose to be
responsible for keeping these men oa board, or
provisioning, or supplying them thercafter. A
Committes of the local Hindus is prepared to go oa
board at any tin: and do their utmost to persuade
Gurdit Singh and the passengers on board to lower
their gang way, always on the understanding that
they are not further deprived of their rights, as
charterers.  You will understand that so long as they
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are kept out of these nghts they respectfully refuse to
interfere. Will you please give the Captain the
instructions of the charterers contained in this letter.

Yours truly,
Sd. J. Edward Bird.

Y. A. Hosi, Espr., July 6th 1914.
Japanese Coasul.
37-539 Pander Street, ‘West,

Vancouver.

Dear Sir,

I beg respectfully to hand you copy of letter written
to C. Gardner Johnsoa & Co. Agent of a certain
Japanese Company, the owners of the Komagatamaru
and copy of letter written to R. L. Reid, K. C,
Solicitor for the Immigration Department. These
letters set forth clearly the position of the charterers.

_ You will understand that the charterers are not
party to any unlawful acts. If such are.taking place
on board the ship, of which the charterers have no
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knoﬁlédgé; as they have not becn allowed the liberty
of enjoying their charter rights.

The charterers have given formal notice to the
Customs Office, to the Immigration Departinent and
to the Agent of the owners that the ship is not to be
cleared without their sanction or concurrence. If,
therefore, you are in any way as the representative
of your Government, concerned in this situation, I
would respectfully urge you to assist the charterers
to obtult possession of their boat unencumbered by
the presence of passengers who are unable to pay
their return passage.  The présent. charterers have
nothing whatever to do with the bringing of the
Hindus on board the Komagatamaru, to Vancouver
and the business and of the proposition undertaken
by those men as charterers is entirely distinct from
their personal interest as members of the Hinda
Community in Vancouver, Thgy therefore respectfully
urge your assistance in this matter, as they des:re
to forthwith load cargo tor Oriental ports.

_ Yours truiy,
J. E. B./W. Sd.  J. Edward Bird.
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: : July 6th 1214,
J. Edward Bird. Esqr.,
901, Metropolitan Building,
8137, Hastings Street,
City.

Dear Sir,

I am in receipt of your valued favour of even
date with enclosures and beg to thank you for the
kind information you give me on the present situation
of the charterers of the Japanese steamer
Komagatamaru,

[ should say that,.as long as the interests of the
Yapanese owners of the steamer which Mr. .Gardner
Johnson at present is . mainly lcoking after is not
impared unduly [ am not quite satisfied and it seems
that the present condition is not such that I should
worry about in any way.

Yours truly,
3d, Y. A, Hos.
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July 7th 1914,
J. E. Bird.

We hereby instruct you to waive Board of
Eaquiry fo: all o board Komagatamaru ask you io
negotiate for return of -Komagatamaru to Hoakong
under either plans discusse] or under any arrangement
yoa may make

Sd, Gurdi: Singh,

The following Committee sign for passengers
after full explanation to the n.

K. M.
Harnam Singh, 1. Amar Singh
Harnam Singh, 2. Sundar Singh,
Nabi Kamal Sing'. Bir Singh

Witness

1 hereby certify that th's comprises whole
Committee.

Daijit Singh.
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I, Dr. Raghunath Singh do not agree, as I
belong to non-Immigrant Class.

Raghunath Singh.

Vancouver, B. C.
July 7th 1914,
R. L. Reid, Esq-, K. €.
Canada life Buildiag,
Vancouver,

Sir,.

Bsfore consulting the Charterers of the
Komagatamaru H. Rabin and Bhag Singh, 1 am
prepared to make the following propositiofs and
recommend iz for acceptance namely :—

Firsi: -That the “Komagatamaru” be periitted
to proceed immediately without incohvenience, as
any other ship in Vancouver harbour, to unload her
¢argo and load for foreign ports, that this- be proceeded
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with immediately and that in the meantime bonds be
accepted by your Department that none of ' the
passengers on board the Komagatamaru shall escape
and that all shall answer the Roll Call and sail with
the Komagatamaru on her leaving for Honkong.
These bonds be to your satisfaction and to the
reasonable ability of the Hindus in Vancouver to
furnish same. The charterers under these circumstances
“cannot of course, consent to take these men back
without payment of theic passage, and as this cannot
apprently be secured from many of the men on board,
the situation may result in considerable difficuity.

Second: —As an alternative propositioa and in
view particularly of the development as explained to
you in my recent letter, showing that Guedit Singh and
his men came here in good faith. The charterers are
prepared to order the ship to sail tomorrow for
Honkong or so soon as she can be provisioned "and
watered for this purpose, providing your Department
will pay the passage of these men back to Honkong.
Now the passage money of these men will return at
$ 100,00 a piece to upwards of $ 20,000 for the
entire number of men on board and provision the
ship thereout, and waive the loading of any cargo
and the 'ship can sail before the end of this weak.

As soon as | can hear from you, I will call the
committee together this gveuing,"‘and gét the matter
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advanced. [leave on the midnight boat for Victoria,
and shall be extremely obliged if you could let me
know in the afterncon what you could do.

I desire to ask that Mr. Gurdit Singh’s infant son
six years of age, be permitted to land with his father
on route to England to be clear of Canada within
two weeks from the date of loading.

" Yours truly,
Sd, ]. E. Bird.

July 7th 1914.
MacNuI Bird, MacDonald & Darling,

go1-912, Metropolitan Building,
Vancouver, B, C.
R. L. Reid Esqr., K. C,
Canada Life Building,

Vancouver,
Dear Sir,
Re : Komagatamaru.

I am instructed by the charterers H. Rahim and
Bhag Singh to ask permission of the lmmigration Depot
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to load at the wharves or wherever the cargo is avail-
able on board the Komagatamaru at once. They
undertake that every safeguard which your depart-
ment may nominate will be rigidly adhered to and
that they will themselves, if necessary insist in the
safeguarding and the preventing of the men on board
the Kopagatamaru from escaping. They want to
load the ship as quickly as possible and allow her to
leave the port. You will understand clearly, however
that the charterers are under no obligation whatever
to feed or supply water to the Immigrants on board
the Komagatamaru and do not proposs to do so.
That is for Mr. Gurdit Singh, the old charterer, who is
under contract with them, to make provision for then.
Unless he does so, the new charterers Rahim and
Bhaag Singh, refuse absolutely to vietual or supply
the ship for her return trip.

Your early reply will oblige.

" Yours truly,
]. E, B/W. Sd.  J. Edward Bird.
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MacNeill, MacDonald & Darling,
Offices : go1-913, Metropolitan Buil ding,
Vanceuver B, C.
Juiy 10th-1914.
For attention of J, E. Bird.
Messrs H. Rahim and Bhag Singh,
Sikh Temple,
1869, Second Avenue,

Vancouver, B, C.
Dear Sir,

Re : Komagatamaru,

After Mr. MacNeil and the writer have
counsidered the charter party, we should point out to
you that section 9 contains the following :—words
9......That the Cargo or Cargoes shall be laden and
or discharged in any dock or at any wharf or place
that the charterers may direct, whire the steamer can
always safely be afloat, *

Under this you will see that you must secure
some dock or wharf or make some arrangement
therefore and then give the owners notice to bring
this ship alongside. This they will not be able to
do. In any arrangement therefore, ycu make for &
wharf, we would only arrange to pay therefore in
case the ship comes alongside. It is extremely
important, so that you may get a hold on this ship, to
see that this is donc. It need cost little or nothing to
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get this advanatage, and we trust that, you will attend

to it once, ,
Yours truly,

Sd.  MacNeil, Bird, MacDonald &
Darling, J. Edward Bird.

The Immigration Agent,
Vancouver, B. C.
No. 74. 11th July 1914
Sir,

We the undersigned members of the Committe e
of S. S. Komagatamaru, beg to draw your attention
that on account of the ship being dirty, the flies and
rats are bzco ning more and more daily, which would
be the cause of serious sickness. For want of good
food and exercise, some men are very sick. If th
sate of things continues any longer we all shall lose
our health. For more than three months we are shut up
in the ship and our health is going weaker and weaker

Please arrange to take the sick to the Hospital
and look into the matter of our health and food.

Yours truly,
Sd*  Harnam Singh, Amar Singh,
Sundar Singh.

Wy
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The Immigration Agent,
Vancouver, B. C.
No. 73. 11th july 1914
Sir,

We the undersigned representatives of the
passengers of S. S, Komagatamaru have the honour to
request youa humbly that we are in jack of the following
articles.  Pleasc arrange to send them very soon.
Kindly note that the flour you sent us on gth was not

worth eating. We never use such kind of flour, please
send W. W, flour of V. Mark.

Flour Acid Jam
Sugar Vinegar
Onion Matches
Ginger, Lamp Ol

Red pepper Yegetables
Butter, Hair Od

Milk, Washing Soap
Rice, . Soap

Mungn Dal Candles

Mash Dal, Lipton's Tea
Sheep Spices

Cocks, Datans (Tooth Brushes )
Eggs, '

Yours truly,
Committce Members,

ig— r—ara——
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Copy for the information of
J. Edward Bird Esqr., 2320, -
Barrister, Vancouver,-City,
B. C.
11th July 1014.
R. . R/E. C.
Captain' Yamatte,
S. S. Komagatamaru.
Vancouver, B, C.

Dear Sir,

I have not yet received any reply to my commu-
nication with reference to food and water, as intimated
in my letters. The Governor is holding yoa responsible
for provisioning for the ship and also the sanitary
condition oi same.

I now beg to transcrive for your information,

letters received by me this morning and must ask you
to attend to this matter at once, |

Sd. R, J. Reid.
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Vancoaver B, C.
July 15th 1914
Messrs C. Gardner Juhnsoa & Co,
Agents,
Komagatamaru,
522 Szamore Street,
Vancouver B. C,

Dear Sirs,

Messrs. Rahiin and Bhag Singh have instructed
us to let you know that they desire to get o board
the Komagatamaru or arrange to have work done in
the nature of extra accominodation for passengers
whom they are now contracting to take back to India
on boird the Komagatamaru. They are selling
passage accommodition as they propose to sail early.
They desire to have such facilities or make arrange-
ments to have the work done as will be possible under
the ci-cumstances. Can you assist them along this line ?

It will factlitate matters very much if you caun.

Yours truly,

Mac Neil, Bird, Macdonald & Darling,
per J. E. Bird.

- Copy,
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Malcom R. J. Reid, Esqr.,
Dominion Immigration Agent,
Vancouver B. C, 15th July 1914.

Dear Sir,

I am this afterncon in receipt of a lutter from
Mr. Bird Solicitor for Messrs Rahiin and Bhag Singh,
- assignees of charter of S. 5. Komagatamaru a copy of
which 1 close, and if you will be kind enough to allow
these two charterers o go on board I shall be
exceedingly obliged, |

Your doing se will in my opinion facilitate the
departure of the vessel.

Yours very truly,

(Sd.) Gardner Johnson,
Agent,

S. S. Komagatamaru.
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C. Gardner Johnsan & Co.
Cor. Pender and Sycamder Street,
Vancouver B. C,
15th July 1914,
J. Edward Bird, Esqr.,
Messrs MacNeill, Bird, Macdonald & Darling,
837, Hastings Street, W,
Vancouver B. C.’
Dear Sir,

I am in receipt this afternoon of your letter of
even date asking that Rahim and Bhag Singh obtain
permission to go on board the Komagatamaru. You
will notice on reading the enclosed copy of letter
[ have addressed to Mr. M. J. R. Reid Chicf Immigra-
tion Qfficer, that I have solicited this permission. When
I receive reply | will immediaaely communicate with
you. ] am taking this opportunity of asking you if you
will request your clients Rahim and Bhag Singh to send
me a,cheque for the water they ordercd by letter dated
26th June last, and which [ delivered next day, that is
100 tons (@$ 2.00 per ton § 200.00, Fur this | shall be
nuch obliged.

Yours very truly,
G. Gardner Johnson, Agent,
S. S8, KOMAGATAMAR!',
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Vancouver B. C.
July 16th 1914.
R. L. Reid, Esqr., K. C. :
Canada Lief Builiding,
Vancouver,

Dear Sir,
Re: Komagatamaru.

On behalf of the charters, Me:srs Rahim and
Bhayg Singh we respectfully demand of the Immig, ation
Depot that they take the passengers now on board of
the ship, so as to let the charterers to go about their
business of loading thel cargo and taking their
passengers on board and. preparing the ship foris
return Journey., Thep have sold ticksis and are now
advertising for and seeking passengers for the return
trip, and desire to prepare and fix up accommoda ion
propcrly for the return voyage. They are prepared to
take the passengers now on board ox the return trip to
Hongkong- providing their passage money is paid by
the tmmigration Depot.

It the Immigration Department will pay the
difference in cost of transacting business by lighters
from the ship i the fareway, the charterers will
endeavour to obtain cargo in this manner and seek to
get the consent of the shippers who are contemplating
sending freight by the Komagatamaru.
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Shal’ be glad if you will let us have your _é.nswer
hereto and oblige.

Yours truly,
(Sd.) MacNeil, Bird, MacDonald
and Darling.
per J. E, Bird,

G. Gardner Johnson Esqr.,
Agent,
S. S. Komagatamaru,
Vancouver.

Dear Sir,

1 have this morning received your favour of the
15th instant with encloures as stated.

[ am now, asl always have been, anxious to do
all in my power to facilitate any person rightly
concerned in the affairs of the Komagatamaru in any
proper and reasonable request. [ am quite ready to
bring Captain Yamamato of S. S. Komagatamaru
ashore any time that Rahim and Bhag Singh wish to
see him. In view, however, of the fact that the repor:
I have receiveg fron wy officers and the letters | have
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received from Daljit - Singh, Gurdit Singh and
a Committec of five who seemed to have taken things
into their own hands on btoard the vessel, are of an
extra-ordinary nature and seem to indicate that
the going on board at the present time of Rahim and
Bhag Singh might be productive of difficulty and
trouble. 1 think the course | suggest i3 wisest one under
the circumstances. Let me hear from you as to this.
I think it would be wise, however, at this juncture, in
connection with Mr. Bird’s suggestion as to his clients’
proposud action to take other passengers back to India
by the Komagatamaru that the purting on board of other
passongers might be in contraveniion of the law as to
passengers accommodation.

I am advised that the passengers on board at
the time are fully as many as the ship can accommo-
date. [ need not dilate on shis feature, as you are
fully aware of the statutory regulations in this regard.

Yours truly,
Malcoln J. Reid,
Dowminion Immigration, )
Agent and Inspecior,
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Vauncouver, Canada.
17th July 1914.

For attention of Mr. Reid.
Messrs Mac Neil Bird Macdonald & Darling,
Winch Building
Vancouver.

Dear Sirs,
S, S. Komagatamaru.

We have to acknowledge receipt of your favour
of 1gth instant in reference to Messrs. Rahim and
Bhag Singh obtaining permission to go on hoard the
above vessel.

We wrote Mr. Reid, the Dominion Immigration
Agcent here, asking him to give us this authority, as it’
would in our opinion, [acilitate the depature of the
vessel, We are in receipt of his reply, a copy of
which we enclose, from which you will note that he
will not agree to this.

In conpection with the last paragraph of Mr.

Reid's letter we beg to advise that Rahim has just
calied in at our offics and states, that the vesszl has
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a Hongkong passenger certificate for 570 passengers
We have not seen this certificate but pass along the
information for what it is worth,

Yours very truly,

' G. Gardner Johnson & Co,

The Canadian Goverment has always been very
particular to carry out conditions as laid down in sec-
tions 24 and 25 of By Law of the Corporation of Har-
hour Com missioners which is given in full below hers.
But these scciions were laid aside where our ship was
concerned. Why this was done.? Because England never
- wanted Indians particularly Sikhs to learn trade because
if Sikas becamz merchants then who will supply re-
-cruits for the British Army in India ?

SECTION 24.—No vessel shall leave the Harbour
until the Agent, consignee, master or person incharge
thereof has made and delivered to the Harbour master
a full and correct report in writing signed and certified
by him of her cargo and also her drop of water. Nor
until all dues on the vessel, and on her cargo, and all
penalties incurred in respect of the vessel or by the



Voyage of *Komagatamaru’. 101

master or person incharge of the vessel and all costs
and charges with which the vessel or the master or
person incharge thereof is chargeable towards the
Commissioner have been fully paid.

SECTION 25. All rates dues or penalties in
respect to any vessel or cargo shall be paid or, secured
to the satisfaction of the Commissioner before such
a vessel or cargo leaves the harbour, and indefauilt
thereot the Harbour Master may cause such cargo or
vessel to ‘seize and held therefore and may require the
Collector of Customs to refuse clearance papers to
such a vessel.

In my opinion the tragic tragedy of Budge Budge
waich resulted in the death of 40 persons is in close
connection with the mcst inportant event at Vancouver
which the reader will find n the following pages :-

To show the world of the most unjustifiable me-
thods used by the Canadian Authorities the following
story will clearly bring to light the brutal iron hand
which they used to send us back without food or water.

 Itis necessary to relate the conversation that
took place between me and certain officers .of the
Immigration Department a day or two eadier to the
date on which the motor boat fully manned by Police
- paid us a visit.
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As we objected to the Captain obeying the
orders of the Canadian Government to put the ship
under steam the officer asked me “Why do you inter-
fere in starting the steamer for the backward
journey ?”

Myself :—How can we permit that when there
i+ nothing on Board the ship for eating or drinking ?
Why don't you supply us with the foodstuffs ?

Officer :—That is your look out and not of the
Government ?

Myself :=Very well, say it is mine. Will you
then allow me to land in order to fetch the foods-
tuffs ?

Officer :—The Government willl not permit you
to land.

Myself :—In that case allow two of my men to
go ashore.

Officer :~—That too cannot be permitted.

Myself :—Then please allow some of our country
men from ashore to visit us and we will give them
ingstructions to purchase necessaries for us.

And this very reasonable request too was refused.
The intention of the Canadian Authorities appeared to .,
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starve us, We were nothing less than prisoners and
[ remarked at the time that as you treat us nothing
better than prisoners—it is the duty of the Government
to feed us, '

We were poor Indians seeking to enter Canada
to carn our livelihood and we thought we had every
right to enter there as India as well ‘as Canada were
under the British Crown. When even the slum dweller
of London could freely move to India as well as Canada
why should not we ¢ We are insulted, we are dishono-
ured we are disgraced in all parts of the wourld because
we have no Government that will feel for indignities
inflicted on us. Let any one dare to insult the subject
of “The Rising Sun” and you will see 1954-1918 repeat
again.

When nothing could persuade us to go back 10
Asia. without food the Government resorted to use
force, the most cowardly thing to do against starving
defencaless people. A large steam boat “Sea Lion”
came from ashore containing several scores of armed
Police. My men were alert as owing to hunger they -
could not sleep. Though I protested they compelied me
to agree to their request and locked me and my infant
eon in the cabin in order to be out of harms way. The
government has spent, speech, ink and paperto blacken
my reputation but during the voage my people showed
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me most remarkable devotion, love and willingness 1o do
anything asked by me. [ was able to keep the whole
situation before my eyes through the sky hole. When
the boat approached near we objected to their tying
it to our ship, also asked their business. But who would
listen to poor unprotected Indians-lést government
officials of :he: English autocratic type. Some of the
Pulice started tying the rope while some of them fired
at the passengers - without -the slightest warning.
Fortunately they were able to duck and ran down stairs
to fetch coal and give a fight with them. Imagine a
people dare to fight with coal against Whites, armed
with upto-date guns. It was a sight to make me proud
to think of the blood from which we sprang. Indian
bravery still lives though it has been cruelly trampled
under foot by our self appointed masters. During the
time my people were downstairs the Police were able
to tie the rope.  Attempts were made to unloosen or
cut the rope but it was impossible as the Police levelled
a hose with boiling water at them, :

At this time I was able to notice that among
the Police bullies was one that will not be forgotten.
He was that accursed traitor who thirsted for the
blood of his own countrymen, the infamous quack
Doctor that we carried with us on our journey to
Canada. He was trying to locate me and when he
about to fire his gun was pulled by another soldier and

-
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thus there was one less murder ‘o the account which
was already black enough.

By now there were enough coal on board and the
passengers devided into three parties and paying no
heed to the boiling water began to throw the coal at
the occupants of the motor Launch. The Folice re-
plied with pistol shots which were unable to harm us
as our Boat was higher and we were able to hide our-
selves. The Police had a severe beating with the
coals thrown at them and retreated to the front of the
ship. They were panic stricken and their united weight
nearly sank the launch by the head. One of my men
saw the plight of the Police and to save them from
drowniag cut the rope thus setting free of the Launch.
The - presence of mind of this good man saved the
.Police from certain death. The Police had of course
to admit a defeat and they steamed off, Here, I must

“record that 1 have never come across an instance in
History where Police with guns and pistols could not
fight unarmed and defenceless people.

In this “fight " one of my people had a pistol bullet
graze his forehead and pass through his turban and two
or three other persons were slightly hurt. We agree
with Enquiry Committee that several Police men had
small cuts and wounds. Several of these were caused,
! presume, by the broken glass from the ship at which
they fired. The Erquiry committee kas tried to disguise
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the real facts and the “{ar” has been applied to our
side only.

No partial man of any nationality will lay the
hlame of this “ fight " at the door of the passengers of
Komagatamaru. The Government of Canada is solely
to be blamed. Their evil intention to send 360 Indians
hack without food or water and starve them on the
high seas failed owing tu the courage displayed by my
men. Had they been forced to sail they would have
sailed to certain horrible death either through starva
or at the hands of the Japanese crew who were armed
at the expense of His Majesty King George the Fifth’s
Canadian Government. A quarrel on the high seas
with the Japanese could never have been avoided.
Passengers would have (ried to take the provisions
of the Japanese crew which they could not have
spared. Result— fight and shooting.

The news of this collition with the Police spread
like wild fire. News were scattered all over the world.
- The white race took it as an insult to be pelted with
coals by black people. England was informed, who
sanctioned the use of force to send us back. We
cricd laudest at the doors of England, Viceroy,
Patiala, Nabha and the living corpse of a society called
Chief Khalsa Dewan but none hearkened to our vails
of misseries.  But now because a few white skinned men
}Iad P I'!audful ol coals pelted at them the whole white..
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race glared at us with theic furiousity. England
ordered to send us out under warships and warship
“ Rainbow ” and one more man of war were detailed for
this enterprise,

One warship stood on ecach side of Komagatamaru,
39,000 Militia men were ready. Thousands flocked to
the city to watch the destruction of 360 almost starved
to death Indians. Europeans are found of excitement
and this excitement was a hundred times more
exciting than a Spanish bull fight.

It can only be imagined that there was only one
raee in Vancouver who ‘'were moving about with sad
and gloomy faces. They were our own country men.
How many times the thought struck me to the effect
that “will the Indians bear to see their countrymen
doomed to death before their eycs and yet raise no
hangd in revenge "?

We now had only two alternatives before us either
to submit and go back without food or water and die
of starvation or at the hands of the Japanese or defy
the commands of Canada and die with the guns of the
warship at the door of Canada. The above two ways of
dying were freely and fully discussed among the
360 passengers and it was agreed to die where they
were before the thousands of sight secrs than dying on
the high seas a torturous death,
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The warships were preparing for action and on the
other hand we were preparing for death. It was a
grand scene on a blue stage with thousands of spec-
tators, Oa behalf of the Government the commander
sent the message “Leave our shores, you uninvited

Indians or.we fire.” Our reply to this command was
that if Canada will allow us to provision the ship we
will, go otherwise, “ Fire away. We prefer death here
than on the high seas”” We were threatened. We
were bullied. We, too, were like a tiger at bay. No
brave man fears death when he is face to face with it.

Among this commotion we called a general meeting
to discuss the manner in which to meet our impending
danger. Everyone of us were prepared to die but
wanted to face the tragedy fighting. It was agreed
that it was an impossibility to fight and win against
such fearful odds but when the Canadian sailors board
the Komagatamaru, to face them with stricks, bars,
coals and even pepper. It was also agreed to engage
with them as soon as we were attacked first and when
we could fight no longer to descend to the boilers where
the coal is beaped. Naturally it was expected that
the victorious sailors would follow us and when once we
are all below to pour. oil over the coals and set fire
to the steamer in which we would be burnt and very
likely with us will also be cremated some of the white
soldiers. Thus Komagatamaru will for ever blacken
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the History of Canada and to a certain extent will also
show the blackguardy rule of Great Britain.

No one will hesitate to believe the intention of the
Canadian Government to murder us as the Japanese
told us that they would soon be abandoning the steamer
and some of them showed sympathy towards us,for the
sad fate that awaited us. It is a well known faet that
the Canadian Government had planned to remove the
Japanese crew, make a target of Komagatamaru of
their cannons and pay an indemnity to Japan for the
loss of the steamer.

One thing only and that too very touching to the
heart saved Komagatamaru, saved us and 1 dare say
saved the city of Vancouver and the British Nation
from a deed which would have gone into History as the
blackest deed committed by England.  This is how all
these things came to pass. From our prison ship we
could clearly percieve a hitlock-like rising of ground.
From this place many a time our countrymen came to
have a look at us and our prison. Unnaticed by the
Authorities we could and did communicate by sema-
phore signalling to our people ashore. Through this
method we were able to learn that our brethren were
feeling for.our miseries but were unable to do anything
for us. On this particular day when we were so near
to God, when there were thousands watching for the

- “sight ” when we could clearly perceive the nearness of



1o Canada’s Crime

our Noble l.eader and Commander Guru Gobind Singh,
when there was no fear of death on us, came a man
and signalled to us and enquired how things stood.
Our signaller replied, “ Our last farewell to all the sons
of India. We shall be no moire when the next sun
arises. We die contented as we know that this deed
of today, will make the sons of poor Mother India to
realise their position overseas and before long some-
thing will be done which wiil be quite enough revenge
for our deaths. Fare well and Sat Siri Akal.”

Our countryman signalled back saying to expebt:
him back within an hour and saying this he was se:n
ruming towards the city. Punaciuil to the mlomgnf
he was at his post and gave us the message which
filled our heart with pride but to me it gave a serious
thinking. His message was that the people of Hindus-
than residing at Vancouver has passed the resolution
to the effect that they are helpless to render any help
to us but would not let go unavenged our deaths.
Daties have been alloted to each man and that as *soon
as Komagatamarn is on fire so will be the City of
Vancouver and all in it. That will be the reply of
mother [ndia to Komagatamaru murders. Wishing us
on behalf of all Indians his very cordial last farewell
he departed.

Naturally my men were happy to see that they
would be revenged. But [ was distressed and deter-
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mined to stop the burning of Vancouver.. The destruc-
tion of Vancouver at the hands of Indians, would to
certain txtent clear the Canadians Authorities and
would have given the impression to the world that we
actually came to * invade ” Canada. I culled together
the ma3¢ sensible men among the passengers and hand-
ing them the telescopz asked them to have a look at
the city waich by now was just like a beehive. * Could
you bear the burning of innocent children, women
and old men in that city” I enquired. [t will bs
inhuman that for our sake that beautiful city with its
innocent people, who, who knows, might have come to
sympathise, be put to the unmerciful flames? Our
names anl our mz2mory will be cursed instead honoured.
Let us abanddon our resolu‘ion to put Komagatamaru
to fire and thus there will be no signal 10 our friends on
shore to apply the “match” to Vancouver.” In this
stzain 1 appealed to my wmen who God bless them
agreed to my proposal and we now patiently waited for
the Canadian troops to come aboard and deal with us
as thzy pleased,

Fortunately for all some how the intention of the
I ndians to burn the city leaked out ‘to the Government
and they had to “ Count ten” before they attacked us.
Suddenty the attitude of the officials was changed and
they courteously asked us what is that we want so that
their ‘ lawful ’ orders be obeyed. We replied at orce
that o:isi.nlly w: wanted prdvision:. and writteq ins
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tructions from the new charterers to sail away back as
set in the contract but now we would only yield if the
Vancouver Indian Committee is permitted to visit
and consult with us. At last the Government had to
climb down and accept our demand. Accordingly the
authorities approached the committee who gave them
the answer that unless the steamer is provisioned and
the starving people are fed they were not prepared to
go on Board. To this, too, the * benevolent” govern-
ment consented and the committee brought rations for
us who had had no proper feed for the last six days.

We had a long heart to heart talk with our brethren
and I only need mention that we were informed - that
the steamer would be provisioned for the return voyage
Government will pay for the return passage to the new
Charters when the steamer is out of the Canadian
waters and we were advised to go back to Hongkong.

The steamer was fully provisioned on the aand of

July 1914 and Komagatamaru was under steam the
next day.

For two months we suffered all sorts of miseries at
the hands of the Canadian Authorities but we showed
them that Indians could and are able to put passive
tesistance by which they defied Canada.
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We were followed on each side of Komagatamaru
by H. M. S. Warship “ Rainbow ” and another warship
up to the end of Canadian waters.

That was the Guard of Honour !

To suport the events on the previous pages I
append copies of letters exchanged between the Immi-
gration Department and our solicitors.

No impartial reader will hesitate to realise the
shallow and narrow minded policy adopted by the
Canadian Authorities in their dealings with us.

Vancouver, B. C.
July 20th 1224.

Malcolm R. J. Keid, Esqr.,
Dominion Im nigration Agent & {nspector,
Vancouver B. C.
Dear Sir,

Regarding steamship Komagatamaru, a represen-
tative of the local Hindus waited upon you this
morning in order to lay before you proposals which
when put iato practice would in their opinion (we also
fully concur with it,) bring about the amicable, speedy
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settlement of the critical question arising out of the
presence of the Komagatamaru along with its passen-
gers in the Harbour of Vancouver. We are sure that
you agree in putting a stop if possible to occurrences
of Saturday night. If there are any means by which the
prestige of the Canadian Government, remains un-
impaired and the objects of the officials are attained
without any impediment in their way, then in such a
case all efforts should be made to meet these objects,

We therefore present the following for your consi-
deration. Under the circumstances, we think the
charterers are entitled:—

-

t. That they be allowed to unload their cargo on
land. '

2. That they be allowed to land on board their
ship those local Hindus who intend to leave for India.

3. That they be allowed to land fresh cargo from
this place.

" 4 That the costs incurred for having had to renew
the charter at the time when the Immigration Depot
was busy holding its Committee of Enquiry under the
Immigration Act should be fully compensated.
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Bearinz this all ia mind, and having regard to all
the difficulties, and with a view to avoid hatered from
the bottom of our hearts, we submit the following pro.
posals for your consideration :—

1. Let the Government, send the deported Mindus
to their-Country in some other vessel ; Let it allow the
Agent of the ship to unload their cargo and take in
fresh one; Let it allow the charterers to carry back
passengers bound for Hongkong or for India and let it
pay back all sums incurred on the renewal of the
charter when the ship was detained in the Harbour.

2. Let the Government pay to the Agents of the
Charterers in the case of Hindus leaving Vancouver for
India, so that they (thc Agents) might defray the
boarding expenditure of the passengers, or in another
case, let the Government pay dollars 25,000.00 for the
boagding expenses of all passengers up to Hongkong.
We believe any of the afore-mentioned proposals would

suit you.

If you would like to talk personally over the matter,
the writer would be glad to do so.

It had come to our notice that the deported Hindus
of the Komagatamaru are about starving. You
might rcmember when the provisions were last supplied
to those on board the ship and might well estimate how
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far the existing of the provisions would last. The
information supplied to us seems to be correct. Let it
be known to you that the afore mentioned proposals
have been made on behalf of the local Hindus without
having had amy talk with any inmate of the ship. If
you think proper the representatives of the local
Hindus be allowed to go and advise those on hoard to
give their assent to the decision arrived at between you
who represent the Government and the local Commi-
ttee of the Hindus

Yours faithfully,
Sd. MacNeill, Bird
Mecdanald 4ud Darling
per A. N. MeNeill,
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and Darling.
A H.M.-W, ' per A, N. MacNeill
Copy.
Dominion Trust Building
402, Pander Street, West
Vancouver, ? C.

July 20th 1914.

Messrs. MacNeill, Bird Macdonald and Darling,
Barristers cte,

Metropolitan Building.
City.

Attention Mr. MacNeill.
Dear Sirs,

Re : Komngatamaru,

A copy of yours of the 20th instant to N. R. |.
Reid regarding S; S. Komagatamaru has been handed
to me for attention. As [ understand the matter, the
Hindus on hoard the ship came to this country deli-
herately intending to force their presence upon a people
who do not wish them, through some hoped for defect
in or technical objection to laws made with the appro-
val of the country at large. After havitg come to
British Columbia and after delay oceasioned solely by
tf em, the matter is heard by the Court of appeal and
decision given under which Boards of Enquiry are held
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and orders of the department made. They do not sec
fit to ohey the orders of the Government but mutiny
and take coatrol of the ship. On an attempt being
made by the Police to enforce the ordinary rights of
the Captain over his ship, they resist and deliberately
assault and greviously injure them. They then made
the proposals set out in your letters in which you
concur,

The Gavernment although not under the obgligation
to do so has fed them during the last three wecks and
out of the charity has been willing to provision them
for the return journey to Iongkong. 1f they are on
the verge of starvation it is their own fault,  As soon
as they signify that they are willing to obey the Jaw
the Government will, not doubt, adhere to its offer to
supply provijsions as mentioned above.

I shall however sumbit your letters to Headquarter
and wlll return you such answer as may be directed.

Yours truly,

R. L. R-G. M. D. R. L. Reid.
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COPY.

MacNeill, Bird, Macdonald an t Darling,
Metropolitan Building,
Vancouver, B. C.
July 215l 1214.

Komagatamaru Affairs Committee,
C/o, Sikh Temple,
1866, znd Avenuc, West City.

Sirs,

In reply to the communcations which at ile request
of Mr. Rahim I sent to the Lnmigration Officers and
their solicitors yesterday, [ late yesterday -afternoon
received a telephone communcation from Mr. R. L.
Reid K. C. the solicitor for the Tnunigration Depart-
ment in which he stated that the Government would bhe
prepared to take. all the Konagatamaru passengers
back to Hoagkong by the “Empress of Japan” and
would at once turn over the Komagatamaru to the
holders of the Charter and all difficulties be énded in
this way. It is imperative that an immediite answer be
given to this suggestion.

Yours truly,
A H. M.-W. Sd. A, N. MacNeill
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MacNeill, Bird, Macdonald and Darling,
Metropolitan Buildings.

Vancouver B. C.
July s1st 1314.

Messrs Bowser, Reid and Wallbridge,
Barrnisters, ‘

Dominion ‘Trust Buildings,
Vanconver,

Attention of Mr. R, L. Reid K. C.

Dear Sir,
Re. Komagatamaru.

I have yours of the 20th instant in this matter. |
do not think that good purpose would be answered at
the prescnt time by a discussion as to what led up to
the present situation, or whether the writer concurs in
the letter of yesterday's date or not. It appears to the
writer although not having personal knowledge of the
situation until very lately, that the facts are not alto-
gether as stated in your letter However I have sub-
mitted to the Hindu Committee the terms ot your tele-
phone communications of yesterday evening. Up to
the present writing | have not received a reply, further
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than to state that the matter 18 under consideration,
that it was impossible to get the Commiuee together
to discuss the whole question, but that an early reply
may be expected. :

In the meantime¢ I am instructed to inform you that
the Hindu Committee are prepared to supply provisions
for their immediate needs of their starving countrymen
now on board the Komagatamarw. As you know
these men have now buen without fsod for some four or
five days. Tae whole question appears to resolve itself
into one of a financial nature, and I hope you will
concur with me that it would be an ever lasting
pisgrace that any blood should be shed in connection
with such a sordid cause. -

Mr. Rahim has just seen the writer and points out
that as his Committee have had no means of commu-
nication directly with the people on board, they are
desirons of being allowed to gv on board, the Koma-
gatamaru for the purpose ol discussing the situation
with their fellow countrymen and vbtaining their views
with the object of arriving to some amicable arranges
ments, The writer trusts that this course will not be
considered objectionable under ali the circumstances.
I tink you will see tnat the mcu vn board should have
some opportunity of obtaining tne views and advice of
theic counirymen here who know the situation. It
woild appear to me that the road of peace lies this way.-
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Yours trully,
Sd. A. H. Macneill
Immigration Branch,
Depariment of the Interior, Canada,
Vanoouver B..C.
218t July 1914.
Dear MacNeill :—

I understand from you that one of the difficulties in
the way of the Komagatamaru leaving the port is
that the assignees and others believe they are entitled
to a repayment of the money advanced. by them in
good faith to the owners in the belief that they would
be repaid by the value of the Cargo. As a member
of the Government 1 shall wire to the Prime Minister
asking that these claims should be thoughtfully looked
into by an Imperial Commissioner and will urge that
full and sympathetic consideration be given to all those
who deserve generous técatment.

I must point out, however that this is conditional
on the passengers now on the Komagatamaru adopt-
ing a peaceable attitude refraining from violence and
conforming to the law by the giving to the Captain
control of his ship immediately and agreeing to peace-
able return to the port from whence they came, May
1 add that it is necessary that a decision should be,
reached at once.

. Yours very truly,
A, H. MacNeill, Esgyr., - Sd. M. Burrell
Vancouvor, B.c, Minister of Agricultare
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Copy.
Immigration Branch,
Department of the Interior, Canada
) . Vancouver, Julp 21st 1914.
-A. 'H. MacNeill, Esqr.,
C/o, Messrs MicNeill, Bird Micdonald & Darling,
Barristers,
City,
Dear Sir,
Re. 8. S, Komagatamaru,

At your request we arranged for the taking off te
the Komagatamaru of certain Hindus in an attempt
for them to persuade their countrymen on board the
vessel to recede from their present position of opposition
to the master of the vessel.

After this offer was communicated to you some
Hindus came to the immigration Shed stating that
Sohan Lal one of the influential Hindus in the City re-
fused to go, but they were ready to go themselves.
That at one time they were not ready and neither would
H. Rahim nor any other of the Hindus proceed out to
the Komagatamaru. Following that you were commu-
nicated with and promised to get in touch with the
Hindus who are instructing you. Your telephone
thessage to Mr. Ladner to the effeet that you have now
gotten H. Rihim on the phone that H., Rahim was
procuring the immediate attention of the Hindus
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but that before any answer to the demand of the
authorities should be required, food should first be put
on the boat and then several hours delay be given for
the purpose of considering their position. It has been
very fully explained to the Hindus that food will be
placed on board. We have no objection at all to food
being taken out and on the other hand welcome any
action along that line. In this connection however you
will remember we have food here that is available for
this purpose.

- If your Committee of Hindus advising you in good
faith, wisn to carry out their offer to go on the Koma-
gatamaru, we will take them out at once. They to
arrive here at the Immigration Office to take such a
reasonable quantity of food as may be required from
the store of food now in the possession of the Immi-
gration Officials. But this letter must be acted on by
1-30 O’ clock. The Government is being put to great
expense and its order have been defled, and thisis
obsolutely the last word in this connection.

Yours very truly,
Malcolm R. L. Reid, Dominion
Immigration.
Agent and Inspector,

These pages are to be the end of the first portion of
this book. No doubt the reader by himself will judge
how far we were to be blamed in the matter. To assist
a little in coming to the conclusion as to the blame [
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append these lines and ask the kind reader to be the
partial judge.

First 1 would draw the readers’ attention to a letter
of zoth July 1914, from our Lawyer to Mr. Reid in which
it is stated that the passengers were starving. A reply
to this letter is sent in which it is said that if we were on
the “verge of starvation it is their own.fault.” Whenthe
steamer was in this condition the authorities ordered the
ship (0 leave port. Would it not have been pure insanity
for us to agree to leave port in this condition? Had we
gone, was it not to certain death? We did the only
thing that was for us to do and I must say any body
would have done the same thing placed in our place.
We refused to leave the port. For this they called us
“Mutineers,” And our refusal to go without food was
“ Mutiny ” against Canada.

We never admitted and never would that we were
in tHe wrong in resisting Canada’s unlawful orders but
take it for a moment that we were. Was the Govern-
ment of Canada justified in sending the Komagatamaru
back without provisioning it? No civilised Government
would do that even if we were a ship load of criminals.
To order us back on a 435 days journcy on the seas
without food was sending us to certain horrible deaths
either by starvation or at the hands of the japanese
crew who were supplied with arms by the Canadian
Government. The arming of the Japanese crew is
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admitted by the Enquiry Committee in: para. 18 the last
portion of which reads, that “the Captain of the ship
-was advised by the Canadian Authorities to purchase
fire arms to enable the officers and crew to protect
themselves against possible attacks from the passen-
gers.”

There 15 a law that the Harbour Authorities are to
certify that every ship that leaves the por: is properly
provisioned and sea worthy in all other respects but in
our case this law was set aside and we were ordered to
leave the port when we were already without food for
several days. When we refused to obey this inhuman
order our action was described*as “ Mutinous.” My men
of course refused to go in such circumstances. [ ask
what would any one situated as we were—have dore il
not disobey the order ?

Oan the other hand a gesture from us would have
reduced the city of Vancover to ashes but such gesture
was nevet given. Through us India pitied and saved
the innocent childrcn and women of Vancouver !

I

Humiliated and dishonoured we were seat back,
There existed in our breasts a ray of hope that when once
in{ndia and the real facts are layed before the Indian
Government—we would be redressed. But fate was
holding a different cup for us at Budge Budge, Little,
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we knew that like wild beasts we would be hunted and
shot on the very soil of our mother land with no one to
raise a voice for and on our behalf. No one expected
that “living corpse” of a society at Amritsar to denounce
us that we were no Sikh. My band of course was not
prepared to lick official boots and in this respect we were
not ou the same footing as the Chief Khalsa Dewan.

The Eaquiry Committee which was appointed to
"whitewash” the doings of the Canadian Authorities
and the officials at Budge Budge did their duty and
recorded things that were far from facts.

They state in para. 3 of their Report that it was an
attempt to “evade” the immigration law of Canada.
There is not the slightest truth in this statement. We
never wtended to “ evade ” the law but took advantage
of the law. In the para. quoted above it is recorded
that “an examination of the law and of these later
orders make it clear that in addition to the general
restriction imposed upon all immigrants into the Domi-
nion every Asiatic immigrant before he is allowed to
enter Canada has to satisfy the Authorities, save in parti-
cular cases, that he is in possession of 200 Canadian
Dollars and has travelled by continuous journey from
his native country to Canada on a through ticket.”

We chartered a steamer in order to comply with the
provision of the above law. We were in every respect
able to pass a “muster.” But the reader will easily
discern that this section was paticularly directed agamst
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Indians. No Indian steamship company plied direct
with Canadian ports, and it was never dreampt that
there ever will be. The siren of Komagatamaru was a
surprise for Canada and they had no lawiul means to
stop our admission except unlawfully andunlawfully they
refused admission in which our Indian Government
seconded the motion,

Even now though the law has been strergthened
and there seem no loopholes to give me a chance to
evade yet I am prepared to take immigrants to Canada
complying with the law in cvery respect. Before a
year is out I will be able to pour into Canada at least
a lakh of persons but the pure fact is that we are not
wanted there. The law is only a pretence.

Canadian Honesty.

1 would draw the reader’s attention to the letter from

Mr. Burrell to our lawyer* dated the 21st July 1914, In

‘this letter Mr, Burrell undertakes on behalt of the

«Canadian Government to pay to the new charterers the

cost of transportation as soon as the steamer leaves
Canadian waters.

How Canada kept her plighted word. How in place
of bread, stones were given. Vo this and otner details
I pray the reader to read part two of this volume,

Those who expected to get payment from Canada
for their out lay lost their lives and serveral had to flee
the country for dear life. All this comes in part two.
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The hardship suffered by the passengers of the 8. 8,
Komagatamara aud the oruel, illagal and inhuman treat-
ment meted oub to them by the Canadian Government
is narrated here below. Though all papers of correapon-
dence relating to the Vancouver incident were confis.
cated by the Indian Government yet an attempt has
been made to describe the different events as vividly
88 posgible.

STAFF NOT ALLOWED TO LAND.

1. I together with the staff of the ship were illeg-
ally treated as a prisioner and not allowed to land by
the Immigration Department which under the law it
could not do vide Immigration Act Sec. 2 paras f. & g.
On the other hand we had every right to land without
farther delay under Saction 83 paras 3 of the same
Act. When all our requeats for landiog became fruits
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less wo drew the attention of the authorities to Sec. 33
paras 11, 12, and agreed to give security but no heed
was paid to this too. ‘The reader :is referred to cor-
respondence dated the 23rd May 1914 to 20th June
. 1914 given in the first part.

"'THE PASSENGERS NOT ALLOWLD
TO LAND.

2. The passengers werenot taken to tha shed of the
port nor the Charterer was permitted to make some
arrangement for their lodging and all this ie indirect
contravention to the Immigration Act. 8eo. 2 para 5.
They were also refused to land even on furnishing
security as provided by Section 21, 81, 33 paragraphs
3, 4 and Section 60, 61, 62, 63 of the same Act.

For reference see letters as given in Part 1.

STEAMER NOT ALLOWED TO LOAD AND
UNLOAD CARGO.

3. The Steamer was not permitted to load or un-
load cargo, as was the practice with other ships. First
the pastengers were allowed to land and afterward
they could dispose of their cargo and load new one for
the retarn of voyage, As a rule the passengers can-
not' remain in the ship on the port for more than 24
hours vide Seotion 60 of Immigration Act. -

~ For reference see By-laws of the-Corporation of the
Commissioner of Yancouver, B. 0. 1914 Sec, 17,18

el
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and 40.. Bee als» letters from me to Immigration
Agent Mr. Reid, dated 23rd May 1914 ard 2nd June
1914, Letter from me to Gorden Johnson & Co.,
dated 24th May 1914, letter from -Captain Yama
Motto to Immigration Agent, Mr. Reid dated 30th-
June 1914, latters from Mr. Bird, Barrister to Immi-
gration Agent, Mr. Reid dated 5th June 1914 and
and 20th June 1914. ‘

4. The obs'ruction put in the way of the C'ha.rterer,
to pay the last instalment due at Vancouver to the
Agent of the owner of the 8. 8. Komagatamaru on
4th Jane 1914 or 11th June 1914, according to the
Charter party.

The Charterer and his friends were neither allowed
to land at the port nor hold any commaunication in
writing or otherwise with their legal advisor to pay
the last instalment due to the Agent to the owner of
the 8. 8. Komagatamaru on 4t1 June 1914 or 1ith
June 1914 at Vancouver. The clear intention of
the *authority at Vancouver was to this effect that
the owner of the 8. 8. Komagatamaru on the Chare
terer failing to pay the.instalment would take the.
fi. 8. Komagatamaru back and the whole responasibility
of the intricate problem would be shitted from the
Vaucouver authorities upon the head of the Charterer
who would also suffer other losses as a result of this.
The Charterer by some means managed to send
the information to the port to his Sikh friends about .
hig trouble in this respect. But when his Sikh friends
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it tha port went to the Agent to psy the amount he
(agent) declined to take the money from them on the
plea that he would only accept it from the Charterer
personally. This strange and ridiculous .attitude of
him vaturally caused suspicionsin the minds of the
Oharterer and his friends; that it was due at the iosti-
gation of the Vancouver authorities. Consequently it
took a long time over the matter and in the end the
Charterer was obliged to relinquish his claims as a
Charterer in favour of Bhai Bhag Singh and Mr. N.
Bahlm on 20th June 1914.

The loss incurred on this account is very great.

THE STEAMSHIP KOMAGATAMARU NOT
ALLOWED TO PROCEED NOR THE
CHARTERER WAS PERMITTED
TO GO TO EURQOPE.

5. When the orew found themselves as prisioners
in the B. S, at Vancouver the Charterer applied
for olesrance papers for - Brazil which were refused
on the grounds that the vessel was not provided with
wireless. The Chartarer begged leave to make this
attangement, but to his autter disappointment the
aathorities did not see their way to permit him to go
on land.: The full account about this maiter is given in
History of the 8. 8: as referred in Para 17 of Koma-
gatamara enquiry Commission Report. The Charter-
er then requested the authority to allow him to return
to India by some other steamship but this request was
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also refused. For reference please see Mr. Bird’s
letter to Mr. Reid, Agent (Immigration) dated 5th
June 1914, and as a last resort the charterer wanted to
go to Europe, but all attempts in this respect were
quite fruitless. Please see Mr. Bird’s letter to Mr,
Reid [mmigration Agent dated 7th July 1914.

Now all this action of the Vancouver anthorities
was illegal and against Section 2 para G. 'A. of the
law and regulations of Canada respecting Immigration
and Immigrants.

THE LEGAL ADVISOR NOT ALLOWED
- TO GO ON THE SHIP.

6. When the passengers of the 8. 8. were not
allowed to land and other obstructions were put in
their way they wanted to consult the legal advisors
with & view to constitutionally proceed in the Court. of
Jaw to convince the authorities that they had every
right to land.  But all their attempts were in vain. Af
last the Sikh Committee at Vancouver approached -the
duthorities for the purpese. The legal advisors Mr.
Bird and others were allowed to talk with the Manager
of the 8. 8. Komagatamara but from a distance, for they
remained in the launch and could not fully get the in-
formation they required by going on the 8. 8. Koma-
gatamaru, so this nominal permission was no permission
in the real sense. The complete eorrespondence in:

, this respect is given in lotters summrised below:—
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(1) From Mr. Reid to Mr.Bird dated 23rd May
1914,

(2) From Mr. Reid to Mr. Bird dated 30th May
1914,

(3) From Mr. Gurdit Singh to Mr. Bird dated 8rd
June 1914.

(4) From Mr, Bird to Mr. Reid dated 5th June
1914.

(5) Telegram From Mr. Bird to Governor Ottewa
dated 19th Juve 1914.

(6) And reply to the above telegram dated 25th
June 1914,

(7) ¥rom Mr. Reid to Mr. Bird dated 25th June
1914.

(8) From Mr. Bird to Mr. Reid dated 7th June
1914.

7. The charter party having been transferred in
the nae of a Committee of two persons, the Govern-
ment’s last attempt to send the ship back failed. The
port_authoerities tried another method to achieve the,
same object. They proposed that two persons be
picked up from among the passengers, whose case of
elegibility or otherwise about landing on the shors be
referred to s court, the decision of which to be consi-
dered ss av acid test whether all the passengers of the
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§.8. Komagatamara had the necessary qualifications to
land on the Canadian Soil or not.: To this the passengers
did not agree. They contended that individual case of
every passenger be decidel on its own merit. Andall
such passengers who had legally every right to jand
must be permitted to do so. But this reasonable demand
was rejected, and quite against the wish of the passen-
gers, the port authorities selected one person named
Munshi SBingh whom the Canadian C. I, D, knew to be
the fittest person for its own purposes and submitted
his case before the court. It was decided by the
Court that Munshi Bingh was not eligible, according to
the rules and regulations, to land. Upon this plea the
Government held that all passengers could not land
though under Seotion 16 of Immigration Act every
passenger bas every right to prove that he possesses
all qualifications to land &s required by the rules,
Thus the Court decision of the particular case of
Munshi Singh was applied to all and consequently the
rest of the passengers were not allowed to land and
warrants of deportation of the crew and the pessenger
were issued.

8. DURING THE STAY OF THE 8. 8. KOMA-
GATAMARU AT THE PORT NO WATER
OR OTHER PROVISIONS WERE

ALLOWED TO THE PASSENGERS.

Whatever they had ran short. They were ordered
ovn the other hand to leave the port and go back
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without necessary articles of food, water and medioine,
The deacriptive narratives about some important events
connected with this subject will be found on other
pages, For reference the atteation is drawn t0 the
following correspondence:—

(1) Letter from me to Mr. Reid dated 2nd June
1914.

(2) Letter from Daljit Singh to Mr, Reid dated
2nd June 1914.

(3) Letter from Daljit Singh to Mr, Reid dated
3rd June 1914,

(3) Letter from Daljit Singh to Mr. Reid dated 3rd
June 1914.

(5) Letter from the Captain S. 8. Komagatamaru to
Mr. Reid dated 8rd June 1914,

(6) Letter from me and 8. Daljit Singh to Khalsa
Committee dated 7th June 1914.

(7) Letter from Daljit Singh to Mit Singh dated
7th June 1914,

(8) Letter from Daljit 8ingh to the Khalsa Com-
mittee dated ¢th June 1914,

(9) Letter from passengers to Mr. Reid dated 14th
June 1914,

(10) From Gordon Johnson to Mr. Bird dated 15th
July 1914,
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11. Letter from Mr. Reid to Mr. Bird, Vakil
dated 20th July 1914.

12, Letter from our Advocate to Mr. Reid dated
20th July 1914, '

13. Letter from our Advocate to Mr. Reid dated
otst July 1914,

14. Letter from Mr, Reid to our Advocate dated
21st July 1914,

15. The following lines from the Komagatamarn
Commigsion report Para admits the facts: —

#0On arrival at Vancouver they were refused ad-
mission and waited there for a period of two months
making fruitless efforts to secure permission to land.

During the period they suffered great hardships
and were for a time in actual want of food,

Finally they were directed to return having spent
about ¢ Lakh and & half of rupees on the voyage.”

The question arices as to who was responsible to
supply” provision efe., o the passengers of the 8.8.
Komagatamaru. The Chartereraccording foSection 44
of the Immigration Act, is,ia the first place respoan-
sible. But due to reasons already described I was put.
in such a position that it was impossible for me to do
this, I was neither allowed to land, nor make shed for
the pasaepgers, nor deposit security for them. In short

2
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_overy obstrotion was put in my way to do anythin.g in
the mutter. I was quite helpless, Had port anthorities
acceded to my request and .acted as required by Sec,
21, para 3 and 31,para 11 of 33, p. o, 269 of the
Immigration Act then no trouble of this soit would
arisen at all. 1f it be held that the committes of two
in whose name the Charter Party was transferred
ought to have seen to thiv, then from their letter to
Mr. Beid dated 7th July 1914 it is olenr that they
could not be held responsible. :

Thus the entire responsibility falls on the head of
the Canadian Government. The Government by issus
ing werrants of deportation against the passengers,
must also provide medical sid to the passengers as
laid down in para 2, 3 of Section 34, para 5 of Section
42 and Section 80 of the Immigration Act,

Paras 2 and 3 of Section 34.

2. If in the opinion of the Superintendent of Immi.
gration or of the officer-in.charge, the transportation
company which brought such persons {0 Canada fajled
to exercise proper vigilence or eare in so doing, then the
cost of his hospital treatment and medical treatment
and maintainance shall be paid by such transportatior
compsny aund otherwise the cost thereof ghall- be
ocollected from such persons and if that be not possibl

then the oost thersof ghaj} be paid by the departmen
of the interior, ' ‘ :
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3. The Buperintendent of Immigration or Officer-
in-charge may, whenever it s0 cousidered necessary or
advisable for the proper care of such persons, direct
that a snitable attendent or some one upon whom such
person is dependent or seme one who is dependent
on such person as the case may be shall be kept with
such persons during his medical treatment on board-
ship or at an immigrant station or hospital or in case
of deporfation from any place within Canada shall
accompany such person to his port of embarkation from
Canadr, and the cost thereof shall be paid by the said
transportation company. Whenever in the opinion of
the Superintentent of Immigration it has failed to
exercige proper vigilance or care aforesaid, and other-
wise the cost thercof shall be collested from such per-
son and if that is not possible then the cost thereo
shall be paid by the department of the interior.

Pura 5 Section 42,

In any case where deportation of the head of a
family > and dependent membors of the family
msy be deportod at the same timo snd in any caso
whére deportetion of a dependent member of a family is
ordered on sccount of having bocomo a public charge,
and in the opinion of thc minister such circumnstanco
is duc to wilful neglect or non-support by the head or
other nembers of the family morally bound to sapport
such dopondent members then all mombors of the
family must be deported st the same time,
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Such deportation shall be at bhe cost of the persons
s0 deported and if that be not possible then the cost of
such deportation shall be paid by the depsrtment of
the interior. -

Section 80. All expenses incurred in admiaistering
this Act and carrying out the provisions thereof and
of affording help and advice to Immiyrants and siding,
visiting and relieving destitute immigrants, procuring
modical assistanco and otherwise attending to the
objects of immigration shall bo paid out of any monics
granted by the Parliament for any such purposc and
under such regulations or under such orders in Council,
if any, as are made for the distribution and application
of such monies.

Had the Governmont not refused us the provisions
which we urgently required for the maintenanco of our
lives wo were quite ready to leavo the port and come
back to Hongkong.  The letter reproduced herebelow
justifies our position and expresses the true atti-
tude of the Canadian Government.

July Tt .
J, B, Bird, v 1ot

Wo hereby instract you to wave Board of inquiry
for all on board Komagatamarn and to negotiate for
roturn of Komagatamarn, Hongkong under oither

plans disoussed or undor any arrangement you may
raakc.

(Sd.) Gurdit Singl.
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The following 'Committee signed for paasengers
after full explanation to them.

Witne-ses:—
1. Harnam Singh.
2. Amar Singh.

So

Harnam Singh,
. Sunder Singh.
Nabh Kamal Singh.

SR

&. Bip Singh.

I hereby ocrtlfy that this comprises wholo Com-
mitiee.
Daljic Singh.
I, Doctor LRaghunath Singh do not agreo, as I

belong to non-Immigrant elass.

Raghunath Stugh.

—— e m—

On the 23rd July 1914 the steamship left Van-
couver port for Yokohama (Japan). I leave the woe-
ful tale of the BO passengers of the steamship hero
and give s deseription of what happened with our
Indian brothren in Canada, who suffering untold
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miseries are so0 olosely connected with our cause that
the Komagatamara story will be incomplete without
mentioniny them. Many true Sikhs like Bhai Bhag
Singh wore shot to death in the brond day light
in the presence of hundreds, congregated in the Sikh
tomple, by the'Agents of the Interior, more noble
souls like Bhai S“owa Siogh were sent to gallows;
some ‘rolled in Jails and tle rest had to flee for
their lives.

As alroady has been montioned, the Indians at the
Vancouver port formed a Committee of their own with
A view to holp the passengers of our ship and create
facilitios for their landing at the port. For this pur-
poso they had congaged legal advisors before S. 8.
reachod thore on the morning of 28rd May 1914.
But unfortunately there were traitors of Bela Bingh's
type among them whose ovil designs not only stood in
our way, but actually helged the cause of the Govern-
ment against us,  Such people were either paid by the
port authoritics as informers or were directly employed
by the C. I. D. At first they made cortain attempts at
iy lifo, but baving been unsuceessful in this, they
were able to put cortain obstructions in the way of our
prying the instalinent of dollars twenty two thousand
due to the Agent of tho owner of the steamship. This
necossitated me to relinquisk my elnim as Charterer in
favour of Bhai Bhag Singh and Mr. Rabiin two mem-
bers of the Indian Committee at Vancouver. But the
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new Charterers as already has been described were not
allowed to come near the steamship.

On 19th July the port authoritica ordered ns to
leave the port. But the 8. 8. could not sail without
the permission of now Charterers; and af the same timo
there were no provisions and water on board which the
passengers urgently required. The authorities, without
listening to the reasonable domands of the passengers,
wanted to sead then by force; but they would not go,
The result of all this was the affray of 19th July
already nerrated. The Government realising the se-
riousness of the situation, which once put the eity of
Vancoaver in danger, bejan to negotiate with the
Charterers. After material disoussion it was agreed thut
the tlLe stoamship he vacated forthe Charterers and
the passengers on board be sent to Hongkong back by
the 8. 8. “Empress of Japan® on Government cost.
But due to want of accommodation in his ship the
Captain of the 8. 8. *“Empress of Jupan” refused to
take the passengers of the Komagatamara. There
was no other steamship available for their transport.
The authorities again consulted the new Charterers on
the point, who now put their demands they had already
mede in their letter dated 7th July. It was thus finally
gsettled that (i) the amount asked by the Charterers in
their letter, be given when the passengers would peace-
fully leave the Canadian coast (ii) and the passengers
be sent by the Komagatamara ufter sapplying thom
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the necossary provisions at the Government expense,
The legal Advisor of the Charterers took upon them-
gelves the responsibility and stood as surety on behalf
of tho Government for the money to be paid to the

Charterers.

Tho Charterors in good faith to the terms of the
settlement permitted us to leave tho port, and enjoined
on us to either extend the term of the Charter Party or
purchase the ship, and get the Guro Nansk Steam
Navigation Co., now chiefly to be financed and control-
led by the Charterers registered. '

On 5th August the charterers sent Bhai Sudh
Singh with powors of Attorney to take charge of the
ship at the Iongkong Port where it was due on 25th
August 1914. But due to reasoms, known to the
Hongkong Government the steamship was probibited
from entering the Hongkong. Port. Had the steams®ip
roached there on 25th Auguost 1914 as arranged there
wero full 38 days for which the Charterers could use
the ship for the torm of Charter Party expired on 38rd
October 1914.

On :18th August. the Charterers asked the Govern-
ment to pay them the amount dve tothem as settled.
But the authorities, fearing that again the Gura Nanak
Steam Navigation Co. managed by the Charterers,
would bring passengers directly from Caleatta, whom
under the law they could not refuse entry into Canada,
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confemplated to stop the activitios of the Charterers if
possible break up the Indian Committee at Vaneouver,
whose representatives the charterers were.

To atfain this objeot, the Interior department and
C. I. D. utilized the services of Bela Singh and other
bad characters of his type. Bela Bingh was originally
a resident of Janian village in the district of Hoshiar-
pore and his Sinister motives and evil methods were
well known to his countrymen. The members of the .
Committee got a scent of this danger from that
quarter and asked their legal advisors to help them to
get licences for some arms to defend their lives, The
advocates dil not take a serious notice of their request
ani put off the matter, The things actually came to
such pass that one day Bela Singh brought his loaded
revolvers in the temple, while a 8Bikh prayer mesting
was being held in honour of a dead compatriot.
Just at the time when final prayer was finished
snd the congregration bowed their heads before
the holy Gwranth the bullets of Bela Singh’s
revolvers entering through their backs passed through
the hearts of Bhai Bhay Singh and Sardar Batan
S8ingh, who fell dead on the spol aad other Sikha
were also wounded. The eulprit was caught hold of
red handed and handed over to the Police. Mr. Hop-
kinson whose agent Bela Bingh was, got hin
released on bail. He confessed his guilt in the open
court but said that he had done that in self defence.
The court acquitted him making remarke in the judg-

3
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ment that such a daring deed, in the presence of such
» great gathering, could only bedene in solf-
dofence, The judge ignored the main evidence as to
why Bela Singh had gono there with loaded revolvers,
when the rest were aitting in the temple unnrmed
And moarning the death of a comrade. -

'How it is that this traitor Bela Smgh darecl to
go into such an assembly if the knew there .was
danger for his life! Could he escape -from such a
large crowd if they had the motive to takehis life?
It was a plob engineered by the Police to break .the
Indiane® unity in the city of Vancouver who were
daring enough 'to show their. sympathy to Koma-
gatamara pussengers in defiance to the Whitemen's
wighes. :

Bhai Sewa Singh was one who felt moat mdlgnant
at the most dastardly deed done by Bela Singh aé
the instigation of the Canadian O, I. D. Asthe Court
failed in -its duty to punish this murderer-and instead
praised it ‘as a heroic deed some. Sikhs took the.
matter into their hands and vowed to revenge on:
the wire puller {Inspector Hopkinson who made:
Béla- Singh as the cat’s paw and among - thls nobla.
band was Sowa Singh.) o

Many schemes were conside:ed as to the best
method of revenging on Hopkinson and at last it
was decided that Sews Singh should endear himself
to Hopkinson by acting as his 1nforrner againgt the
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Indians, Many days passed in this way but no chance
came™ across to do away with this bloody European.
One day early in the morning S8ewa Singh decided to
wait no longer snd with loaded revolver went to Hop-
kinson’s house to finish with him. He found him
shaving before a large mirror, Sewa Singh thought
that was the best chince and took out his revolver
but his :ction was noticed by Hopkinson in the
mirror who- turning quickly round caught hold of
Spwa Singh’s hand. Sewa Singh started laughing and
with .the presence of mind said, “Don’t be excited.. I
I am handing the revolver to you and ask you to
shoot . me. . My countrymen hate me and openly
accuse me of being in your pay while you never offer
me the job so often promised. Whafis the use of
living under such circumstances ? So I came to ask you
the favour to end me and my sorrows®. The Inspeetor
wig deceived and Séwa Singh’s presence of mind saved

him.
-

- Next day in the open Court among a huge crowd
Sewa Singh killed Hopkinson, who felling shrieked
that it was s cowardly deed to which Sewa Singh
retorted that cowards deserve cowardly deaths. To the
panic stricken Court Sewa Singh addressed in a calm
clear voice, “Have no fear. I shall harm no one. I
have revenged my brothers who were killed at this
coward’s instigation. I have shown you that it is
quite easy to killin » crowd. That the murderer
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Bels Singh was no bero, as praisad in this Court,
Peath hes no stings for me and the noble spirits of
Bhai Bhag Singh and Bhai Batan Singh becon me
whose deaths I avenged®.

Joyfully with o steady step this noble man climbed
the scaffold end thus died one of India’s noble sons
the like of whom it is herd to replace, .

The rest of the Vanouver Sikh Committee had to
flee to save their lives from the ruthless Canadian
Aut' orities. Bels Singh having escaped punishment
after murdering so many innocents, they thought their
lives to bec in danger from such persons., Instead
of dying in Canada a useless death this band preferred
to die on the Altar of mother India. '

Their whole object was to.revenze for deeds commit-
ted by the pawns of the British Canadian Government.

If the Court or any one deems the episodes related
above as false or distorted, T challenga the Governient
to institute legal procesiings against me and I stand
prepared to substantiate the black and barbarious

dealings of the Canadian Goverament to the very letter
in any impartial Court.

To support and make clear the nhove passages 1
append some of the letters below. From these the
criminal do lging of the Government of Canada 'in the
maiter of evading the payment and letter of Mr. A. M.
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MaoNeill to Mr. Burrell clearly shows that the Van-
couver Committee was actutlly in dwnger of their lives
and in self defence wanted to possess firearms. They
were persuaded not to insist on firearms and the result
was their being shot by that murderer who was in tho
C. 1. D. or Immigration Department as he admitted in
an open Court, Now read tho lctters:—

Vancovver, B. C.
13th August 1914,
The anl’b!e Martin Burrell,
Miniater of Agriculture,
Ottawa, Ontario

Re: Komagatamaru,
Deagr Sir,

I would appreciate very much if you would take
immeadiate action on our arrangements as to repaying
local Hindus their outlay in this matter. As verbally
explained this money was subscribed by a large
number of men and owing to business conditions here
many of those men are now out of employment and
in need of morney. Will you kindly take steps in
accordance with our arrangements so that this money
will be available for the local men as quickly as

possible.
{84) A. N. MaocNeiin.
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2231 W. N. K. 52. 3 46 p. m, 15,
Ottawa,'Onthrip.
15th, Augusf. 1914..

A. N. MacNeill, K. C.;
Vancouver, B. C. -

Re. Claim as referred to Prime Minister has copy
of my letter to you of July 2lst and you may rely
on its termas being lived up to will expidiate in every
possible way but the urgent matters connected with
war conditions are absolutely absorbing Goversment
attention and time at present moment,

(8d) M. Burrel.
[ Copy of night telegram. ]
Vancouver, B. S,

11th September 1914.
The Hon’ble Martin Burrell, -
Minister of Agriculture, '
.Ottawa (Ontorio),
Re. Komagat~- aru,
Have you any n- ior me? Local Hindus
are very insistant. ;

(3d) A. N. MacNeill.
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Ottawa (Ontario)
12th Septemnber, 1914.
N. MacNeil,

Vaneouver B. C.

At Prime Minister's request disoussed’ this
matter with aeting Minister of the Interior, and we
are now making arrangement for appointment .of
Commissioner and will expediate matter as wuch as
possible.. . . ' '

{ Copy. ] o
The Hon’ble Martin Burrell, -

Member of Agriculture, ,- :

Ottawa Ontario,
My dea.r Mr. Burrell, '

I am sure you will pardon the number oftelagrlms.
I have been sending you in conneclion wlt-h the,
&omagaj;amnru Co

-,+The : Komagatamaru arrived in Yokohama on
Auguat. 15th .aad is doubtless in Hongkong by this
time. .As already advised, yet the men .who put--up
the nfonay for the Charter are eagerly seeking for a
return. of. their money both on account of represent-
ations I made to them, and on aecount of their present
financial condition, arising out of lack of work, -
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Matters have been made uery mach worse by the
trouble amony the Hindus to have been more or less
connected with this matter. The latest episode was
the murder of two and then wounding of some six
others by a msan named Bela Singh who I am eredibly
informed was in the employment of the Immigration
Department here.

Some two or three days before the date of the
murder several of these men ocalled to s3e and
told me that their lives were in danger by resson
of this man Bela Singh who afterwards committed
the murders and some two or thres others. They
wanted me to get licence allowing them to carry
firearms for their protestion. I advised them
againsd any sach course havinz in mind that
those who were arrayed against them purported to be
the representatives of the constituted authority, and
the carrying of firearms of any of those people might
be miscontrued. In consequence of my advice those
men refrained from ocarrying firearms. I do not
know whether the result would have been different if
they had been armed. Youwill therefore see how
the whole watter if complicated by matters that are
extraneous tothe arrangement regarding repayment
of monies advanced for charter purposes. The local
men however are more inolined than ever to blame
me for the delays of all the surrounding cireumstanoes
and I trust you will do what you can to bring the
qaestion to an early conolusion,
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I think T pointed out to yourself and Mr. Lodner
the attitude af thuse men in matiers of this sort.

I am,
Yours truly,
(3d.) A. N. MaeNoill,

The above letters ete. will show clearly how the
Canadian Government broke their plighted word in
the matter of payment of the money promised instead
of which they did a'l they could do to smash the Indian
Vancouver Committee. The dishonourable way the
Komsgatamarn passengors were treated and the door
of Canada was shut against them and the murderous
shooting of Indians at Budge-Budge spread like a
flame of fire out of which sprang many brave hearted
souls ready to sell their lives for Mother India, account
of whose deeds will brighten the Jast pages of this
book to which the readers attention is drawn.

YOKOHAMA.

The ship reached Yokohama on the 16th August.
There I received a letter from the Colonial Becretary
of Hongkong, informing me that the Gevernment of
that dependency considered it undesirable that any of
the passengers should land at Hongkong threaten-
ing to enforce & local vagrancy Ordinance against any

4
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who might attempt to land at the port. (Please see
para 19 of Komagstamaru Commission inguiry
report).

The owners of the ship wired fo the Captain to
take the vessel to Kobe. Accordingly the ship left
Yokohama on the 18th August and reached Kobe
on the 21st August, where that perfect gentleman
Mr. Jawahar Mal, Joti Ram Mansukhani M., A. et
us, whose sympathetic treatment heartened the
disappointed passongers. He gathered other Indians
of the place and led us in a procession. He also
encouraged us in inany other ways. On the otler
hand, the attitude of the sailors and other Japanese
crew became saddenly changed towards the passengers
The light, that was usually given, wasstopped and the
water supply was also cut off. Ti:ey hegan to trouble
the passengers in many other ways; the passengers
under the lead of Mr. Jawshar Mal placed their
grievances before Mr. Y. Sato, agent to the owner of
tho ship and the British Consul at Kobe for redress.
Mr. Y. Bato, instend of attending to the compluints,
tried to get the ship vacated. But this he was unable
to do, for the date of the Charter party was to expire
on 3rd October 1914, upto which time the money due
to the owner was paid up.

The passengera were very esger to reach Hongkong
from where they had starte), bat their entry into
that port was prohibited, so, 4+ a laat resory though
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quite against their wish, they consented to go to
Caleutta. 'The British Consul did not seem inclined
to agree to this, nor were the Japanese sailors willing
to take the ship there. The ship was lying at snchor,
Valuable time and money of the new Charterers
were being wasted, and the passengers were in trouble.
At last the news was received thet {ne Government
of India were prepared to incur the expenses of taking
the passengers to India.

Here below are givemn the tclograms exchanged
between the British Consul at Kobe and the Govern.
ment of India in this connection:—

‘The telegram of the consul at Kobe runa 3--

“In rent 350 Indians Komagatamaru alleged to be
completely destitute. Only possible solution present,
sending to India, requestins you will ssnction oxpen-
ditre not exceeding 19,000 Yen repatriation.”

The Government of India roplied as follows;=—

“Your telegrams of 27th and 30th instant. Ko-
magatamaru Indians. Government of India agree to
pay expenses of repatriation up to 19,000 to you and
would like to know immediately arrangements pro-
posed. Very desirable they should return in one ship
and land Madres, also that immediate intimation be
given to allow officers to be sent to meet them in
Singapore and travel rest of journey on toard.
Presumed you contemplate payment of passage and
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messing fares to those otherwise distitute only. 1f
nameos of any specially undesirable or any other
particulars likely to be of assistance known would
you kindly telegraph.”

It is important to note that at XKobe, with the
help of Mr. Jawahar Mal we prepared a complete
bistory of the ship up lo date. There were few
copies of this history, and welesrnt afterwards that
one copy which was entrusted to a Sindhi gentle-
men there was purchased by an Englishman for
10,000 Yon. Before the ship left for Caleufta, the
British Coansul General at Kobe called and asked
me to receive 9,000 Yen for the passengers of the
ship and wanted an acknowledgement receipt for the
amount. I refused to accept the amount, adding that
I had sufficient money with me and at the same
fime I had nothing to do with the passengers, My.
Mir Mohammwad Khan, the Seeretary of the passen-
gers’ Committes, thereupon rececived the above men-
tioned amount on behalf of the passengers, and signed
a receipt for the same.

The Komagatamaru commission is quite wrong
instating that I received the amount. It has recorded
this simply to defame me in the eyes of the public.
If the said Commission or the Government have
the courage to support this statement, let them
produce the acknowledgement receipt of the amount
alleged to have heen received by me,
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As the ship was forced to remain in ports of
Japan for more than two weeks we were able to
receive sufficient financial help from Canada and
other places and to collect more funds with a view to
purchase the ship and etablish the Gura Nanak Steam
Navigation Co. We had alre :dy received £7000/- for
this purpose. We also settled the terms of purchase
of the 8, 8, Komagatamara with Mr. Y. Sato, Agent
to the owner of the ship and took a letter dated
2nd October 1914 from bim to the Agent Y. Sato
& Co. at Caleutta, to the effect that the ownership
of the ship was to be registered in the name of
Guru Nanak Steam Navigation Co. after the payment
of;c-llc.oo.c-YBn‘

The 8 §. Komagatamaru was to leave the port of
Kobe on the 2ad September, when the passengers were
given to understand that t e ship was given clearance
papers for Calcutta but somehow the real destination
which was Madras leaked out on which the passengers
protested and threatened when the anchor was
dropped abyut two miles out and clearauce papers
changed to Calcutta.

SINGAPORE.

It reached Singapore on 16th September 1914.
Hero too the ship was not allowed to go to the
pork, bat remained at a distance of five miles from
the place, where the steamers usually lie at anchor.
The passengers found themaclves prisioners as at Van-
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couver. Many wanted to land there; some for em-
ployment. Mr. Jawahar Mal and his brother had to
change the thip for Bombay, snd I had to attend to
business of mine; but we were not permitied to go to
the shore. '

At last wo requested a FBuoropean port officer to
allow us timo to scnd some important telegrams. But
thia request too was not granted. He, of course, con-
seated to take the drafts of the telograms and promised
to send them, for which we paid him 30 dollers. One of
tho telegrama was addressed to the Viceroy intimating
him the date of the arrival of the ship and requesting
to appoint a commission of enquiry to hear our grie-
vances, The second was to the elifor of the “Bengalee”
on the sane subject. The third was meaat for Sardar
Harchand Singh of Lyallpur who was also informed
the date of arrival of the ship and was req-ested fo
reccive us at Calcutta with other national leaders.

DEPARTURE FOR CALCUTTA.

It has already been mentioned that when the
rassengers wers thirsty at the port of Vancouver they
wore obliged to plunder water which the Japanees
crew had brought from the shore for their own use,
end that the Caradian authorities allowed the Japanesc
sailors revolvers and ammunition which they could
use against the passengers. Now the crew got satis-
fied that they had no danger t+ fear from us. The
revolvers and other arms, which they h+d and which
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ware of little use to them, were now secretly eold
to the passengers, The responsible members of the
committee of the passengers, Mr. Jawabar Mal and
myself, came fo know of the fact. We were very
particular from the very beginning {hat nothing
iliegal or unconstitutional shoold be done on our
part, otherwise we would lese the moral support
and sympathy of the public. 8o a thorough se: rch
of all the pnssengers was made. The result was that
all the ohjectiouable things with the passengers were
either thrown over board in the sea or restored to the
Japanese (a fact which is admittied by the Komaga-
tamarn inquiry Co umission in its report in para 42).
Before we reached Caleutta wo got thoroughly satise
fied that none of the passengers had anything in
their possession for which we could be blamed after-
wards. I also served a written notice wupon the
Captain of the ship instructing him to warn his men
not to sell fire arms to the passengers, and holding
him responsible for any such unlawful action on the

part of his crew.

Oa 26th September, 1914, when the ship was
sailing at full epeed in high fide waters near Kalpi,
a flag signal was given by a European sitting in a
launch and the ship suddenly came to a stand still.

KALFI,
The country people iu hoats approached the ship
to sell their things to the passengoers in their usual

5
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manner, but their eazeraess £ carn a littls from
the passengers of Komagatamaru was checked by the
Pilot ordering them not to approach near the ship
This order of the Pilot to the boatmen not only sur-
prised the passenzers but also created an uneasy
feeling in their minds ns regards their reception on
the shores of Mother Inlia. This feeling was soon
ramoved from their minis and they were made to
realisa their actual position, for the steamer anchored
off Kalpi acd the passenzers were treated just like
ordinary prisoners and were not allowed to go ashore
and a guard was placed on board the ship.

Early on the 27th September, 1914 a lan ch with
soveral Xuropcan Officers came alongside shurtly
followed by about 20 Punjabis clad in their ordinary
clothes. On sighting their countrymen from the
Punjab the passengers’ fuces were brightened a bit
which were to be shadowed by the mo.t unbearable
gloom shortly afterwards. 'The passengers wisl.ed the
new comers as is the custom among the Sikl:s but in
answer they gave a most insult ng frown. The poor
suffering passenvers soon made out that their Punjabi
“friends® were the Police tools who, for the sake of a
pitiable living will sell the blood of their own kith
and kin without any hesitation. The noto:ious hound
Sukha Singh was the ring leader among the band of
oruel “warders” that came to reccive them. None of
thom that we wired to, were there and it came to my
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knowledge that the European Custom ' Officer at
Singapore whom we handed the telograms with thirty
dollors did not send thosc wires or they were intercep-
ted by the Indian Government. Either the Custom
Officer bemeaned himself and pocketted this paltry
sum or Government stopped these wirey, which fact
never came to my knowledge. Had these telegrams
been received thero was a chance that some of the
oceurrences at Budge-Budge would have been averted.

To go with ovar story, On the arrival of the
Punjabis the 1st and 2nd class passengers werc
ordered to st-nd on board in a line as they were to be
medic lly examined. One European gave out himself
to be & Doctor. When they came out of their c+bina
snd stool in a line as asked their cabins were locked
and sealed and guard placed before the cabins.

Alter thisthe deck passengers wore thoroughly
searched.

Thus passed the 27th having put in gloom the
already down-hearted spirits of the men who had
suffered untold miseries,

When the 28th dawned fresh scarch was institus
ted and when wc asked thc meaning of this 2nd
search we were told that the search of yesterday was
conducted by the Custom Officors while the one
of to-day was by the C. L . Thank Ileaven that
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nothing ineriminating us in the eyes of the law was
. found on us. We had made most careful search of
the passengers while on the way and it was most
unlikely that the Police could find anything indiscri-
inating.

Like theatre actors the same men came the next
day now cled in Policc uniform and searched the
persons of the passengers. Thisgearch too proved
fruitless to the Police. After this the anchor was
raiscd and the steamer proceeded on her way to
Calcutta. I might add that early in the morning
when the passengers wanted to cook and boil water
for tes they were stopped and toll that the food
is already prepared for them and that they need
not prepare anything on hoard. The spirits of the
psssengors began to revive as they soon hoped to be
on land after such a tedious and unfortunate wander-
ings ovor the waters, Little they knew what was in
store for them. The steamer when near. Budge-Budge
slowed its speed and to the utter surprise and korror .
sho stopped there when Calcutta was yet 17 miles -
ahead.

BUDGE-BUDGE.

\What happened st Budge-Budge cannot ho
desoribed.  Had such treatment been meted out say
for instance to the people of Ireland, that country,
though she had beon undet the English Crown for
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soveral cemturies, would have arisen and revenged
her wronged sons. Indians, having lost their manbood
owing to ‘the confact with British “Civilisation" for
so many hundred years, let their brethr:n suffer the
most disgraceful treatment and never raised even the
lseblest voice in protest atthe time and whoover
dared to raise a voice he was put down with an iron
hand. But by this most horrible tragedy Indian
feeling began to smoulder, which one day, it ia hoped,
will spring into a flame and yet revenge thc deaths
of the ionocent sons of Mother India who fell at
Budge-Budgs.

The wholesale murder of Bengal Regiment 47 in
1824 brouglt 1857.

Though we were unarmed and like sheep in a
pin, yet the wolves in authority used nost condemn-
ablc deception and cruelty in their dealings and
bungled the whole affair. Had the man posses-
sed even a grain of sensa would have handled the
sitwation with tact and nothing would have occured at
this placc to darken the pages of History of British
dominion in India and Sikhs would still have been the
dupes and tools in the hands of England. Thank
God this tragedy happened and the Sikh nation
opened their eyes and realised what actually were
their master the “Whiteman”®.

To go on with our story. After the policemen have
thrice changed their professions and treated us worat
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than the lowest heasts, I was asked by my passen-
gers to approach the officers anl enquire their reasoq
for stopping the steamer at Bud re-Budge whereas
they told us that we were being taken to Caleutia
enrly that morning. I approached the Officer amd
following, is the dialoguc of the conversation that
took place between the Officer-inscommand anl
myself, ‘

Myself: ~*“You promised us to tuke the steamer to
Calcutta. You even stopped us cooking our break-
last saying that food was prepared for us at Culeutta
May T know -please, why a halt bas heen made at
Budge-Budg ?

Officors—“From Budye-Bulge the pas-enors
will be entrained and sent off to the Punjab.”

Myself: - (I wus surprised) This is news indeed
to send us to the Punjab under Government Police.
Who asked you for such protection or guard?
Secondly thia line from Budgs-Budge does not go to
the Punjab, Howrah is the Punjab station. Third y
you have no right to remove me by force as I person-
ally have busi-ess in Calcutts in connection with the
Komagatamura which cannot be adjusted unless I am
in person in Calcutta. Therc are several disputes
with the owoers of Komagatamaru and these were to
have been settled by an arbitrator at Hongkong and
a8 we were not permitted to enter that place the
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whtlement is to take place at Caleultu. And
aceording to the charter I am enitled to be in charge
of the ship till the deeision by a duly appointed
arbitrator. By what right will you forcibly drive
me from the steamer ?”

Officer; —%You cannot stick to the ship until you
settle your affairs and moreover the ship no longer
belongs to you. The Government has spent hugo
amount of money on this, As to your other question
this Yine will join Punjab line 5 miles out.”

Myself: —=*0Oa behalf of the long suffering passen-
gers I beseach you to be more explicit and exphin
t0 us your altimate object. All are rather suspicious of
your doings. Without onr knowledge we were being
shipped to Madras dircet fron Japan, endeavours were
made to put us all under guard from Singapore. Your
keeping the ship stationery for 3 days in the Hooghly
and then searching the persons of the passenyers in a
most disgraceful manucer and now finally without our
wish to take us to the FPunjab and that foo by an
unfrequented path leads us all to think that there is
a trickery in all you do.

# Let us know what you want to do with us eo
that we may be prepared for our fate, Why does the
Govcroment want to go to unneccssary expenditure
and give us upnecessary travelling ¢.”
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Ofticer:=—"J am not here to answer your questivus
but to force Government orders which you must

comply.”

Myself:—“We are ready to obey. Slaves cannot do
otherwise hut if yo1 are leading us to gailows, tell so,
a0 that we may make preparation for the next world”.

Another white Officer (who was standing close by)
“You will have death, you swine. Shut up, don’t
talk much.’

Myself:-——“Be careful what words you use. No
matter what position we are in we ure still Indian
gentlemen. I will not bear such ionsult from you.”
(This man showed temper but the first Officer speaks
to him English when he cools a bit but continues
mutfering something).

Officer:—*"Go now and tell the passengers to get
down from the ship.”

Myself:—~%“8ir, think over and do pot force us to
descend from the ship in this munaer. The route you
are taking is not the one that takes people to the
Punjab, and the passengers are not willing to go by
that way.”

Officer:—"Is it that your order or of Govenment ¢

Myself:—®Apgreed that the powerful Government
orders, but it is also essential that Government give
fair and ressonahle orders,”
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Officer:—“Shut up. I won’ hear you any ‘mare:
Go and get all down”, : e

The above conversation took place in the o‘aptain;‘;;
cabin. All my men were standing outside and werq
listening fo this conversation. I came out and told
the substance so the Committoe and all began to.
consult each other as to what steps to take. It was
a great relief to me to know that I had a man by
my side. He was Mr, Jawahar Mal Toti Ram: Man.
sukhani to whose foresight we expected to be pulled
through this most delicate situation. Qur consultation
took nearly half an hour and on the other side
the Government Officials were also holding n Coms
mittee probably thinking as to how to enforce their
will on the poor men. Suddenly a whiteman stepped
out from the group with a watch in his hand shonting,
“Get down, be quick or you will be killed. I give
you fifteen minules.” Other Europeans too began to
tell other passengers in the above strain, The
concerted action that our Committos intended to
take was useless against this brutal order and it
became necessary for a new discussion. It was
decided to send down a comrade to report on the
treatment meted to those weak minded fools who were
foolish enough to abandon their friends and obeyed
the police order. One roason they obeyed the
police was that they wereowing large sums to the'
Charterers of the Komagatamara, . As the policeman

6
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was shouting like an auctioneer, *Ten minutes more®

. Our man also came up and reported that mea from
each District was locked up in a separate compart.
menb in the train with a police guard at each
carriago. * Five minutes more® “Gob down or you
will be shot”. Shouts the anobby Englishman. At this
time the steamer too blew its siren which gave the
passengers tho improssion that the steamer is moving
senward. Shortly afterward the same Englishman
shoutod that unless they get out and that quickly
the steamer will take them out to be shob,

Meanwhile my private Secretary Sardar Daljit
Singh was busy with the safe and trying to obtain
a receipt for tho contents when again the order
was given: —“Another one minute” and with this
the lines were untied and the stenmer was shoat to
move when our Committee was compelled to ask the
paassengers to leavo themselves with.out removing any
article. The Officers were “Smaritans” enough to say
that they would lcok after our belongings and ir this

they kopt their word as they are looking after them
upto now.

Some wero clad and some were barely clad and
as they were, thoy were pushed and kicked down.
There was only a single plank by which they could
go down singly and their getting down- was a sight
that would have revolted any self-respecting man.
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They were treated like slaves of the period not long
passed. I was conveying the Holy “Granru Sams®
and was relieved from the precions weight by Bbai
Sucha Singh. Under such provocative freatment we
kept our patience and rociting tho hymn the meaning
of which was “Look down, oh, Heavenly Father, oh
just look down at our plight”. Going a litt'e further
we sat tho Holy Book on a small platform and
squatted around with the unbearable load of our
misseries. Tho polico Officers continued ordering
us to the'waitiny train. The passengoers were hope.
lessly tired and hungry end they demanded for bread
bat the rathless police had nothing hut stones for

them.

The following converastion again took place;—
Officer:—*Get up on to tho train”,

Mysell:—"The men request me to ask you not to
tread us eo harshly. -We are all tired to death”

Officer;—*“What is that you want to say?”

Mysell:—“TLe passongers fear a trick as this
is not a place where Punjab passengers get
their train, moreover we have a dispute with the
steamship company and this under para 25 of the
Charter party is to be settled by an arbitrator at
Caleutta. Under the circumstances it is hardly fair
to cornpel us to go in this manner.
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- Officer: —~“This is not the time to seltle your
-dispute. Government’s orders are that you go to the
Punjab. We will employ force if you refuse to go
-willingly”.

.+ Myself:-—%We are aware that Government could
and would send us by force. If you would not grant
our request as above would you please get us a
lawyer from Caleutta at our expense, in whose hands
we would leave our business and give instructiung
to take legal steps against the Steamship cempany.

Officers—*I am not your servant to call a lawyer
for you™.

Myselfi—"“Yes, you are not my servant but you
must know that all my comrades will suffer finan-
cially if you compel us to go in this haste.”

Officer:—“What is the harm or loss if you go at
once ? Say at omce what you want fo say, Don't
waste time, '

Myself:—“Hear me please (1) Our Holy Book
which is with us is to be ceremoniously deposited in
any 8ikh Temple in Caleutta. It is sacrilegions to
cary it in the train. We have made arrangement to
buy this Steamer for Yen 80,000 from the Agent, Mr.
Sato who has given us in writing. This matter of the
purchasa too is to be settled at Calentta.
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(2) The passengers having stayed together for
the last six months have to settle their finanaial
affairs with each other. I personally have documents
amoanting to twenty-five thousands dollars to be
recovered from several parties.

{(3) Several persons owe woney to the Guru
Nanak Steamship Company and this too has to
be settled. (4) We have large stocks of goods
which Jie in the Steamer and as we intend to purchase
the Steamer we did not remove. We have 533
bedsteads and other valuable articles which were not
intended to be romoved until we had fixed up the matter
of purchasing. For this we asked for a liwyoer in
whose hands we can leave these affairs.

(5) The above affairs will take at lenst a week
to go through and unless we go to the Howrah ikh
Temple, where we have to hand our Holy Book,
we will be at a great loss.

(6) None of us have applied fo the Government
for free passage to India. Moreover many of the
passengers intend o seek work in Caleutta as owing
to winter there will he no farm work in the Punjab.”

- After listening very impatiently to the above
arguments the Government Officors went aside and
talked among each other for some time. Shortly
again they came and said that there sre some reasons
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in our request yot they dare not disobey Government
and orderel us to board tho trains, We agreed but
begged very humbly and respectfully to allow at least
5 Sikhs from among us to carry the “Holy Granth
Sahib” to a Sikh Tomple at Calcutta as is the religious
custom among the Sikhs. This most reasonable
requost too was refused. Ani my further request for
a lawyer was bluntly rejected too. Not only rejected
but tho officer lost his temper and commanded us to
got into the train and that nothing could be done for
us. I consulted with my Committee and told the
Ofticer that we werc not prepared to obey, that we
remain where we wers. If you could show usour
warrants of arrest we would gladly give ourselves up.
Without warrants we will not obey. We wait here for
one hour and if during that time no warrants are shown
tous we go where we like. Wo had no proofof the
authority of the Budge-Budge Officers and we had no
noed of Government mercy showa in the matter of free
passages 10 ihe Punjab. I also added ihat any one
nmong us willing to take advantage of free passage
could do so if he desired. I also added that there is
no law in existance which would enable the Govern-
ment to permit us if we do not avail ourselves of the
Government bounty,

The Enquiry Cuinmittee though althrough pervae
ding far from facts do admit in this conneotion our
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long argument with 8ir Haliday, Commissioner of
Police Calcatta also our very reasonable request to
take the “Holy Granth” to the Temple aleo admits
that all requests were refused. I may add that I
have proof in my possession to support what I write.

Passengers during the meanwhile scattered them-
selves hither and thither and at the expiration of one
and half hours seeing no warrants for their arrest
decided to march to Calcutta.

While the passengers were on the maroh a white
goldier blocked the road and showed the nozzle of his
pistol and threatened to shoot. Sardar Inder Singhand
Sardar Amar Singh of Sandpora, Lahore openod their
breasts and touched the mouth of the pistol and asked
the Buropean to shoot but this white man gob funky
and moved oub of the way. Thers werc some Policemen
from the Punjab who were walking with us bub
without any hinderance. When we had nearly gone
about thyce miles we met some four or five Englishmen
who’ on seeing us bogan to load their revolvers snd
tried to stop us but they could not do so. When we
had gone ancther mile a car came along with some
Officers.

Officer:-—Where sre you people going to ?
Myself:-—We are going to Calcutta.
Officer; —What business have you st Calcutta ?
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- Myself:—First to deposit the Holy Book in a
Gurdwara and afterwards seek an interview with the
Governor before whom we will lay our grievances.

Officer: ~The Qovernor hag sent me to hear yoar
oase. I am his Commissioner.

Myseolf:—If suchis the case, very well listen to
me I will relate yoa the miseries and injustice suffered

by us.

Officer: ~ Not here. Return with me to the Budge-
Budge station where I would hear your case.

The passengers looked at each other and came
to the conclusion that it wounld be an impossibilty
io re ob Calcutta as the road all through was
thronged with military men. It was also realised
that in case we disobeyed the ruthless Officers would
not hestitate {o shoot, Our ohicf object besides the
depositing of the Holy Book was to approach the
Governor and as this man said he was deputed by
the Gover.or we would lay our case before Lim.
I must eay here that almost all of us had lost faith
in the Government Officers but we had no other
alternative except 1o be murdered then and there or
go back with this man and try a hand at dialogue the
outcome of which was anticipated as a victory for
him. We in fact had consulted with each other that
it would be betier to go as these tools of Government
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So we walked those weary miles back. I must record
here an incident which will give another lie to the
Government’s allegations that the men did not love
me. While on our way to Caleutta, I was both
weary and sad at the outcome of the the
voysge which I had expected fo bring much good
to my country. While waiking I was dropping
bohind the others. They seeing this reduced their
pace to kesp up with me when they saw a Bengales
youth coming towards them on a By-cyele. They
begged him to sell it for my use and asked him to
put a price. Hoe said he recently bought it for Rs. 60/
and would gladly sell for that sum. This youth was
paid-Rs. 75/-. He was rather happy at having made a
small profit on his cycle and in consideration of
ourselves beiny liberal with him he enquired if he
could do anything for us, Wae gave him the message
to let Caloutta know that the Komagatamara is
back and passengers would probably stay at the
Howrah Gurduwara. He proinised to let some people
- know'sbout this and departed. Thus T was rolieved

* from tramping by riding the cycle.

I will go on with my tales—The police kicked,
boxnd -and clubbed us on our return journey to
Budge-Budge. My little son was thirsty - and
continually begged for water and when approached a
way eide inn to ask for a bottle of lemonade, an officer
caught me by the neck and gave me such a push

7
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that I hardly escaped falling and had I not eaught
my turban it would have toppled down. Passengers
were of ocourse very angry at this and wanted to
retaliate but I pacified them. The Enquiry Committes
in paragraph 27 of the reports admits the Tolice ill
treatment but at once whitcwnshes themn that this
was rnecossiry as passengers wanted to fly., Buof I
say such was never the casc as the passengers fully
renlised the value of the saying of “Union is strength”
and their whole idea was to bo united.

On arrival we dircotly went to the Budge-Budge
Station where the “Burra Saheh® wanted to listen to
us. But there we were pushed out by the Police who
told us to get oub and get into the steamer. Thus
was how the Governor’s Deputy kept faith with us.
Discouraged, sore at heart we again went to the open
ground where we placed a platform and placed the
Holy Granth on it. All squatted round the Book and
started singing hynns,

The police threatenad us and ordered fo Board the
steamer,

Wae naturally were sarprised and afraid to comply
with this order. This was the very steamer they wanted
Jus to vacate with all speed and now the order was to
get aboard. The Enquiry Committe admits the order
having given but gives the reason that there was
po train ayailable and that the authorities wanted to



Voyage of “Komagatamaru”. 4o

“prison® us in for the night. But hundreds
impartial witnesses would testify that there was
a train,

The Governor’s Deputy, sceing the strength of the
Police at Budge-Budge quite enmough to control us
did nob consider it worth while to kcep his word.
We on our part were now roluctantly willing to get
into the train and go whither these “Lords” wanted
to take us. But fate hal ressrved another fate for
us. Now the Police took a cowardly advantage of
forco and began to pull, push, kick, blow and
comznd to compel us to Board the steamer. Our
Committee fearing a treachery absolutely refused and
advised the men nok to go into the stoamer. They
began to say the evening prayors and when still:
praying my child Balwant Singh started shrieking
and calling on me. On my enquiry as to the
eause of the boy crying I was informed thet a
soldiegr had carried him. I understood at once the
meaniog of this act. I rebuked ny boy saying “This
is not the time to ery and ask for father. That rela.
tionship has ended. Be prepared to face death
bravely”. “I am pieparcd for that father but would
like to be mnear you when the time comes”. Hae
shrieked and kickel and nailed the soldier who
chucking him away said, *“Go, if you want to be killed™.
What T understood at the time and I am still of that
opinion that the cause of the show of mercy to the
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. child was this, The officers who were never disobeyed
. by _Indians were fed up and angry at us because we
refused toobey their uolawful and arbitrary orders.
They could not brook this and had finally decided to
shoot us if we still continued to disobey. Subsequent
ghootings at Jalianwala Bagh and other places has
shown Indians that to shoot at disobedient Indians is
as amusing and sporty as s!ootiny wild beasts and
we knew well now that the authorities will not
+ hesitate to shoot us down. No people however cruel
will bear the sight of an innocent child dying in
these circumstances. This was the sole reason that
porticular kind hearted soldier wanted to remove my
child from the place of danger.

Woe had just finished our prayer and wera helf way
through the *Rememberance Appeal” known amoog

the Sikhs as “Ardasa” when I was called out and
I replied, “Please wait till our prayer was over,

Always accustomed to be obeyed this reply was like
a blow to the officer. He came into the gathering,
with a Lathiin his hand hitting some on the head
and some on the shoulders to give way so that he
wight reach where I was. It was I believe Sardar
Nabh Kamal Singh our standard bearer who resented
this intrusion and snatched the stick from the
soldiers band. On this another man came straight
~into the gathering. 'This men was stopped by the
Granthi from appro:ching the Granth Saheb. At this
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the soldier fired point blank. There was a bit of
a oonfusion and to our horror we fe!!i the polioe
bullets bitting us. No warning of whatever nature
waa given for this unprovoked attack. The bullets
poured like heils. The whole force swarmed round
us. They shot they cut us wlth their swords and
beat us with their lathis. Isaw my comrades, my
children, falling beforeme. I was helpless and therc
was no way to protect ourselves let azide retaliate.

No free country in tlie world could have borne this
treatment. But poor Mother India was trodden under
foot, her blood her manhood has been sucked by
centuries of foreign rule. Nothing is left for Indians
but sigh for their fate. '

There was a great commotion during which three
or four of my men lifted me on their shoulders sand
flang me across. I protested and even used harsh
words to the men who forsibly took me.

Never in my life before had I struggled so. to be
relieved or used such long to the men who out of
ove for me were earrying me to safety. 1 remonstr.-
ted with them but their quick reply was “Alive, you
will tell the world the sad sad story of Komogatamaru.
And if you die we and the story of our suffering die
teo, with .you" This was a pure untarnished love
borne by my men to me but I was really unhappy.
1 preferred death with my friends as no Sikh once
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he has been baptised and made a “Singh” should
abandon the field. That is the permanent command
of Gura Govind 8ingh. To be hit in the baok and
to desert the battle field equal to a most dishonour-
able death in the eyea of a Sikh.

Wheo my friends werc carrying me on their
shouldiers one of them was hit on the neck and also on
the breast. This was Sardar Thakur Singh son of
Sardar Budh Singh_ of village Udo Nanggal in the
Amritsar Distriet. Ho was a very brave man and very
strong. It was he and who carried me though the later
and Sardar Darbara Singh of village Malan Ferozeporec
had £ bullets in his arms. 1 was carried into a patch
of jungle. My rescuer was in flood with blood. He
coolly said that the bullets were still in his-arms that
there is a slight pain. I at once put my hand for
the kpife but that bas fallen out.

Woe catered in a pool and decided to spead portion
of the night submorged. We could not speak for fear
of detection. Till about 3 a. m. bullets were hesrd und
I summrised that “passengers” were being hunted
like beasts and shot at. It was strong on me to go
out and have a last look at the now sacred place
where my nable friends passively defending India fell
like heroes. I walked off and saw the place guarded
and found it impossible to penetrate up to the place
where my comrades fell.
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I now wandered a little to one side. There waz a
amall pool and as the thirst wason me I weut to
drink.

To my horror I saw a huge snake swirnming hither
and thither after its prey. When it has gone to
another side I knelt down and putting my handker-
chisf over my mouth, to avoid insecta getting in, I
quenched my thirst.

This is a hastily written incomplete story of the
inocidents at Budge-Budge which deed shall never
be forgotten.

Proceeding further on my way, 1 came to a
bunglow. The compound door was locked, bat I.
lifted a plank of the door and made enough way to
squeeze myself in. Having got in, I re-set the plank.
In the frout room of the bungalow I heard a man
snoring in n bed protected with a mosquito curtain.
I gently shook him by the arm. He opened his eyes,
and sat up in fright. I mentioned to bim to be cnlm,
There was & dimly barning lamp in the room and on
trimming the light he was slarmed to see a long-
bearded man in the room. T offered him a soverelgn
to lead me to the owner of the house.

The man hesitated, but T said “Friend, the day
wil} soon be dawning, my interview with your master
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must be secret, .0 you must make hsste” He went
up and in ten minutes brought his master with him.
He asked me who I was, I replied;=*I am the
unfortunate person who has be n the victim of the
terrible happenings of the last night. All this has
happened within a few yards of your house. I have
not mach time to spare. I desire that the prominent

Indi-n Leaders he informed of these oecurrances and
it must be done before I am arrested and shot”.

The Bengali gentlemen asked how the leaders counld
be informed in a0 short a time. I said if he could not
do it, he might tike ten sovereigns from me for
expenses to convey my message to the Leaders and
in the meanwhils allow me to spend the day in his
house as I intended to get into Calcutta in the night
and personally see the leaders, Thereupon the
fo'lowing conversation took place betwcen me and the
master of the house.

He:—1T don't think myself equal to it. We expect
every house in this loeality to be searched in: the
mornisg. Wae heard last night that out of the “muti-
neers” hundreds had been killed and hundreds had
run off, These are the men acting under guidance from
Germany, and the Government desires to search
every house to arrest the ®mutineers.”

I:-—No. Babuji', we are nat coming from Germsny
I am » Punjabi Sikh. We went to Canada in
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the Kdmagitamaru. Ybu must have read in the
plpe‘l.‘l of the treatment meted out to us m Canada.

- Babu:=-{in great surprise) O, Ishwar, are you tﬁa
man of the Komagatawaraf - ‘ i

.—-Yes,Babu Ji.

" Babu:;~Now I understand you were the vzetuna
of the lart night's firing. :

1-~Yes, Babu Ji.

Babu— Bnt, why !

I—Babu ji, the day is bresking, You mus{ firgt
hide me' somowhers, and then I can tell you the

whole story.

B.—~Now there is no time to hide you. The dsy- ﬁ
dewning. You must leave my house or I mll ba

) mvolved in trouble. .

L ]:--I hava no objection t{o leave, Here I go:to
be shot and join my martyred friends. As soon aa I
presont myself there I am sure to be shot. My . ‘soul
shall keep company with the soul of the innobents
slaughtered last.night. I don’t.shirk death and: am
not afraid . of joining my ocompanionsy but my souk
shall always feel troubled becaunse of the misynders
standiog under which our leaders sre labouring, . You;
were' saying that you supposed the’ Germans :in he
§
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the victims of the last night's tragedy. Now that I
have told you, you know we are emigrants returning
from Canada sud we have nothing to do with the
Germans. Other Indians also like you will have the
same misunderstmding. - Now 1 bid you good-bye
and depart. _

Having said this I moved out. 1 wss hardly
out of the house, when I heard somebody calling
SMr, Mr.® after me. Qo turniog round I found the
same Baba following me. Having motioned to me
he proceeded to lead the way. He took me to a
deserted house, and asked me to wait there till he
retarned. After abont 15 minutes he brought
another man. Both of them held a consultation and
then said to me. “Now it is nearly seven. We are
expecting the officials fo come to search our houses.
You must not yet go to the enemy, for you must be
courageous and not give yourself up like this. If we
cannot help you somebody else will. Your story
will reach the ears of Mr. B. Chakravarti or Mr. O. R.
Das and they will take up your case without charging
sny fees.” I replied, “Itis true, During night.it is
soother matter, but whither can I hetake myself in
broad day light 7 Que of the gentlemen then brought
me & -worn out but clean Dhoti and kerchief. He.
told me to cover my head up with the kerchief, to put
ox the Dhoti and to oarry my soiled coat and panta-
loons in a bundle on my head. One of them took me
te the Ganges and talked to a Forriwala. Jostead of

-~
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the stipulated sum of eight annas I paid the Ferrjwals
a--rupee and the man put me under cover while othey
passengers sat outside. We crossed the Ganges, apd
now I began to consider where to go. I followed the
other passengers. We came o & small Bazar. The
‘other men dispersed, but I took the road to the
Howrah Bailway Station. I had proceeded only a short
distance when 1 was overtaken by an Englishman on
a oycle, The oycle whizzed past me. I recognised
bimn at once. He had bsen present at the firing, and
had taken a prominent part in it. I slowed up my
pace and thought it advisable to leave the . highway,
for I was apprehensive that if I continued on the way
1 must come across some police-post where the
Englishman might have me arrested. Beyond a bend
in the road the oyclist dissppesred and I turoed to a
by-path in the bushes. This brought me toa row of
garden plots. Proceeding further, I came to a. hesp
of hayin a house. I wss dreadfully tired and lay
down there to rest. I felt terribly hungry. My
lips" were parched. I was addicted to morning tea and
was missing it badly. After a while the house owner
came to enquire who I wasand why 1 lay there,
That was.exactly what I desired to be asked. -I told
him the whole truth, and expressed the wieh that
some Indian patriot might hear me. I offered to
give a hundred rapees to the parson who might tske.
me in » covered cart to Mr. Chakravarti or Mr. C, R,
Das. ' While we were talking 3 or 4 young ‘studente
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came up. I told them the same thing. On theii
enquiry, I told them my bundlé contained nething
but my coat and pant. I requested them to give
meé something to eat. The house-owner who had left
me talking with the students returned with somie
sweats, milk and tea, and I had a hearty repast. He
now offered me his curtained bed to sleep in. I had
bardly slept for an hour and a balf, when another
iomate of the house came up and asked whoI was.
When he learnt I was Gurdit Singh he was in & fury.
Weking me up immediately, he said “Old man,
please leave this houss, lest we bave to suffer in
your atead®. The other man asked him to allow me
fo take rest, but he was obdurate., The other man
took me to a garden surronnded by big trees. Here I
could sit, but there was no room to sleep. Mosquitos
swarmed about. Towards dusk he returned with 5 or 6
otlier men. One of these appeared to be a noble born
geutleman, He asked me if Ihad any money. I
replied T had only a litife of it lying in my. pocket,
because my ocash box, valuables and money had Been
taken possession by the police. He said *If you
spend some money, we can take you to some able
pleader or take other means to save you. If you
save your life, sooner or latér your desire ‘will bear
frait.. But ab this time everybody is alert in
Cnloutta.”

I gave hun eight sovereigns and he left. Wheq
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hé returhed at 8'p. m. he took me to his house. Here
1 bathed at & fank, had a good dinner and rested
a while. He now told me that no pleader counld be
engaged, snd I had better go towards Jagan Nath
Puri end wait there till peaceful times refurned.
He offered to keep me as a guest provided I assumed
the dress and figure of a Bengali. The Bengalis
wear short hair and their chins are olean shaven.
1 was a Sikh, and prefer death to any sacrilege
of my Kesbas. I fold him it was impossible. This
irritated him a hit, for be said “Youn people don’t
consider your life & ha’ penny worth. I cannot keep
you now. Please leave at once.”

It was 10 p. m. I was supplied with a Dhoti, a
shirt, a lota, an umbrella and a towel of the Bengali
fushion. Two men were in my front and two in my
rear, The railway station Bauria was abouta mile
digtant. We went thither, and one of the Bengalis
brought me a ticket for Jagannath. I was standing
at' the Railway platform with other men, when the
train came in from Howrah. I espied a Punjabi Police
Inspector and several other Policemen in it, and told my
companions that my enemy sat in the train. They said
they could not render me any further help and I must
oither take that train or shift for myself. I put my
trust in God and entering the last compartment where
some coolies were sitting I got upon.the luggage
board and lay down there to sleep. Through out the
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night and the next day I remained in the train. At
4 p. m, Jagannath was only one station off. I alighted
snd proceeded on foot to Jagannath for seven miles.
Here T went to a Dharamsala, which was under the
care of 8 Punjabi Brahman. He was friendly and we
visited the temples from 8 to 10 p. m. The next day
we again went to the temples and also saw the
Gurdwara Bauri Math of 8ri Gura Nanak Dov Ji
situated by the sea.shore. There I felt at peace. Some
Sikh carpenters from Kharagpur factories also met me
there. I told them all about myself and gave them =
letter for publication in the Indian papers. I gave
another letter fo a Subedar pensioner to be delivered
to the Khalsa Sewak of Amritsar; and further asked
him to let the Punjab know of the fate that had
be fallen me and my compavions. When the Subedar
heard of my misfortune, tears rolled down bis cheeks;
ho took away the letter, promissing to see it safely
delivered. |

The next day I had an attack of dysentry and was
in sore trouble. The Mahant appeared a good mae
bt his chela (disciple) looked like a scoundral. I sus-
peoted that he would hetray me. Two Englishmen
had come to the Gurdwara and returned after looking
- in at the door. I was anxious about my safety ‘now,
From the Kharagpar carpenters the news had
probably leaked out, and theee Englishmen had come
to- see if it was true, From the Mahant or his chels
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I expected no help. IfI left the place, the change of*
wator might care my dysentry foo. With this idea
I came to the city of Jagannath, took a small dose
of opium and hired a bullock cari for the Railway
Station whence I had come. I knew Jagannath
Railway Station would be watched.

On the 4th October, 1914, I came to this Station
oalled Haldipatpura, purchased a ticket for Godavari,
and entrained af 4 or 5 a. m. The train had fo be
changed at Khurda Road. Inthe new train I got
into a III olass compartment which was quite empty,
and covered up my face and lay to sleep.

When the train was about to move, two strong
men jumped into my compartment. One of them
said:—%0 Tatia, is that photo with you or with the
Ingpector Sahib t* The second said “Yes, it is with
me, just have & look at it.”

Tatia opened a bundle of clothes. I saw it
contained a policemen’s uniform. They took the
photo out and holding it in the light began discussing
it. The first said:—“Bhayys, this photo was taken
in Japany this is very fine; Here in India they do ‘not
make suoh photos”. Second: “You are right, but every
Sikh has a beard like this, Does this photo give
sny olue by which one may recognise Gurdit Bingh
al onoe”.

- Pirst:—*Brother Tatis, aro you runming mad ?
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Whenever we sece a Sikh we can take out the photo
and compare it with him.” ,

" Second:—®Tatia is not mad, but I hope you heard
the orders of the Inspector with your ears open®,

From this talk I was convinced the police was
making etrenons efforts to arrest me. 1 feared
that my escape from this compartment was impossible
and I would die with my tale of woe untold. I heaved
a deep sigh and involutarily the word *Wahiguru®
escaped my lips, “Wahigura” in Sikh soriptures
means God.

At the sound of “Wahiguru® these men picked
up their ears and began whispering to each
ather. In the meanwhile other passengers came
into our compartment but these Policemen would not
admit them giving the excuse that it is reserved for
the Police. The two Policemen and myself were
the only occupants. The engine whistled and our
train was in motion. One of the. men came to -
have a closer look at me. I knew I was betrayed
by the utterance of “Wahigura® but I trustad to
providence to take care of me.

“Wahiguru the destroyer of all fear, would protect
me”, I thought. When the train stopped at the next
Ruilway Station, Tatia got out of the train and warned
his companion to kesp an eye on me. I guessed he
had gone to inform his superjor officer, who might be
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travelling in & higher class compartment, My
moving from the place was fraught with danger,
Tatis continued to geb off and report to his Officer at
every Station. Those two men continued to converss
in whispers, and I canght a fow words. *Thereis no
‘mistake *Wahigure’ is spoken only by Sikhs. Look
sb his slrange boots. If it is not he, why does he
not sit up L. :

From the constant whisper of the word ‘wire’ I
understood that their officer had wired to some office
at head quarters or perbaps he could not arrest me
without some local officer’s permission,

The day thue passed away. I did not leave my
place even for a second. When it was 7-30 p.m,
the train reached. Vizyanagram 8 big railway station.
Tatia went to his officer and the ofher fellow kept
watech over me. To the new passengers desirous
of getting into the ocompartment, they would may:
“QGet off. This compartment is reserved in the name - of
Sarker” 1 felt there was more trouble in store for me,
and some thing was going to happen. When the bell
rang for the frain to start, about & dozen policemen
in uniform with bayonets fixed on to the ritles
entered my compartment. As soon a8 they were in,
the train started. These men were busy in arranging
their kit and Tatia’s companion was also looking at
them, I thought that was the right moment to aot.
Within two or three minutes I would be either safe "or

9
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a prisoner. Tatia failed to geb info this compartment
and the officer-in-charge was questioniog the other man
during which conversation the train :had travelled half
a mile when I, quick as lightening, jumped out of the
door pearest to me. I jumped in the direction the train
was moving I had got used to this sort of thing
when I was a railway contractor, I suffereéd no harm
excepb a soratch on the abdomen.

As soon a8 I jumped out, the policemen raised a
hue and ory, I could not understand their words
but the train stopped after 3 or 4 minutes. 1 took
full advantage of this interval and the growing dark-
ness. Leaving the road to the railway station, I
took another way to the city. From 6 a. m, till 8 p.m.
I bad been practically a prisoner; now I eased myself
and felt free.

In the city I first went to a Hindu Hotel. Here I
asked the address of a draggist snd took from him
medicine for my dysentry. I slept in a verandah
and when i* was 4 a. m. thought it advisable to1eave
the city quietly at that hoar. I took to & high road
and walked along it under cover of trees. By sunrise
Y was about ten miles away from the city. This road
ran poraliel to the railway line, with the intervening
distance of nearly a mile. I therefure, ‘fancied this
might lead to Godavari and being & highroad might
be watched. I turned to one side and, desirous of
faking rest, I approached a shepherd’s hut ab the edge
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] .
of a forest of Chichra and prickle shrubs. Here I
dravk milk worth eight annas, and slept in the jungle
for 3 or 4 hours.

Now I kept to the by ways which ran parallel to
the high rosd. 1 was feeling hungry and returned to
the road so that I might know from some traveller if
there was a village near by. I was waiting on the road
when three Sadhus came along. They were on a
pilgrimage from Rameshwar to Jagaonath. 1 asked
them if a village was near whore I might secure some
eatables.

Sadhus: —=Just a little way off there is the hut of
an old hermit. Wo dined there and you will also get
there plenty to eat.

I:—You seem to be Marwari Sadhus. Have you
ever been to the Punjab ¢

Sadhus:—We have been to Lahore, Awritsar snd
other cities in the Punjab several times.

L]

'1;—You have been to Deccan. Have you seen the
the Sikh Gurdwara of Hazar Sahib at Nander in the
Nizam’s dominion {
~ Sadhusi—We bave not been to the Gurdwara at
Nander but we have seen a colony of Sikhs at
Bhadrachal —a place of pilgrimage on the Godavari
Ganga.

I+—Can you recognise the Sikhs ¢ H
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Sadhus;—“Why not. The Sikhs keep a Kesh
(hair). read the word of Gurn Nanak Dev and follow
Guru Gobind Singh Ji.

- L-—What is the way to Bbadrachal, and which
cities occur on the way 9

Sadhus:—You ean go by train to Godavari. Then
you have totake a boat. On both sides of the
Godavari thére is a dense forest and walking on foot
is impossible.

I:—Canvot you tell me of zome straighier way
than through the Godavari ¢

S8adhusi—We know not of any other. But you
must enquire from the old hermit who gave us food.

I then went to the old hermit and found him a
very good and peaceful man, He wore long hair snd
kept a flowing beard. He was an old man of abont
80 years, but had a bright face, and people revered
bim. I am fond of hermits and I found this old
msp very loveable, I thought of making him s
small offering of money and putting him some
questions. The old man began the conversation by
asking if I had dined.

:—No, Holy sir, I have not; but I do not feel
very hungry.
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Sadhu:—If you with to cook it yourself, you may
have the materials. |

I:—Alright, holy sir, I shall doso. Now the
hermit ordered his Chela to prepare his chilam. The
Chela brought it, and the hermit motioned to me.
I beld back. He then asked ifI was a 8jkh, I
snswered yes, MHis nexb question was what had
brought me to these parts. I told bim I wished to see
Bhadrachal on the bank of the Godavari, and asked
him to let me know of a direct path to the hely
place. The hermit replied he knew of nume other
than the Godavari one; and even if there were say
shorter route over the hills it must be Iimpossible
for me.

While we were talking, he was smoking the
chayas and producing flames in the chilam. This was
disgusting. The faith iospired by the old man’s
beared was shattered. Here was a hermit, a holy man
using Bhang, Sulpha tobaccosnd other intoxicants
purchased with the offerings of his simple followers.
I believe » Badhu should lead a simple life, keep free
from passions and evil ways and devote himself to
meditation.

Having learnt that the nearest village was 4
miles offy I proceeded thithery but not finding any
satables there I went on. By the side of a stream
there was a small fown & saored piaoce of the Hindus,
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I went towards the temple so that I might be taken
for & pilgrim.

I was about 300 paces from the tomple when 1
came across two men. Ooe of them atonce said:
T think this is the man®, then he asked me, Old man
where do you goto} "'I‘o pay my respects at the
shrine,” replied I. The other man spoke to the first
in English and advised him not to talk but to follow
me into the temple.

Their English was little better than that of a
school-boy. They did not seem to have had much
experience of the world, How did the fools suppose that
the man they were after did not understand English.

1 went ioto the temple, put my things in a
corner and devoutly began to walk round the ido!
looking all the while for a way of escape. I saw s
small lene across the temple enclosure. There was a4
banis’s shop on that side. The man who' had acoom-
panied me talked with thab Bania and then,went
awsy to call somebody. I saw him motioning towards
me and cautioning the bania to be on the alert.

I deliberately went to the bania, lest he might
raise an alarm if I moved elsewhere. I said to bim
“Seth Ji, I am feeling very hungry, where can I get
some puris fo eat? The bania said, * I can get these
ready for you”. I'said ® Alright, prepare a seer of
purin for me and direct me to & bathing' place.” The.
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Bania replied, “There, sir, you will find the sacred
stream flowing by. Please leave your things with
me and have a good bath” It was abont 7 p. m. and
darkness had ‘already set in, Having told him that
I had nothing besides a suit of clothes which ¥ wonld
ohange after bathing, and having shown him my
bundle 1T hegan to walk towards the stream. The
bania seb a small boy to keep watch on me. I went
to the stream, took off my clothes and told the boy
I would bathe on tha opposite bank. I went to a
fording place, bathed hastily and began the recitation
of the evening prayer (Rahiras) as I hurried along o
path. I came across a Kutcha road along which
gome huliock carts were proceeding. I paid the usual
fare to & carts men, and told him that I was feeling
unwell and did not like to be disturbed in my sleep.
I should get into bis cart only if he assured me that
no body would disturb me in my sleep, The carts man
.emphatically said, “nobody, nobody”. I asked him
what he would reply if any body queationed him as to
what was io his cart. He said “No fear, if any body
wakes you, don’t pay me a pice.” “Yes, that is right®,
I added *If nobody wakes me, I shall pay you a
rapee in addition to the stipulated fare.® At this,
the cartsman was immensely pleased. During the
night he was twice asked if he carried any stranger.
To this he woald reply in the negative, and goad his
bullock onwsrds. By.the morning we had fravelled
25 miles and were near Waltair. At a suitable place,
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I left the ocart and paid the cartsman the promised
amount, He went away quite pleased and I took a'
bye-path in the forest. I bathed in & pond of cleen
waber and then went to s small village. On enquiry
as to where I conld get food, I was directed to the
Munsiff's house, (Munsif 'in these parts meena a
lambardar or reporter). I went to his house and had
dinner. Then I left the village and lay down to rest
in & jungle, snd began to think what I should do next,
I proposed to myself that I shouid go to some railway
station and’ catobing & night train I must cover as
much distance during the night as possiblg. I went
to o railway station called Dowada and slept in a
jungle near by. Assoon as it was derk I made for
the Railway Station. On the way I heard persons on
two trolleys talking in Punjabi. I was afraid these
# were ‘in searoh of me. A{ come distance

from the station I sat down on a heep of stones away
from the public eye. At ten the moon rose, and at
eleven the train arrived. Avoiding the platform I
went to the other side of the train, and opened’ the °
door of & compartment. I was atill on the footboard
with my hand on the handle of the door, when a
person from the adjoining compartment shouted in
Punjabi “Get up. ho has come “The others asked,
 “Where, where" and he replied *Quiet quiet, he ia in
the next ocompartment.” I had one foot in the train
and the other on the foot hoard, 50 I at once jumped
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out. A pointsman asked me who I was. I only
shook my head and took to & path on the other side of
the Railway line: Though it was moonlight now,
yet by & dodge I made the pointaman believe I was
walking in the direction of the train, I took exactly
the opposite direction, Guided in my.course by the
stars, I travelled on along fields jungles, dry Jand .and
swamps, villages and wilds. While passing th¥ough
vilages I was careful not to make a mnoise.
My rubber soled boots helped me much in this. I
could nob estimate how much I hsd travellad by
the morning. I was extremely fatigued, and went
to a hillock in the jungle to sleep, At the foot of the
hillock there was a deserted house. I stepped into it,
but ib seems I was observed entering by a girl from
out in the fields. 8he must have informed other persons,
for a man came to ask who I was, I told him I
could nob speak, for I was fatigued and felt dizzy. I
gave him a rupee to bring me some milk. The man
took away the rupee and my lota. In a short while,
he returned with ten annas and the lota full of milk.
I gave the change to the man’s son, a small child who
stood by. Having finished the milk I was able to

converse.
I.—¥riend Bam Swami, you know Hindustani
well. Where did you learn it ¢

Ram Swamit—Woell, BiryI served in the army
10 ‘ ' :
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and was on the point of retiring on pension when an
Engliah Officer abused me and called me *the son of a
pig®. I could not control myself and retorfed. My
nae was struck off the roll without any right to
pension. Now I live by agriculture and thank God
for my prosperity.

TI:—Friend Ram Swami, when the Sahib called
you the son of a pig, he was right, for what better
than a pig or a beast is the person who, beinga
human being, has no sense of self respect, honour or
shame, who has no national pride, no love for
his motherland and who passea his life in serfdem.

Now Ram Swami and I became friends. He pur-
obased for me things worth five rupees from a town
which was six miles distant. [ paid him ten rupees
oxtra, and made him understand that I was also a
vietim of beaurocratic tyranny. I was wandering
desolate and waiting for justice. I stayed in the hut
for 3 or 4 days. The neighbours of Ram Swami came
to know of the stranger in his fields, and he became
afraid. Oa his saying a0/ I too became anxious Iest
the police might know ofit. I paid him seven rupees
80 that he might take me in his bullock cart as far as
possible and return before sunrise. Ram Swami and
a friend of his son accordingly drove me in the cart.
We started at about )0 p.m. and by the morning
they left me ab & distance of about 15 miles along the



Voyage of “icomagatamara”. 3

path of carta to the Godavari.. Now I walked alone,
and passed the noon in a grove of mangoes, In ‘the
cvening I again walked 3 or 4 miles. A$ some.
distance I saw a washerman drying some clothes in
the sun. I went thither in search of water. Here 1.
found a stream of clear water coming from the - hills,
I drank some water, bathed and washed my clothes.
I was preparing to depart when my oyes fell on a big
temple by the stream on the hill. ‘The temple was
called “Gopal” As I saw it I noticed two men coming
towards me. They were conversing to each other and
when I was quite near, one of them asked who I was.
I said I was a Hindustani. The other laughed and
said *Your fashion is really that of a Bengali” The
first man now laughed and said in Englsh “Sarely
this is Gurdit Singh®, and he calied to the head
priest of the temple. I was now moving back
when both of them said “No stranger can be permitted
to return without seeing the head-priest’s house. - The
head priest offored me some food which I refused to
take. Maving finished his own meal, he pressed me
again, and T yielded. I was madeto sit down and
oight ‘men mounted watch over me. A bullock cart
was got ready, lanterns were procarad and a Tetter
was written. The headspriest theu went ‘to another
house fo consult somebody. 1 had heard it uftered
when the letter was being dictated, “It'may‘ér may
ot be he, but his age is about 50 years”. ~ The -clerk
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also asked the head-priest about my besrd and other
marks of identification. I got up to go, and the men
asked me where I was going to. I replied, “My
things are at the tank below, but now I am going
out only to make watei”, Four men gathered round
me and told me not to go out but to sty
there. I felt I was their prisonor and escape was
well nigh impossible. Gopal Pande and two more
persons were talking with a woman in a room, the
door was open. IfI could make use of some trick
and secure my escape, that was the time to do it.
The jaws of death were ready to devour me. The
letter and the bullock cart of course, meant that they
were sending information to the police. If the police
came all would be over with me. I thought over the
situation quickly and made up my mind to act at
once. -

Without much ado, after they came out, I entered
the room where'the head-priest was with the woman.
I knew a woman’s heart is softer than & man’s and I
said "I have come to make a request to Baiji (the
lady),” “What is it”, she asked § I replied,* I am
not unaware of the arrangements you people are
raaking for me. Your doubts are well founded. I
am Gurdit Singh, for whose arrest the British Govern-
ment . hias sent orders to every village. But consider,
are you prepired to commit this sin and go to hell !
I am innocent, I have not harmed the Government,
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on the other hand the police has robbed me off every-
thing. I am ruioed, barrassed and f.lsely accused.
Say what the Sarkar might, I assure you that for no
fault of mine I am being persecated. If your son
show me no mercy and hand me over to the police,
I shall die at once. I am already ordered to be shof
a8 soon as arrested. You are the priests of a sacred
temple, you will have committed the sin of man
slaughter. You wmight have read or heard “Dharam-
Shastras” that killing of 100 goats amounts to the
sin of killing one cow and killing of 100 cows amounts
to the sin of killing one human being, and killing of
100 human Jives amount fo killing one Brahmin
and kiliing of 100 Brahmans amounts to the sin of
killing one’s own relation or family-man and the
killing of 100 relatives amounts to killing of one
daughter and killing of one grandson (daughter’s son
amounts $o hundred times sin of killing a daughter.

8o, I being next to Brahmin that is a *Shatria’ by
caste, wish to let you know that killing of an inuocent
man Jike me would be equal toa sin of not less than
5,000 cows. And your son is going to take over the
responaibility of this greabt sin, the result of which
would surely be that your fore-fathers. would be
thrown ia the hell,

Upon this the mother and wife of the Pandit got
very uneasy and on return the Pandit asked
from me my story. Itold him that I was Gurdit
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Bingh and had come to bathe on that place of
pilgrimage and the moment the Police would arrest
me they would hang me up. I further told him
that this calamity would not have fallen upon
me, only if I had not come there.

The womon asked the priest to explain what I
had ssid. When the priest told her, she beygan to
tremble and uttered “Ram, Ram® several times. Two
other womon were callod, the despatch of the letter
and the cait was stopped. Then they consulted
amongst themselves, and sent a Pandit to assure
me that I was safe and might sleep fearlessly for,
said he, “Your silence was fatal, but since you have
spoken the truth yon must feel safe”.

The bullocks wore unyoked and the watchmen
were dismissed. It was given out that doubts regard.
ing me were not well founded. I was provided
with 8 bed, and lay down without going to sleep.
The Pandit’s bed was also near me, Abt4a. m. I
saw he was sound asleep. I satup and prepsred to
go; but it was not wise to depart without his permis-
sion I called him in a low voice, and he woke
up. I asked his leave to go. He camwe to me and
said “Where will you go 9 I said, I intend to see
Bhadrachal and wherever clse fate might take me”.

Pandit: —“If you don™ feel afraid, you can wtay
in the big temple. I shall arrange for your board
and lodging"’,
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I:—“The temple is visited by so many pilgrima.
I must not stay in the temple”,

Pandit:—*“You might get clean shaven and stay
in a garden of mine, about a kos distant from this
village.”

My eoyes were full of tears as I replied *Pandit Ji,
the life of a brave Sikh is given to him but once.
In my previous incarnation I must have committed
horrible sins for which I am now suffering. If I now
transgress the rules of religion I belong to and where-
by 1 hope to be saved, can I hope for peace in the
next incarnation™”.

The Pandit still tried to persuade me to ttay and
offered me money for my expenses. I thanked him,
as I had enough; and even if I had not, I could
not take money out of offerings to sacrod temples.
Now I begged leave to depart, delay was dangerous.
I asked him the names of some villages on my way
and having thanked him profusely, started for the
Godavari.

My way lay through fields of rice and slippery
ground. I felt troubled as I had never before felt in
my life. For three days I walked with great difficulty.

I walked in the day time and passed the nights in
the huts of some shepherds who wounld purchase victa-
als for me. I came to & spot where the only way was
by the highroad. I decided to resume my journey af
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night time after resting in & field where a milkman
supplied me with some milk.

I had hardly proceeded 2 or 3 miles when I saw
4 or 5 persons on both sides of the high way conver-
sing, They had & lantern I took shelter behind a
tree, and saw that two of each party were lying
and two had lanterns. 1 grew suspicious, and thought
it prudent to avoid meeting them. I furned to a
field on the left; and having walked across 8 or 4
fields I again took to the road. I had to make
suoh deviations 3 times. In the small hours of
the motning, I came to o bridge across a stream.
This was manned by a dozen watchmen. I waasin
a fix, If Itried to swim I might be carried away
by & whirlpool; and if I went to the bridge,
I was sure to be arrested. I sat by a tree trunk
and thought over matters, Bome carts were coming
from my side of the bridge. The ocarts men were
dozing and I took my opportunity. I got under the
middle cart and walked on all fours under it. *The
watchmen asked the cartsmen if they ecarried a
Punjabi, and the cartsmen replied. *None, none”.
I was thus safely across the bridge, got out from
under the cart and was walking along the road tefore
the ocarts came o a stand-still.

I crossed s village and came to a Railway
Station. The road along which I was walking crossed
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the railway line near the station. When I came
near the railway station, Ileft the road. I was
walking quickly when I heard a blood-curdling voice,
“Halloo, mate, see who is the fellow that saunters
slonz there”. The speech was in pure Punjabi, and
the reply was made in the anme langzuage. “Thousands
of dogs saunter ahout herc. Whom shonld we run

after 97

To my good luck these men did not pursue me.
Had they done so, I would have fallen an ensy
prey, because I was fatigued and for 8 days I had
taken no food. It was now about 5 a. m. and the
light was visible in the east. For these reasons
I wus muoh embarrassed. After walking for some
distance I was afraid the men at the railway atation
might yet be keeping an eye on me. I therefore
herried on. When I had orossed the railway line,
I again took my previous road. I crossed this
too and came to & shrubbery. Beyond this thore
was o stream, where I stopped covered up my face
and lay down to sleep. I awoke at about nine
and felt very huogry. In the distance I descried
a village where I immediately went and asked for
some flour. This was not obtainable. I boiled some
rico and ate it with raw onions. Freed from the
pangs of hunger I went back to the stream snd
slept again. When night was drawing nigh, I retarned
to the road and resumed my journey. I came to

1l -
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& 4own, passing through which, I felt; wouold +be
fangerous. Keepmg' to the right I passed over
hiflgék and ‘Was soom on the other &ide of. the town.
. {17) ftagami‘nrr the faad T tnet a Sadhu- who asked
ine whithet ‘T was ‘bound. On my answering “to
Qodawari®, he dskett me to stay for the might at
his vnllaoe riear by and offeréd- to take me to the
ferry the next morning. The Sadhu was & “native
of Mewar Jau!r, he seemed very compassionate and
understood my ' téngue. ~ For obvious reasons T did
not accept’ his oﬂ'ef', and asked bim to ‘arrenge 'with
sqmq burock caiter to carry me for the mght. oniy
The Sa(lhu made thlh arrangement

I made the cart-pllet underat.zmd ‘that if anybody
ulded him- whether he had any..man in his cart,
he muast say there was none. During the night
two or three times the cartsmen wgre asked :if they
enrrjpd a stranger’ from Kashi or Patna. I remen-
beredt that in the last village where I had . boiled,
rice,: & Railway  servant on leave had asked me whicli
oity I.bélonged to. On my replying ‘Pat‘“? ke
had.asked “Where is Patoa®”, and . to this T had
repliod, *Towards Kashi.” The ra:hmy servant must
bave reported it to the police and the __polwe_ had
sent the news fo sll posts along the road.

3 I[p the morning the bullock-carts went to a ‘village
.1 gob out at s safe distance and bathed at & streamn
and thought of Low to progure food, In tbase parts
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there is a fruit called Kothi. Tb is a tasteless thing
eaten by the poor. Who could be poorer than myself
in such circumstances ? Even a poor man s free,
but I was a fugitive who was being ruthlessly purened,
Ilived on this “Kothi” tiil the afternoon. Them I
went to a village. Flour could not be had, Fee
boiling rice I begged for a utensil:from 4 or 5
houses; not getting it I came back to the forest and
Loiled a little guantity in my lcta. This did pot
appease my hunger. I went to another village,
and to my good luek I was still at some distance
from the provisions shop, when I lesrd three or
four persons saying sloud to the shop-keeper, “O
Modi, if some stranger comes to you to purchase flonr
or provisions, do report to us ab once”.

Remaining hangry for three days and saving
myself from she proying eyes of watchmen by night,
I was at last within 6 miles of the Godavari. Durjng
the day I hid myself in the forest and remained
sleeping when wood-cutters hiinters and others began
to roam about. I climed up a high tree, and 1 saw
the towa of Godavari at a distance of sbout five or six
miles and cavght sight of the wuters of the God.vari
River. I heavd the appro:ching footsteps of men and
forgetting my lots and rope there, I hnrried off.

I came to a cleared spot in the forest. This was a
practice shooting ground, and I was afraid I might
come across some military man. But then I remembered
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it was Sunday, and no soldier would be there I
came to & person hewing wood. I said to him,
“Friend, I am very thirsty, I shall give you a rupee,
besides four annes or so as compensation for daily
labour, if you take me to a place where I can hathae
and drink cold water. Butyou m st take me to an
unfrequented place. The police are after me. I am
an innocent person persecated by the Government
-and I ask you to help me”.

The mn profusely ahused the police, and left oif
hewing wood to aceompany me. He brought me to
a well and said “Godavari is far, you must drink
water here”. Alter drinking my fill, we went on to
the oatskirt of the city, aud I espied aman in Khaki
with his rifle and hayonet patrolling the street We
had to crossthe street, and this was the gate of the city.,
I hid my face beliind an umbrella and siftly slid past
the guard and took shelter behind a house. I s-id to
my companion, probably you mean to betray me. Why
havo you brought me hefore a gusrd © 1L man
Lifted his hands to the sky, and said: By God, it was a .
mistake and no cvil motive”.

About 2 mile and a half further on we crossed the
ro d hitweon the city and the jail and came to a field
towards the Godavari. ‘lhere I sat under the sh-de of
a tree and sent my companion with a five rapee note
to the city to purchase for me a lota and some estables
and to lelp himself with some sweets. The man
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followed my instractions. At night full we again set
out up the Godavari It wasadrknight. We had
proceeded two or three mniles, when I discovered that
a party of four or five men preceeded us. My compa-
nion conversed with them over something quite unintel-
ligible to me, but my fears were arouscd. These men
might twke me to be a rich stranger and rob me of
everything. I slowed down my pace ,snd when
those men were at a distance I said, “Friind I cannot
travel at night, let us leavo this way snd go to the
river bank where I must have some water” The man
insisted that I should go on. The more he urged me to
go on the more my suspicious grew. At lust we when
to the river which was a quarter of a mile distant. I
tried to sleep, but my agitated mind keyt me awake.

That evening I lheard firc works in the city and
w.s told by my companion it was the celebration of
the Diwali festival.

In the morning my companion left me and I walked
on for shout fifteen miles. Beyond that there was
no way for pedestrisns; I must tuke a hoat. Calling a
ferry man asids, I engaged Lis hoat for twenty rupees
and he promised he would t.ke no other passengers.
I told him I was going on some Government husiness,
and my boat must go alone. The man kept his word
and on the fourth day we 1 nded near a city.
Bhadrachal was only two days’ journey from there.
I walked all day and passed the night in s village.
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After the long days I'was able to get two miles
lowves for ten annas and was thankful’to Providence
for it. Near Bhadrachal there is a village named
"Nainpur and a few Sikhs of the Deccan reside thers
I went to the house of Baghel Singh. He was all
hospitality, After ages I atea full meal that night.
When it was sbout 4 a. m. Baghel Singh s id to me.
“You might st1y lere at my house. I have a cart-
load of salt to convey to Mangapet® T told him that
T could not stay without him, and that it was letter
for me to accompnny him. After six day's joirney we
reach-d Mangapet. The way was not long, but a cow
ind a mare were yoked to B ghel Singh's ¢xrt and it
went ve'y slowly and at seversl places I had to get,
down and push from behind.

On the way we met Baghel Singl’s maternal
vnele Hari Singh, who was also his father-in law
(such marringe are permitied there by custom). I
tho..ght him a man of some experience, and related my
whole story to him. He consoled me, and offered me
lis own house as refuge s1ying that he would. ba back
ina foitnight and if sanybody should question him
regarding myself he would say that I was a Sodhi
from Hszur Sahib.

On reaching Mangapet, I was very warmly
received and was quits comfortable. I would daily
b-the at the Godavari whicha nule off, and t.hanked
‘Wahiguru for the respite.

The Jagirdar of Mangapet was & minor, and ‘his
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guprdiso Was a learned plesdor. When he ocame” to
Mangapet from” Hyderabad, he was received with
great’ pomp and eclat a public jalsa was held in his
hénoar.- In this meeting I read from a Marhati Unda
pper, ‘that Gurdit Singh ‘was still st laige
innplte of the efforts of the police guards” patrolling
every place hetween Waltair and Bajwara. I now
thoaght—*Nobody has asked my identify so far. Hari
fingh has not yet rctarned. In the house there are
b’ﬁ]’y the women and the children. If the police were
to snspect and enquire’ about me who would say "I
‘am 8 guest. To avoid the risk, it is better I should
depsrt”. I preparcd depart early in ‘the morning
and waa-on the point of starting when T heard Hari
Singl's sister weeping. Poor thing, she was a widdtv
of 35 and had no children. When asked for- the
reason, Hard Singlfs wife told me the ‘widdw had Hopeil
to marry me wWhen her brother retarmed Thi§* wis
‘also the intentionh of Hari Singh’s wife. ‘Bat 1 w:fs
leaving them' only after ten days, wnd this h d aet
tha widow weeping. Fo h wortien tried their ntmdﬁu
‘{0 persu: de me to stayy but what conld the pmi‘” sonls
know of the d-ngors andt nuhleq thm 1igh which T was
passmg ' _ ) e

W pauﬁt‘d them as, hest I umld and lel' b tha house
. Feeling -grieved at their sorrow 1 had ]m.rdly proeer‘ded
~half a mile; whon 1 heard voices shouting. afier "me.

She had come to ask me for my word, that I ~would
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return some dsy. I told hor it waa fohlis to fall in
love with strangers, thit I was not sure of my own
safc’'y snd my coming and going was not in my han-ls.
I hed caten their bread, I was lesving a8 ordered by
fate. I was wiotched, and she morc wretched that I.
As Guru Nansk say-:—*The whole world is in trouble,
only those arc happy whe make him their support.” I
could not make a false promise. Having said all this,
I went on my way and the poor women returned homo.
_8he had misunderstood wy intention from the very
beginning. When I first came to their honse and
they asked me if I was goingto stvy on, I had
replied in the aflirmative purcly from molives of
personal safety, but these females had taken ib in
another light, thus, although I meant no deception,
they had been  deceived, and when they saw me
departing thoy were Dbroken-he rted.  Although the
mistake was not intentional, I fecl I was respon-ible
for their misery and ever pray to Akalpurukh to
forgive me. I took a path in a thick forest on both
sides there were stately frees of different varicties,
the mighty hanyan and teak t-ees we.e there in
plenty, I sighed, and said to myself ®Such is the
fate of ws Indians, fiom these teak woods - ships
worth millions ¢an be made; hut we have given
everything to the strangers, and we are content to
‘be coolics, Will ever the time come for ua to wake up
abd to use the wood for our fleets and to be maste's in
“our own house”.
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This forest belonged to the Nizam of Hyderabad,
With the name of Nizam, another eurrent of thought
was started. Bettor if there liad been no Nizam. India
could have been no loser. The state of the brave
Maharani of Jhansi would not have been destroyed;
snd the brave Rani, the embodiment of virtue,
high-minded bravery and pure patriotism, would not
have ecommitted suicide by burning herself alive on
a heap of dry hay. 1 remembered another event. The
Nizam had offered his state army and 70 Lakhs of
rupees for the great war of 1914.18. This was
helping non-Muslims against the Turkish Caliph in
contravention of the olear orders of the Koran. I
am sorry for these harsh remarks, but there is a
Punjabi saying *Truth is bitter, falsehood. is sweet;
Mogey is the Pir, woman is the Guru, These mislead
tho world”. Truth is bitter, but its fruit is sweeb.
I don’t hlame the Nizam alone. Most Indian princes
are like bim,and knowing the truth they. do nat
utter it and are content to be led astray. My
‘'musings of that hour proved true. The people
and the princes of our country helped in changing
the map of Europe, msking Turkey a sceme of
disintegration for the time being. The .war won,
the loyal services and sacrifices of the country
were forgotten. And the heart-rending tragedy of
Jallianwala Bagh _followed to point the moral and
adorn the tale of Western diplomacy. If yeb
we don’t understand the Wesb, India’s case appears

12
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to -be hopeless. . *Look before you leap® is an - English -
proverb, - When our help was sorely meeded, all
sorts of promises were made but when the hour
was-up, the- friond in nced was rewarded with the
Rowlatt Aet  and other repressive measures. These
tended to destroy even the last vestige of nationsl
honour -that was lefb us, It would have been betior
if- the Indian princes and people had settled before
hand everything ahout their rights before joining
the - Great War and afterwards only scen to the ful-
filment of the conditions made. Let by-gones, be
by-gones. Let usbe well awake. in tho future. Let
the rulers and the ruled mind their respective duties.

But to come back to my story. I passed tho night
ab a village in tho forest where I had somo wilk.
Farly next morning I started again. The way was
through a thick forest and dangerows for anyholy
‘excopb in company of ten or twenty. The carts also
passed in groups of ten or twelve. For obvious reasons
I was in no mood to have a companion. ~ As I
wenb on I saw a big tiger emerging from the forest,
towards my right. I ab onceclimbed atree but the
tiger did nob noticc me and went ahead of me, I
‘thought it had gone to drink water somewhere and
I'walked slowly on in the same direction as my way
‘too" lay and thitherward, The tiger was soon out of
sight but I could see its footprints for four miles up to
a stream beyond which J lost its trace. I had walked
about forty miles that day. My feeb were sove, and
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[ came bo a village byond tho forest.” Hore I stayed
'or the night. The next ‘day I came aoress ‘o
police post, occupied by three S8ikh policemen of the
Deccan. I went to these Decean ‘Sikhs, One of
themn had Nihal Singh, for his name, the second was &
low-caste man and there was also a Brabmin, mamed
Mangal Das. Oub of my love for my Sikh brethren
[ offered them some money for good food and wa

polite to them to suit my ends. They also soﬂ;e’ﬁgj
hy my pecuniary help and good behaviour and I told
lhem my truc story. I asked their help to have
my story sent to the Punjab through them, On
inquiry, 'they told me that none of them had been to
Amritsar or’scen the Golden Temple. I gave £ 4 to
Nihal Smgh and sent him to Amritsar to bathe in the
boly tnk and deliver my lettors to the :Sikh papers,
c.g. tho “Khalsa Samachar” the “Khalsa Sewak”
cte, I told him also tobrmg me thc bagk’ numbers
of these' papers for akout 2or3 months. T wn:ftud to
sev at what conclusions tlu, PunJaI) leaders had arrwocl
aboub mystlf

" Nihal* Smuh returned in a fortnight, and told ‘ing
that my son ‘Balwant Smgh had no¥ yet muhed
home and perbaps he ‘was in jail. ' My propéity
had been confiscated by Goverament. - My dged
father of 90 was living with my sister at Odiara
in Lahore district. Rs. 2,000 had been offered by
Governmént 8s a reward for my arrest, and: a pro-
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clamation had been issued to that effect. From the
Gurmukhi papers which he had brought I learns
thet our leaders were spoiling the whole thing and
dubbing us Non-Sikhs to please the Government,
These leaders were killing their conscience and calling
us traitors to the country.

What pained me most was the fact that my
father who would not even drink water from my
sister’s village was now obliged by misfortune to go
and live there.. I was fold by Nihal Singh that my
father was still holding to his vowand getting water
from a neighbouring village and that he had taken
some provisions with him from our own village, I
thought this could not last long. This was tho time
for mo to serve my aged father but he had to
live with my sister, perhaps becauso of my sins of the
past, 1 was nob very anxious about my son Balwant
Singh, aged seven, because my 376 other brethren
had all been in frouble and several of them had
been actually killed. How could I grievo for -indivi,
duala? I had to submib, to the inevitable. Even:
death would not come to my relief. Otherwise, how
could I have escaped wild beasts and successfully
evaded the ubiquitous police. Perhaps death would
have come, but I was determined to live so that
I might lay before the country the true facts about
what happened-to us,

I now gave another sum of Rs. 80 to Nihal
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Singh and assared him of a furthor help of money.
For the present I could pay him Rs. 25/- per mensem
to keep me company. To this he agreed. His
companion and his companion’s brother who was
living at Aurangal, had as was apparent later resolved
to make the best of my money and to betray me
afterwards. I did not, however belicve that they
would be mean enough to turn traitor and be willing
to hand me over to certain death. I accompanied
Nihal Singh to Aurangal, and theoce to Karimnagar,
where there were plenty of Sikhs. They grew
friendly with me, and I spent a lot fo make them
pucca Bikhs. ¥ sent for a copy of Sbri Gurw Granth
Sahib from Amritsar and also somo ncewspapers.
From these we could get some Punjab news. I
atayed there for two months. Ii;was here that I
read Sardsr now Sir Sunder Singh Majithis’s exhor-
tation to the Sikhs, that because they constituted a
small community in comparison with others the Sikhs
should not take part in any political or anti-Govern-
ment activity., To this I wrote a suitable reply and
sent of to the Khalsa Samachar. No doubt the
Sikhs were few and to create a commotion was
undesirable but what was Sanlar Sunder Singh doing
to geb the proper reward for those Sikhs who were
offered as a cheap sacrifice during the war and for
enlisting whow he had been rewarded by the Govern-
ment. Those very Sikhs had been instrumental in
casting many a nation ita valued asset of freedom.
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My letter was never published in the Bamachar
hecause of the paper’s connection with Sardar Sunder
8ingh,

I wrote the bistory of my woes at Karimnagar
during thesse two months. 1t was about 80 pages
of manuscript. It was translated into Urdu by Nihal
Singh. With these two manuscripts we reached a
Railway Station in 4 or 5 days.. I had brought
Nihal Singh from Karimnagar with the fempting
promise of liberally paying him on our arrival in
the Punjab, but the unscrupulous Nihal Singh was
slways thinking of earning Ra. 2,000 by getting me
arrested. . There is a secret communication between
mindsy and I had misgiviogs that Nihal Singh was
not upright and it was not proper to send him to
the Punjab. I, therefore, put him off by asking
bim to go to Hazur 8ahib and bring me Chbarandhur,
one ' bottle of sacred water from the Baoli Sahib and
some other things, I gave him a sovereign aud a few
rupees for his expeoses.

Nibal 8ingh frowned and asked where he was to
find me on his return. 1 aaid “The road along, which
wo are going divides and one branch leads to Nirmal
Talaka; while the other passing through the Railway.
Station comes back to the Nirmsl Talaka Rosd,
You will ind me at the junction of the two. You
must hurry off and meet me there.. -
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PLAN OF NIHAL SINGH'S TREACHERY.

A road passing through 1 & 2 leads to the
Railway Station.

. No. 1 is the road along which we were going. -
From No, 2 a branch leads to Nirmal City.

No, 3 is the place where I was to meet with Nihal
Singh.

At No. 4 arond from the Railway Station joins
the main road. At No, 5 I sat to test Nihal Singh’s
uprightness. No, 6 is the water pond.

No. 7 is the Railway Station.

- From No. 8 a road comes to the Railway Station,

. The reason why I took up the position at mark
(") in the plan instead of mark 3 as previously
agreed was that the spot marked 3 was open and
froe .from bushes, while mark 3 was lower and full
of bushes; there was also water near hy, and one
could see Nihal Singh on his leaving the Railway
Station.

Two days had elapsed after Nihal Singh's depar-
ture. That day he was expected hack, but he did
not turn up. It was 8. or 9 in the morning of-the
third day, when I saw Nihal Singh coming from the
Railway Station. He was wearing the coat which
oncé helonged to me and which had been given to
him by my nephew to save him from the aeverity
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of cold in the Panjab. I recognised the coat from
a distance and intently watched Nihal Singh with
the hope that I would be blessed with some article
from the holy shrine of Hazoor SBahib. Nihal Singh
was walking with a light foot, and had nothing with
him. He came a8 he had gone with his both hands
ompty. T was wondering what could be the cause
of ib, when I saw Nihal Singh going down the
bridge on which the road crossed to take some
water. His three companions stood beside him, one
of them takiog up a position, which would only have
been taken up by o maon who had to prevent
Nihal Singh’s escape. My suspicions were therefore
strengthened that these men were Policemen who
had been led to that place by the treacherous
Nihal 8ingh. I concluded that instead of going to
Hazoor Sahib hé had gone to Nizamabad, hia birth
place where he had served in Police department,
and bad brought with him a police escort for my
arrest for the sake of securing the reward. The
party had proceeded to the spot marked 3.

They were, however, utterly disappointed at
not finding me there and returned to the
Railway Station. After this I had to serap all my
older scheme and chalk out a new path., I gave
up the idea of going to the town of Nirmal and
made up my mind to proceed to Hazoor Sahib, for
1 waa sure that Nihal Singh had believed me when
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1 told him that I could not goto Hazoor Sahib
afely and that he should bring the sacred dust
(dbur) for me. I pondered over the matter
carefully and concluded that he must have
disclosed every thing to the officers, and they would
search for me everywhere except at Hazoor 8ahib
where thay would least expecb me. My anger was
considerable at the insincere and deceitful conduct
of Nihal SBingh. I had baen kind and generous to
him, but he tried to betray me. It gave me much
pain {o think that a human being in the garb of
a 8ikh was guilty of the most heinous sin of betraying
a friend, I kncw he would suffer its consequences.
I was however, recminded of the adage °If the
Almighty happens to be unfavourable, every bedy
turns unkiod, an enemy”, and decided not to take
revenge. As I had much to do, I thought it wiser
to cope with the present danger instead of embarking
on new risks. Hence, 1 remained where I was
the whole night. Asthe place was the habits of
wild animals, I had moved towards the Railway
Station. Shortly before 4 in the morning I heard
Nihal Singh and his police friends talk as they were
driving to the town of Nirmal in a ballock cart
hired for the purposo, The cart wont on its way
to the fown of Nirmal, I too, started wastward,
whea it was still dark., Hazoor S8ahib was 83 miles
distant by rail, bat I was proceeding through villages,
concealing myself in the jungle inspite of the obvious
13
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danger from wild animals. I need not describe tk
hardships that I had to encounter on the way for
want of food. In five or six days I reached Shikarghat
which is situated on the hank of the Godavari abogt
six or seven miles east of Hazoor S8shib. Tlhe
. Gurdwara is ahove the hill, but I put up with the
Sikhs who lived in the village below. Bhai Ram
Bingh was very hospitable. 1 stayed with him for
a day to shake off my fatiguo. The next day I mede
up my mind to get up. I enquired of him whether
there were any Punjabis on a visit to the Gurdwara.
My purpose was to escape the C, 1. D. people. They
are up to any wickedness if thers is money and pros-
peet in it, They would not vealise that I had no
personal gain in view and my privations had no
selfish object. What was there that I could do but
did not do for the sake of freeing these very hounds
from their much-relished bondage. Not only did I
sacrifice all my worldly possessions as well as health
and comfort but also neglected the imperative duty
of serving my father in his old age and of providing
for the proper bringing up and education of my only’
son of about seven years of age. I am prepared to
undergo all those hardships once again il need le
for the freedom of Indis so long as there is life in me.
I would prefer Swaraj for Indis to getting the
throne of Indar or the wealth of Kuber (God of
Woealth) for my own self,

I had (darshan) of Gurdwara Shekarghat for three
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days as my consolution. Ialso paid my homage to
the Gurdwara of Mata Sahib Dewan situated a littlo
away from Hira Ghat. Thore I met two Nihang
Sikls, Bahadur Singh and Hari 8ingh by name, and
stayed for two or three days with them. The festival
Hola Mohalla drew near, and I left for Nagina Gt
where I put up with Nihang Naging Singh whom I
told that I wanted to pass my days in secret. I
would get up early in the morning at one or iwo
O’ clock, would +isit the Gurdwara before three an-d
after tusting the Nectar of Bawali Sahib I would
sit in & corner enjoying meditation. I would go to
the Khalsa library in the garden at about five when it
would be time for every hody to visit the Guidwara.
Bofore it was light I would go back to the Nilang’s
house; and alter rofveshing mysell with toa T would
o0 to Nagina Gliat and thence lo Banda Glat towards
the jungle refurning in the evening to take my food
and retire for sleep. What little I could afford, I
offercd for the Gurdwara through other people.

The Hola Mohalla festival was over. Sikhs of my
age and even older than myself from the Punjab
had gathered there. They had to return after another
two -days. That was my opportunity if 1 desired
to rétarn to the Punjab ond I decided to travel
in; their company. At Randu Policemen always are
on guard to make enquiries about the passengers
leaving the station. I therefore, moved on to Moghal,
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vight miles cast of Randu, snd ontrained there
taking a ticket for Jhonsi. Hari Singh was with
me. When the train reached Randu about sixty or
soventy Punjabis got in. Now I lost all fear of the
Police. We had got in at half past six, at quartcer
past seven we alighted at Manwar, went to the Nadi,
and cooked our food, and ate it. Balak Singh was
accompanying me. From Manwar I sent two copies
of my statement; one in Gurmukhi and the other in
Urduw, in the form of book parcels to Lalore and
Lyallpur, (Urdu copy was made by Nihdi Singh).

Again we got into the frain and reached Khandwa.
There we saw a Police guard of about ten or twelve
Sikhs. They examined our compartment which was
full of Sikhs. But the was of God are inscrutable
and though 1 was in fully view of the policemen
they could not rccognise me. What astonished me
even miore was that tho guanl contained fwo pss
‘sengers of the Komagatamaru, aged 22 and 27, I
asked Balak Singh to cngage them in conversation.

Tho train started, and after a short time we reached ]
Bina. Hari Singk and Balak Siogh and myself
with some of their acquintances, got down there. We
left the Railway Station and had a bath and then
got our food cooked.and took it. We stayed there
for the night. Next morning a policeman came to
tell us-that we eould not stay there longer than
twenty four hours, and that we should depart. Hence
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the others went back to Jhansi, while Ilari Singh
and I got into the train for Gunowali. On our way
wo learnt that some residents of Amritsar district
bad got leascs of land in four or five villages in
the Gwalior State. We got down ut Tukrani and
saw the servant of the Sardar. Woe stayed thore for
some timo and then decided to do some work. I sent
my companion Hari Singh to the Punjab, mysolf
staying behind, After ton or fiftcen days the Sardar’s
younger brother turned up, and his depravity of
character roused pity in me. Ile was devoid of
intollect and rude in conversation. It was his habit
to use abusive language. For thesc reasons, I decided
to leave the place which somewhat annoyed him.
I went tolive witlh Mangal Singh of Pandori. Thero
I Dought a mare which I used for visiting Punjabis
living in the neighbourhood. I used to see one llari
Singh, who lad been once to America. Tho village
of Bachan Singh Subedar of Durgupur was also near
by; but I never disclosed to apyone who I was, In
one village there lived onc Ganga Singh of Amritsar
district, I asked him whether he knew ahything
about Gurdit Singh of his distriet who had chartered
a ship to Canada. He replied that Gurdit Singh.
was roaming in the Punjab living as a refugee and
evading the police, that his property had been for.
feited and that Government Lad offered a considerable
reward for his arrest,

I laughed ot how the people bhad heen befooled.
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I had never visited the Punjab sinco the tragedy
st Budge-Budge but they were attributing to me
orimes which were farthest from my mind. It docs
nob become an upright man to loot his brothren.
Morcover I was hoping to gob justice dons by law
courts and was careful to remain on the rizht side of
the law. I was suffering so much when I was
strictly suhservient to legal limitations. Had I trans-
gressed them T do not know what would have hap-
pencd to me and my people.

I'lived there for two months moving from one
place to another. I subscribed some newspapers as
well, Then T passed Shandauri and reached Sipri,
where there lived one Ram Singh Jat ot Sialkot
district. 1le was living alone, I stayed wi-h him,
and soon after he left the place for the Punjub.

I had, howover, madc some acquintances there,
and Pandit Murlidhar, Overscer, gave i a contract
for somc¢ work on a fank and a canal. I started the
work but my funds ran short. I could do nothing
without moncy. I wrole a lctter to a well-wisher and
a Iriend of minc who came to me personally and
gavo me about fwo hundred rupees. The work went
on well, and I got introduced to some person ab Bipri.
I received newspapers in my aesamed name, snd thus
I remained io touch with affairs in the Punjab. Pay-
ment was made to me in two or three bills, and ‘with
that moncy I bought some cloth which I sold at
profit, , _
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T bought land for a fank, and hiad a mind to
buy one chak of about iwenty five hundred acrez in
area. I had every hopoe of gotting i, when all my
pluns wore upset. My marc had white marks, and
people of that district told mo that it was ominous
and would bring some calamity on me, But I paid
no heed to thoso remarks. A few deys afterwards
the mare was atolen, and I lodged information at the
Thena. I was going in scarch of my maro, when I
learnt that the Punjab Policc had come to know of
my stay at S8ipri. My informant advised me to quit
the place instantancously for good. This was another
migfortune for mo. I had invested all that I had.
With what I earned in tho eontraet work as well as
in the sale of cloth, I had bought a bullock cart and a
fow other nocessary articles. At that time I was
almost penniless, and did not koow what to do. I
went to Sipri, and saw a sikh of about 30 ycars of
age gotting down from the train. He had a loose
beard. He did nof see me and I did not attract his
attention. There was a DBrahman, with whom I
used to put up when I had occasion to go to 8ipri, I
could not find him at his house, but from tho talk
that I had with his son-in-law I guessed that there
was some thing wrong, How could I trust this
Brahman, whose daughter lived as wife with FPrem
Singh, This man ftried to betray me for the sake
of reward even when I bad been of so much use
o bim, I, therefore, put up at another place for ’
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the night. Rising early T visited the temple of Bala
Jee, While there I had vieited a hermit who sat before
the sacred fire. Whenever I went thers, I made my
obeisance {0 him. I was rewarded for my humility
this last day of my visit. Asgoon as I approached
the S8adhu, he told me that Prem Singh and a Punjabi,
apparently & Government servant, had enquired of
him whether Hari Singh (my assumed name) had
been to that place. The sadhu having replied in the
negative, they had begun an anxious search for me.
e did nob know my secrets, but thought it advisable
to warn me of what was happening. I moved on to
old Sipri, where I could get gun-powder whichI had
boaght on previoas oceasions as well, for I had to
protest myself from the attacks of wild beasts in the
jungle. Now all hopos of my getting justico wero
blasted. I thonght that it was for the police to
chalk out the way in which I would dis, Nobody
would try tosift the trath. The Government wouald
only helisvo what the Police reports said. If I had
to be prosecuted openely like Bhai Matti Das, who
was sawad into pieces, I wo1ld have been willing
to sarrender myaelf to the Police; but I knew that
the Police woald shift the guilt off their shoulders
aftor they had parpetrated acts of open oppression.
For these rcasons, I could not reconcile mysclf to
the idea of leing arrostad by the Police. I decided to
spread gun powder in the room and to keap it concealed
under straw and then to set fire to it when the police
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approached, which would blow up the house along with
myself and the policemen. | thought, | would, in this
way, accompany the souls of the policemen to the
Court of DHARMARA]J. where | would enquire of them
what offence | had committed. [ would ask them in
that sublime court to tell me what offence [ had com
mitted that they were so untiring in their efforts’to per-
secute me, 1 arranged everything, and waited for
their advent; bul nobody turned up. When it was
about 3o O'clock, I went to sleep fastening the door
from inside. I looked at my cot and other furniture of
the house, and thought that 1 was there for that
night only.

At about 2 v the moinping | dreamt that [ was in
the presence of a majestic personality clothed in a
white robe, | wondered whether I was in the presence
of.the Kalgidhar Guru Gobind Singh. Tooking more
clesely I thought it was Baba Ram Singh, Saint of
Sarhali, who patted me on the back and advised me
not to lose heart. He asked me to muster up courage,
as [ had to do much work. After this my eyes opened
and I had nothing but the recollection of the dream to
cheer meé up in my peril. [ considered myself very
fortunate that I had been blessed with the presence of
such a saintly man. | made up my mind to put my
nerves togdher, for now there shone a ray of hope that
the Almighty might so arrange things that I would get
a redress of my grievances. [ swept the gun powder
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away to one corner. 1 got ready with some articles
and left the house between 3 and 4 in the morning. |
handed over the key to my neighbour, the Brahman,
telling him that I was leaving on some business,

Leaving the house T made for Sipr. On the way
Fhired a bullock cart for the journey. My destination
was 11 miles from Sipri, and the road was a metalled
one. When I had gone only about 3 miles, T saw the
Brahman who was {ather-indaw to Prem Singh, 1 gues-
sed that he was going to my house to ind vat if 1 was
there, and then to inform the police,  When f had gonc
a distance of 5 miles from my heuse, 1saw a cart
driven by horses wherean sat a handsome Sikh youth of
about 25 or 26 years of age.  His teeth were set with
gold nails, 1 was well concealed and  Taughed at the
idea that they had boen owtwitted and weuld search
vain tor me at my house. A Sccond conveyance was
following the first at a distance of about a mile and |
saw in it four or five Muhanunadan policemen froin the
Punjab.  One of them obviously had some suspicions
and was pointing to me : tut meanwhile the cart
increased the distance between us. On my past | feared
that others might be following these men on the same
road. 1had agrecd 1o pay hire to the cartman up to
Sipri; but I paid him the full amount at once and
proceeded southwards in the jungle.

I; need not relate here the hardships that [ experien-.
ged on,the way. The jungle between Sipri. and Bundi,
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Quetta abounded with wild beasts, specially tigers, bears
and leopards ; and 1 had to traversce it mostly at night.
DOne day about sixty miles from Sipir, while 1 was sitting
at a tank [ saw the sani¢ nfaithful Prem Singh walking
hurriedly on the road at noon time. 1 concluded that
he had been receiving information of my coming up
to that point; and was upon my heels. Fortunately,
however; he had not espied e and went on past me.
1, accordingly, dircéted my foolsteps towards the west
instead of continuing southwvards. On my way, [ chan:
ced to meet two prrsons, a nizh and a woman of Karia.
They were frightencd by seeing. me; and tried to run
away:. [ shotited to them tiot to apprehend any danger:
! told theim | was there:  at the tanle=and they could
bring to me their cmployers who had scit them for my
search. They went away ashamed. [ drabk some
water there, and exerted myself to walk some eight
more wmiles in jungle. [ found a Bhil's cottage ivhere [
stayed for the might.

Rising early Lleft for Rajgarh.  On account of the
previous year's draught there was scarcity of water and
the people had to bring 1t on carts from a distance of
five or sik miless A traveller bad to beg for water at
each door, for he could not get suffictent quantlty  frorh
one house. Ome day I went begging for watet in a
village, and 1 saw three or four men of the C. 1 D
Police disguised as pilgrims.  Before they could =ee e,
I leit the village and wemt back to the jungle.  Excepts
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in the village, there was no water to be had in an_ area
of about 12 miles of the jungle. At noon, my thirst be-
came unbearable ; and death for want of water was
imminent. Bur God is merciful. | saw a horseman with
two others walking by his side, coming in my direction
in that desolate district.  They were Mohammadans. |
told them I was dying of thirat. They carried a bucket
of water, and were kind enough to give me some water.
I felt it soothing and invigorating : it was nectar for
me, and saved me from certain death.

Every day I would walk on, taking rest at ntervals

in the fields. 1 bathed in a stream alout four or five
~ miles from Ramgarh. I also washed my clothes and
cocked my food there.  Then [lay down under a tree
thinking to move on after sun-set, fer | had to pass
through a village. Suddenly | saw two men turn to-
wards me.  Secing that [ had a sword, they kept at a
distance, and tatked to each other. One of then sat
dowa, while the other went back to the place he had
come from. [ suspected that police was en the look
out for me at the pext village and that was why I was
waiting for myghtfull te proceed further. When one of
the men nad gone some distancey, ! started on my
journey. ‘T'he second man enquired of me where I was
going ; but | persisted in my course, telling him | could
go where [ liked. He inlended to delay me, and asked
me my name, Replying that | was only a traveller, |
went on, He dared not obstruct my passage, for he saw
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I had a sword nd could use it.  After walking some
distance T concealed myself in a hollow of the stream.
I sat there, and thought over the question whether it
was proper for ine 10 keep the sword and the chakkar

They were deadly weapons, and [ might use them
against an mnocent person, who might try to stop me
suspecting that I was a murderer or a dacoit. [ fear-
ed such improper use of the weapons, and burtied both
under ground.  Soon after I heared the voice of abeut
thirty or forty persons who were sugpesiing to each
other 10 search this way and that way ; but I took
advantage of the darkness and walked on for about
threeamles down the stream. The stream wirned west-
ward but | went on straight about cight or ten Koy
guided by the moon. [ found a village hefore e, and
went to sleep near a well half a mile away from
human habitaton. This place was, however, much
[requented, and it was not safe to remamn there. One
man came up to me to buy some medicines taking me
to be a physician. 1 put before him the little stock
that 1 had. While we were talking, another came up
and said he suspected there was semcithing wrong and
I was no seller of medicines. 1 thought it wike to leave
the place. Reaching the next village, [ took shelter
under a tree. At about 2 m the afternoon, | saw two
persons coming towards me inspite of the severe heat
of the sun. One was dressed as a merchant or pilgrim
with a pyjama and a turban on and a small bundle
hangng down from the shoulders, The second locked
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like a Gurkha and spoke a tongde 1 could rot undep-
stand. They had with them a boy of twelve or thirteen
from the village Karai in the district of Sipri. The
first one passed on, while the other two came to me.
The boy saw me, and laughed with the remark that 1
was the same person. But his companion feprimanded
the boy, and asked him to keep silent.  The rest |
could not understand. They were also followed by a
third man, who was a Sikh and walked passed me.
The boy had obviously been brought to Indentify e,
As for the Sikh § thought him to be etther Mangal
Singh or the brother of Prem Singh. for Fhad enly seen
his back amd could wnot indentify hime.  When they
went to the village, [ got up and retracted my steps
hurried back in to the jumgle. 1 still feared that the
police could surround me with the help of the vlllagers.
1 had some books I had taker much pain to write, and
some Japanese curtency. [lit up a fire v the hollew
place, and burned these valuables Jest they might fall
in to the hands of the police Mecanwhile; I met a man’
whom 1 asked for some water. The suy had set and he
took me to a ficld, where he gave mme water.  He and
his cempanion advised me to make good my eseape
withowt further oss of time as they were making pre-
paratrons to arrest me. F accompanted them in their cart
op to Lhe village P had gone to in the mornirg.  After
that, I proceeded towards the south. I is difficult to
deseribe the hardships that { had to encounter during
that night ; and omly those whe have experienced suchr
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misfartunes in their lives can realise my condition. From
Kotah I had gone towards the Mutira Railway line,
a distance of about fiftcen miles. It was there that
the above mentioned incident took place. Guided by
star i the night { resumed my journcy and turned back
trom the pluce crossed the Ruilway Line between
Kotah and Bina where I lay down for sleep near
a well outside the village. I passed the night as well in
the jungle, for | had had to walk a distance of about
forty miles during the previous niyzht and day. There
[ entered a village and bought o few necessaries. |
changed my clathes’by buying new ones. [ expected that
I would be watched in a village and bought these things
in & market whichis held weekly and where thousands
of people gather. During the day, 1 remained away
from the village. During the night | came and took
vest by a well. Tnere Theard that a man was proclaiming
by beat of drum in the village that any body, feeding
or harbouring a Panjabi of about 50 years of age would
be punished, that the Panjabi was gulty of a horrible
offence and the Government was much displeased
as the people did not help in his capture. After a short
rest, started onwards in the dark at abowt midnight.
I was following a foat path when I heard the sound of
footsteps advancing towards me. §left that path. My
pursuers atso chamged their courie and ceatinued to
follow me. I again resumed the old path, and in the
mext twelve hours | moved on a distance of
about 40 miles. Here | was about to fall into the hands
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of the police, but fortunately 1 noticed an emply diteh
- through which 1 continued my walk into the jungle,
There, I found that certain cartsmen had come to a
halt for the night; 1 also stayed there for the night§
" The police were going ahead of me by the same road,
n the morning those cartsmen went their way, and |
rase to proceed towards Bhanisa Garh. After [ had
gone a couple of mdles, a small footputh led down a
descent where there was a police station. | took an-
other path and reached a barren place. In front there
flowed a brook, but it was hard to go down as the siope
was rapid. 1 also feared lest some bear should attack
me. [ had a rope of cotton yarn. 1 do.ubled the rope
put the loop end round a bush and began to descend
with its help. 1 would stop at the end of the rope, and
draw the rope back by taking hold of one end and
letting off the other, repeating the process. i reached
the stream of water below. There  tnok mv  bath, and
proceeded onwards.

At about 4 o’ clock I reached a small village, but |
could not procure rations from there. Further in near
Bhainsagarh, { saw a field of bwinjals by a weil, where
outside a hut there was a woman busy cooking oa‘
leaves, 1 asked her to give me one loal for love or money.
[ offered up to annas eight, but in vain. She was not
prepared to part with a single loaf, evenif 1 offered her
a sum of Rs, 10-, Disappointed, | resumed my journey.
My path lay through Bhainsagarh village. [ decied to wait *
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lor darkness, and for this purposc sat concealed by a de-
solate place near a well. Soon after | heard voices calling
out for the man who wanted bread. [ thought there must
he some thing wrong there.  Now they were anxious to
provide ma with food while they had refused to barter a
loaf even for a rupee. I decided to keep quiet and wait.
| could see three or four men going by the same road
and talking to cach other. 1 suspected them to be hunt-
ing for me. [ did not go througn the wvillage aud went
over a hillock on the north side. 01 caming down, 1 took
a road leading westward. [ htd hardly goae two miles
when [ heard somnz voices. 1 concenled myself on one
side and could hear a little of the conversation. One
of the men adiressed thz other as Ketha Jee and said
that their officer was angry that day and intended to
return only when he had captured the mardecer,  The
second said that it was casicr to cately him if somebody
harboured first and then betrayed him to the polica. A

_third man express2d his opinton that ona could deceive

the outlaw by pretending to give shelter and afterwards
handing him over to thz polica.  S:ill another said it
was foolish nat to give the criminal credit for his sharp
utelligence, for otherwise he could not reach up to
Bhainsagarh. Oue of them enquired how they would be
able to identify him. Another answered that he was 5o
years of age with white beard, a clever looking Panjabi,
and had a turban on his head. I could not hear more,
for they had moved away. However, they were followed
by another bateh of twenty five or thirty people, among
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whow there were a few horsemen.  One of them struck

a match to light his pipe and [ could sec

that he wore a hat.  From what [ had seen and

heard I concluded that the police received correct in-

formation of the route 1 had goliowed : and it was also

clear that the police had by wire received reinforcement

from the neighbouring village of Sadar and the Euco-

pean officer was himself leading th: party. [ acco--

dingly changed my route and proceeded to the direction

whence the party had come. Guided by stars, | thought

I was going westwards. | came to a place between a

tank on one¢ side and a hillock. on the other. Wich

great dillicalty 1 gol throagh, and began to walk

theouzh fields. At 3 iy the morning, [ fell utterly ex-

hausted. [saw a low stream before me and thought

of sleeping oa the stones by its side in a secluded place.

Suddenty [ heard a splash in the water and by the smell

I presumed that there was a tiger coming to drink water.

Near by, I'saw a few logs of hewn wood. T at once made

up a big fire with the idea that a tiger would: not come’
ncarit. This[ didin a hollow, for I fcared iny detection
from a distance. i felt acute pangs of hunger, but had
nothing but tea with me. [, tharefore, boiled some tea
in my garet bowel and drank it.  [felt a little refre-
shed, and slept for about an hour and a half. [ then
proceeded westward through the jungle, but hunger
increased every moment. O climbing a tree, Lsaw a
village at some distance. I proceeded towards the
vlllage and while [ was strolling on 1 met a man who
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secemed to be exhausted and blistered by prickly thorns

I enquired who he was to which he replied *Kala”
meaning thiel. “Wha are you” he asked me.“l am also a
Kala. Any luck last night,” to which question, he ceplied
in the negative. Thinking me to be of the same profes-
sion, he was very courteous and invited me to go to his
village. [ politely refused.  Finally he asked me if he
could do anything for me. [ asked for the pretty looking
lathi if you like he was carrying. He gladly presented me
with this which came in handy-later on.  After leaving
this man I found a well where I rested. [ had an empty
stomach, and drank a large quantity of water which
gave me trouble. A man came up to me and seeing
me in pain asked what the matter was. 1 told that I
was suffering from hunger and after a Iittle talk 1 gave
him a rupee and askecd him to get me some wheat flour
and molasses. He went away, and returnedsafter about
a couple of hours with two other men accompanying
_him. Pointing towards me, he told them something which
. [ could not follow. The two new comers, thereupon,
went back without asking me anything, [ had my own
suspicions, [ feared lest they should go and
inform the police.  The articles that were brought
for me were not to my taste. The flour was of
maize, and the other things were also not good.
Nevertheless, 1 thanked God that I had got some-
thing. I did not think it proper to piepare my food
there, for 1 had some fears as regards those two men who

« had goneback. Twas preparing toleave the place, whea
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the man whbo brought the [ood for me insisted and begged
me to stay. That strengthened my suspicions. The more
he asked me tostay the more earnest I bzcame to leave
the place. When ultimately I left the spot, he made for
the village, I changed my direction towards the west,and
began to walk without following any direct path. After
witlking about four kos' [ came to a place where waler
was available. 1 sat down, and cooked my food and
ale it,  Lor the night 1 [ound shelter with the watels
man of a field of onions. The next day I came to a
Jagiedar's viltage.  Oa one side thare was a hill, and
I was trying to pass through it when [ came across two
persons following a well laden buffalo from Bhainsagarh,
One of them enquired who | was ; while the other said
why they should bother themselves, they had nothing to
do with me, and 1 might be the person whom feople
were searching in Bvunsagarch,

Further on, i was about to resume my old f;lllh
towards the west, when | saw before me a large tank
with a residential bungalow on the north side and
people shooting fowls from a boat. [ decided to wait
for darkness,” when it should be safer to walk or, 1 said
my evening prayers and meditated for some time on
the almighty God, and then resumed wmy journey.
It had grown dark and [ stumbled at every step. |
passed that open picce of land, and stayed ina field
near a well. There was a goatskin to draw water; in the
dark night there was none to waich me. Byt it so
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happened that [ approached the well from the side
where the earth was loose, and it gave way. 1 had a
narrow escape For the night { remained *here.  Early
in the morning [ resumed my jowacy through  the
jungle, without following any defiaite path. [ took great
care to keep away from habitations, and for that
purpose I had to walk longer distances.

At about 1oAAL that day in the jungle T cone
to a pretty village aiong one wide of which there was a
path coming from the village [ had left behind, and
leading onwards. [ saw there a horseman.  The horse
appeared to belong to an officer,while: the rider appeared
to be a shop keeper. llc was riding at an easy pace.
[ went to a goatherd to buy some milk ; but he refused
to accept Indian Government coin. He wanted the
current coin of their own Raj. [ resumed my journey,and
was passing between hills where there was a passage
enbugh for only one bullock cart, when 1 heard some
one calling me to halt. [ stopped, and sawa woman
of abeut forty years of age running after me. She said
she had come to know that I was fatigued and wanted
milk ia the last village and that she had taken pity on
me and wanted me to accompany her back where she
would hire me a ca-t which would carry me to some
neighbouring Railway Station, where [ could proceed
whichever way [ fiked. She talked to me in Marwari.

1 wondered how she could find out : first that 1 was
lired ; secondly, that I was in continyous trouble and
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thirdly, that [ would like to journey by rail. 1 had never
talked such things to any body. It must be the guesses
of the polic*, win were [ollowing me in ons village one
day and in the nex* village forty miles distant the next
morning. | suspected that she wanted to help the police
by ensnaring me. 1 sat down, and enquired of her
where she could get me a bullock ecart, She told me
that at a short distance there was a stone house.
She knew the inmates, who would oblige her by
getting a cart even by compulsion. [had seen that
fort, and had thought it deserted like many others in
Mewar. But the woman has supplied me with the infor-
mation needed that it was used as a Polica Station. Now
I guessed that the abive mentioned horseman's visit
was also connected with it. I thanked my stars that the
woman had proved more useful to me than to the Police.
Ilay down to rest and requested the woman to go and
get the cart ready through her men. [ told her I woukd
follow her soon after shaking off my fatigue. She desi-
red me to accompany her, but when she found me per-
sistent she went back with occasional glances behind
to see that [ was where 1lay. When the police station
was only a hundred paces from her, I concealed myself
from her view behind a tree and ran towards the moun-
tain on my right ; but she had seen me and cried out
to men to follow soon as I was flying. I reached the
top of the hill and fell senseless, I was lying by the
side of a dreary grove of trees. The water that I had in
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my garvy was almost all spilt, Only a few drops
were left. It was about noon and the sun was very hot.
I thought I would require all my nerve and presence
of mind, when shortly I would be followed by so many
_peoples.  God helps those who help themselves, That
was true, but how could I help myself was the problem.
I was tired out. I had a bit of opium, and swallowed it
with the help of the little water I still possessed. I then
again began to walk slowly. Behind me I could see

nobody.

Soon a fresh difficulty arose. I found that my path
downwards was guarded by forty or fifty men. I went
to the other side but that too was obstructéd. I began to
run over the mountains, 1 was greatly affected with
thirst for it was very hot. The opium had also increa-
sed my thirst, though it had relieved me of a little
fatigue. While vunning I had freely perspired and
that had also added to my desire for water. There
would have been no surprise, fiad I died there of thirst
but none can injurc a person, whom  the Almighty pro=
tects. It was a wonder how I got water in the deserted
place where stones were radiafing fire, where even the
birds dared not enter, where there was no trace of
human dwelling, where even my pursuers had not at.
tempted to follow me and had been content to obstruct
my descent. Owing to the draught of the previous
year, the trees had also withered and there was very
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scanty shade. The supply of water there at such an
hour I could attribute to ne agency but the Lord’s. To
my utter surprise I saw before me a young woman
about 25 years old of rather dark complexion. She
was carrying a deer skin full of water. For the moment
I forgot my nesd of water. I enquired who
she was and where she was bound to. She said she
was, 3 Bhilni, and was going to water the young ones
of goats.  On my further questioning where those
Young ones could be in such a place, she was rather
displeased and reminded me {o mind my own business.
I told her I was dying of thirst.  She offered water
and I drank as much as I could. I also got my garvi

bowl filled for future use.  She left the place, and I
weno my own way.

[ continued my jouracy over the hill. 1t mus: have
been about 5 0 clock by that time. I got my previous
siore of water exhausted. 1 was again feeling the pangs
of thirst. I turned castwards where [ saw a well and a
woman by its side. I reached up to that spot and had
some water. | made up my mind to go down, and lay
down behind a stone heap to await darkness. There I
saw  two constables coming towards me. They had taken
off their khaki coats and were carrying them over on
their arms. They saw me there and were talking
some thing, when suddenly 1 bent down ex-
te‘nding my arms on a stick as if it were
2 gun | was aiming at them. Thetrick had its
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effect. They disappeared at once. [ lost no time in
moving to the side whence [ wanted to descend. Still
1 was reconnoitring from a raised place, if their be an:
well visible. It was growing'dark. [ had made up my
mind to move downwards. While descending I began
to recite my evening Prayers.  On the Prayer coming
to a close I halted to say the “Ardas”.  While T was
almost through the “Ardas” I heard voices and at oneg :-
1 was on my guard. Had I not halted to say my’
“Ardas” [ would have certainly stepped into the arns.
of my persuers. Mysterious are the ways by which God
preserves lives of those witom He loves. - There were
about ten or twelve men suggesting the wisdom of
going away now, for they said, I would not attempt
the deseent in the dark nigat. Oae of them was of
opinionthat I had only a garvi bowl of water that
morning, and | must'go down or die of thirst. They
were quite ignerant of the angel who had helped me
with'water. They had also unwillingly rendered me
anothier service for their loud talk had revealed to me
their presence, for otherwise [ would have suddenly

fallen into their hands.

Then I heard an officer asking several persons
to guard different paths during the night. He thought,
I would have to go down for water. Thegre was not
much harm if they had no sleep fgr the night, he said;
they must be on the alert when I should try to move
further. They - were moving slowly and I was. fol_lQng
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at a distance. The most unhappy thing for me was
that they would be watching the wells, while I needed
-water all the more because I had taken my usual dose
of opium. '

[ walked down the side of the hill sometimes
stumbling, but with a heart heavy with the fear of being
discovered. I attempted to sleep at one place but in
vain. At about 2in the night 1 heard the musical
sound of cymbals and drum accompanied with songs.
Probably people were busy worshipping some goddess.
I hurried towards the voices, where [ saw a well as well
as a field hedged all round. There was no body posted
there. That this well was just close tothe village,
perhaps accounted for the lack of a guard here. [ drew
out water and drank it washed my hands and feet and
filled my gavvi for further use. [ walked through the
fields, and occasionally heard the men being warned
not: to indulge in sleep or to mind such and such a well,
where there was some noise. At three or four places |
had to remove the fencing found the fields with the help of
my lathi, After [ had done about 2 couple of miles I
came to a hillock not connected with the one I had
left the day before [ had to turn westwards, and found a
cartroad. 1 had left the guarded place behind. At one
place I had to pass between two closed rows ofhills,
where there was a police station. The man on duty was
fortunately sleeping and I passed him -silently. Two
or three kos further -on, I came to the' plains, where

e
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there was no jungle. I turned northwards; and,
finding a well sat down by its side, made bread..of the
little maize flour that was left with. me. There four
or five men gathered round me. [ started forward
lest some one should be following me. There was a
stream, and | waded through hip deep water, which was
very cold and produced pains in my joints. Alfter some
time I came across a'Ne¢m tree, whose leaves had
withered away but whose stump was so thick that it
could give a little shade. Ilay down to sleep there,
It might have teen two hours, and I was: still sleeping,
when suddenly I heard a noise made by a camel. I.
rose and saw that two officers in uniform aequipped with
guns were on camel back and were about to alight
there. They came towards me, and talked amongst
each other. There was another man with them,. who
looked like an officer. One of the subordinates went
away, and the other along with the officer stood there
at & distance of about 50 yards from me, I thought
theyshad been following me, and had sent one of them
to bring some persons who couid identify me. . I made
up my mind to see whether they obetructed me, if 1
moved. [ started, and the subordinate turned towards
the officer who did not mind the gesture much, for he
was sure I could not escape. I went onward, one of
them following me at a distance. [ came to a village,
and thought of spending some money. 1 had sonié
fifteen rupees with me, and was not- sure whether I
woiﬁd need them any longer, . 1 bought ghee '.';md gur
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(molasses) worth one rupee and swallowed them: On
.enquiry, | was told that I could get a cart for  Jahajpur
from the next village Indrapur. I had, however, no
“ need for a cart but only wanted to leave wrong
information behind. On leaving the village, I tound
a man following me at a distance. Hé would sit
down, where | waited and would walk after me when
-1 would resume my journey. 1 entered the village,
and cnquired whether there was any cart or camel on
‘hire.  The sun had sat and when I was leaving the
village, a man came running after me. There were
- a few thatched cottages and some fields at a litile
distance. [ saw that man talk to certain people there,
and four or five men came to obstruct my path. They
told me that I stood in .danger of being robbed, if I
continued .my journey during dark and that I could
not be permitted to move on 1 argued that during
the day the sun was very hot, and I could not linger
 there,. and that ‘[ feared no robbers for I had nothing
tolose  They did not however, permit me to prodeed.
. I was 'given ‘a cot, and compelied to sleep in the
- field. Four or five men sat round obviously to prevent
- .my escape. -One of them asked the other to tell him
some mterestlng story to beguile the mght

Ea.rly in the mormng at about 3. oclock they
wamed .one. of them to keep awake, and:to: Eeepa
§t_;1ct watch overme. If ] attempted . tq fly ‘he was
 asked; to yaise 3 hye and cry. . Then thiey all wené tq
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- sleep, except the man who had been put on duty
He, too; after a short time lay down to.sleep and I
© could hear his heavy snoring.  That was what | had
" been waiting for. I at once rose up and removed the
qbstruction at the door of the enclosure in which I
was kept. | then quietly slipped away. [ went
eastwards instead of proceeding to Jahazpur. About
ten minutes later I heard a hue and cry behind me.
I had gone about a mile, and came to the stream that-
Thad crossed on the previous day. That day I had
encountered many troubles and dangers and had
escaped unscathed,

I bad left Jahazpur to. my west, and Bundi to
my east and proceeded haphazardly for three or four
days towards Toka state. One day while | was pro-
ceeding by the side of the Railway line in Jaipore
State 1 saw a trolly running on the rails. The officer
sefit a man towards me, who called to me %o hait.
He epquired who I was. Mean while, the officer
. called him back. I could not understand what he
" meant by that I did not meet any other hardship

in Jaipore state, and began to pass my days roaming
here and there. - One day I went to one village
‘Bhilpura where the Brahmans cultivated: lands. I
told them I Liked to stay there for ten or- ﬁ&een days
- living - simply. on mielons. They ‘agreed. - For/ ‘the
'mght 1 ‘'would sleep “there ; in the mommg Iwouid,
buy melons Worth: tyo annas;’ and after ea,tmg them'
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would move to a secluded place. ' In the evening
[ would come back, buy half.a seer of barley flour
and make bread of it for night meal. But flour was
not to be had there. Moreover, I had very little
money left, and | wanted to spend as little as possible.

After about fifteen days, I made preparations
to go to Marwar. There was famine in Marwar, but
1 believe I could reach Gujrat, my real destination
more safely if I went through Marwar. 1 had other
reasons also for taking that route. 1 had a few
difficulties at two or three places on my way through
Marwar ; but suffered a good deal on account of want
of food. 1t is, however, not neccssary to give a
detailed account of my journey through Marwar.

| crossed Marwar and passing throug Palanpur’
-reached Gujrat, The rainy secason [ passed in
Palanpur with one Mohan Patel. He was very kind
and generous, and I lived for about fifteen days
there. The son of a Bhagat had graval, and I cured
him of that malady by medicines. For that reason
those Brahmans began to respect me. They asked
me to stay there longer, but I refused. [wentto
Kharoman, and then to Area, where I stayed with
mohant Sukhdev. For about four or five days. I
stayed at Sidha Sawala and then at Rup Pur Paten.
But  the days passed away without any untoward
mcldent. 1 knew a {ew medicines, . In Gujrat I took
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to reading Gujrati 1réad a few books on medicine
and subscribed to some news papers in Gujrati My
medicines began to become popular, and I decided
to live on what I could earn by their sale.

1 had left Gwalior State, in March 1916 and it
was September, 1916 when [ reached Gujrat and the :
Baroda State. o

I read in newspapers that in the Amritsar
Congress the following expressions had been used,
to the great discredit of myself and my fellow passengers

As my practice was ﬂourishihg, lr_erﬁained m
Swali near Baroda about two years and.became friendly
with the nobles and richmen there.

When the Jalianwala Bag massacare took place
my mind was full of sorrow and it was very difficult
for ‘me to remain quietly without doing some thing
in reply to the tragedy. 1 reached Ahamedabad to pay

- my respects to Mahatma Gandhiji and to talk- over
the Jalianwala Bag massacre but I met the Sikh who -
was deputed to find out my where abouts, 'So it was
not possuble for me to fulfil my desire.

After that I interviewed Messrs G K Das
Pandey and Dayabhai Prot, Barristers-at-law, but
thinking' that [ was C. L. D. they did not freely talke™:

to me.
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In December 1919 when the Spécial train oE
Mahara} Bal Gangadhar Tilak reached Baroda,. 1
I intended to seek an interview with him at his. bunga]o_pr
where he was eatertained at a tea party and 'to
converse with him but owing to rush of his {oll@wers L
could not.do that. :

’I‘here after 1 decided to remain at Bombay
where all the Leaders came every now and then. A
Rais of Sawali-Daya Bhai Desai (Jaigirdar), whom I
came to know then very cordially entertained me, He
was related to Mr.V. J.-Patel. Though he did not know
me as ‘Gurdit Singh’ he gave me a letter to Mr Patel
requesting him to receive me cordially. I reached
Mr. Patels Bungalow near Bandra Station. But -
unfortunately he was not in his Bungalow. '

As it was not safe for me to remain in Bombay
before the very eyes of the Police, I intended sto
remain somewhere in the outskirts of the city and
so | went to Mahowal Bandar-12 miles from the town
 where there was Seth Durlay Bhai Ratan Singh’s Ship-
building factory. I however, took service in.
the” factory as a Doctor and there after became
! manager of the same. [ did not take any remunara- *
“tion, for. discharging my duties as manager excepting
x rd 4nd lodging’ because.. I had a mind to
' rem,mn there -separately and subaequently to gain the
"E;ng the aut&ontles. Here | was living- rath’gf
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very peacefully. Though 1 had*every “comfort of
life here yet I did not forget my ‘country and accord: -
‘ingly T went to Mr. Patel and gave him the letter I
took from Daya Bhai Desai. Mr Patel received
me cordially. -He spared much of his valuable time
“to converse with me. But as soon’ as he came to.
know- that I was Gurdit Singh he was little irritated
‘and thought that { was coming from C. . D. and to .
‘avoil the trouble he said “Just go to Mahatrnap whio
can hear your heart-rending stories. "

[ went to the house of Seth Rewa Sanker -
Matiwala in'‘Gamda Devi where Mahatmaji was staying
on its thitd floor, Iintended to have an interview with -
him. .The inmates of the house at first turned a deaf
ear to my requests but on my earnest prayer they -
took me to the door of the room where Mahatmaji
was living and from out side said “See there is
Mahatmap sitting” and forced me to come out. Next
"day | again went there but the same inmates said
“Once you have a ‘Darsan’ (Visit) you are not allowed
a second ‘Darsan’ (Visit)”. | retuined. But | insisted on

a ‘Darsan’ (Visit) any how so | attempted the ‘Darsap’
(Vnslt) a_ third time when they asked me why lhad
dbmie again | said 1 came with some presents for
Mahatmaji, They requested me to-hand the presents
over to them but I said it was not pessible,:as | gd'
and. pay my respects to Mahatmaji with these present's.
SO lile man went in to ask for Maha.tmaps pemﬁmon
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Mahatmaji allowed me the interview prayed for. I
sat before Mahatmaji, Sm. Sarala Devi and some
other gentlemen. 1 opened my purse, from -which
one five rupees noté and a silver coin of rupee one
‘were placed before Mahatmaji. When Mahatmaji
asked me why this money had been paid, I said it was
my humble offering towards the Jalianwala Bag fund
for which he was then collecting. He accepted
my offering.

Another bundle was opened by me in which there
was a new coat. | also placed this coat before
Mahatmaji on being asked why ? 1 said I had no more
money, therefore something might come from the
selling of this coat and raise my contribution to an
appreciable sum. First he refused but'my earnestness
compelled him to take the same. Another present I
had placed before Mahatmaji was my garvy, Mahat-
maji was now astonished and asked me why thi§ too
was parted with. 1 said whatever I had and from”
which a farthing could be derived I must put before
you. After that he told Sm. Sarala Devi something
in English Turning towards me he said—This garvy
is for your own use for drinking water. I won't take
it. said what of this garvy | wasready to sacrifice
every ounce of my blood if the sufferers of the Jalianwala
Bag tould be profited by it ? Mahatmaji was highly
pleased with my conversation a.nd which had then a

somewhat freg flow,
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I give below the conversation that followed.
Mahatmaji;-“Have you got any property” ?
1.—~“No, Mahatmaji, nothing at present”.

Mahatmaji—“You have ofcourse got nothing now. but
have you not got any property at home”?

1.—*] have no home and no property whatsoever.

Mahatmaji~-"When you have got nothing what makes
youso indignant as regards Jalianwala bag*?

l,—"He alone can realise the Jalianwala Bag inciden
who had been once a victim of such brutal
massacre. 1 am really an unfortunate man
as 1 have not been able to see the place up
till now and am much anxious to see the

place.”

e
Mahatmaji—“How do you come to know that the place.
where the massacre took place, is 2 holy one.”’

L—The soul of a human being is purified from the free-
dom of his country and that the starting
point of that freedom is the Jalianwala Bag-
where the joint blood of Hindus, Sikhs and
Mahomedans was spelled as a sacrifice for
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that purpose. | regard that place as a
holy one. *

Mahatmaji--“You better take back your coat and gavy
leaving me the coins.”

[—“When my soul is burning for the service of the
country, wi at shall [ do with the garvy and
the coat.”

( Mahatmaji showed my coat and garvy to
Sm, Sarala Devi and spoke something in English.)

Mahatmaji asked my name,

-1 have no name, the one I have cannot be disclosed
here ; if you still insist please allow me
to speak with you privately for 1 5 minutes.

Mahatmajie=] have no time and there is no need of
privacy.

I=Very important affairs | have to comunicate-please
allow me at least five minutes.

Mahatmaji==l have absolutely no time at all,

I,-;-I understand sir, we cannol have a few words to-
| gether be good enough to ask Mr. Patel
what I desire to speak to you,
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Mahatmaji—Alright I shall see.

( I then came back ).

From this day I used to go to Mahatmaji every
now and then and there was no one to obstruct me in-
going to him. Aftér a few days Mahatmaji sent my coat
and garvy for auction sale and the amount fetched by
the sale was RS. 115/~ a news whick gave me much
pleasure,

When Mahatmaji comes to Bombay he lives with
Rewa Sankar and accordingly all the wvisitors from
far and near see him here.

13th April 19zo.

: I heard that Pundit Ram Bhaj Dutt Chowdhuri,
husband of Sm. Sarala Debi had come to this house
and had been putting up there, I went and met Sm.
Sarala Debi and expressed my desire to see her
husband. She did not recognise me but took me for
an ordinary Sikh who generally came to that house So
she did not hesitate to arrange the interview with
Punditjt.

.. She entered the: Punditji's room and got the
permission.
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Punditji received me cordially and asked me to sit
on a chair by him. ¢

Punditji asked where I lived and what 1 came
there for. I answered that I had no place to live in
and without reason or rhyme I came to your goodself.

(Conversation),

Punditji--Sirdarji, please, let me know your busi-
ness as I am ready for retirement.

I.=Punditji, you wish to sleep but my story
is a long one. '

Punditji—I had no sleepfor 24 hours and if I don’t
sleep I shall not be able to deliver my
speech at the ensuing meeting of tais night.

1.—~Punditji please appoint a time that I may
express clearly all that I have got to say.-

. Punditji—What is that conversation that will
take so much time ? :

1. ~Punditji when you will once begin to hear
my story you will hardly leave me without
getting to the end,
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Punditji~-Then please come on another
occasion.

I had to leave the place

- That night a meeting was to have been held near
the France Bridge—in which the earth of Jalianwala Bag
packed in small ‘packets was sold at Re. 1 per packet
and thousands of such pakets were sold. I had a mind
to purchage one packet of the holy earth but I had no
money thento buy it with. However I asked the
seller to sell me 5 packets of the holy earth on credit.
T got and as promised after 15 days I paid off the
value of the same and dlstnbuted the packets free -
of charge,

19, 4. 1920,

I interviewed Punditji, :At the first visit I
wished Punditji “Bandemataram” ~Punditji replied .
“Sat Sri Akal”,

- ( Conversation continued ).
. r -
Punditji—Please excuse me, Sardar 3aheb, as
I do not know you.

* I.=Yes Sir, when we will be acquainted you will
‘have to take much trouble on my account,
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Panditji-All right you have full liberty to speak

to me what you desire.

I.—-Punditji-At the last Amritsar congress Pundit

Motilal Nehru in his presidental speech
said that the Police of Budge Budge had
tortured the inmates of the Komgata Maru
and that they lost their temper and violated
the law. This fact is not at all true and
is absolutely wrong.

Punditji——There wasno fauit of Pundit Motilal

Nehru as this was already out in the news
papers.

l.~-Panditji-The innocent passengers of Komagata

Marue were the aggrieved patry and that
they remained very calm up to the time of
their death by a shower of bullets. But the
public have come to know that those in-
mates were to be blamed for this mishap.
(Vide Presidential speech of Pandit Motil
Lal Nehru and news paper ).

Punditji-The government enquiry Committee of

Komagata Maru has reported to the news
papers that the prassengers of Komagata
Maru committed breacn Qf peace.
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L-=Will you kindly let e knew whether any
leader up o date took the trouble of mak -
Ing enquiries as to the real facts of this
incident ¢

Punditji-~No. No one.

L—=1Is it not an absard thing Sir, that you have not
taken the trouble of sctting up Enguiry
Committee of your own ?

Panditji=—Yes it was our duty no doubt bul we were
so busy with other affairs that we could not
give our attention to thism atger.

[—Is it not the fact that the matter had been reported
on by the Government only who generally do
not like to disclose their guilt so you have
accepted the report as Gospel truth ?

Panditji—Pandit Motial Nehru made his speech on the
basis of the news papers he did not add
anything of his on,

I-—Panditji On 13th April 1920 at the French- Bridge
meeting you said about hundreds of innccent
persons being shot dead and thousands
wounded is absolutely true ?

« Panditji - “That I said in the meeting is absolutely
true.
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I, —Panditji-You have most probably read
the Government Report on Jalianwala
Bag in which it was mentioned that only
29 nparsons were dead. Is that truey

Panditji—~It was absolutely false~-Govt. to
avoild their responsibility brought sueh
untruthful Report hbefore the general
public but at last they were obliged to
accept the real faet.

I.—Then now Sir, how did you belive the
Report of the Government Enquiry
Comm ittee?

Panditji—1It is true that I don’t belive it but
I want to know the real fact which
I have not yet heard,

L—If you desire to know the resl fact please
appoint au Knquiry Committee and I~
will make you understand that the

Report issued by Government is abso-
lutely falge,

Panditji-—Do you know the fact by guess or
by asinal knowledge?

I.—Without actnal knowledge I would not have
troubled you Sir. Before my eyes the
passengers of Komagata Maru were
shot dead like innocent beasts. ( when
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attering those few words 1 could not
control my tears and for some time 1

could not speak ).

Panditji—Sardar Saheb-the ease has become
very old and it is not possible to redress
the wrong at the present moment.

I.—Panditji you may call it and old one but
it is and will remain fresh in my heart
go long I shall be living and after my
death too. It also may be a fact that
tkese heart-reading thoughts may bring
about my demise and their yield at the
~next birth.

Panditji—~Unfortunate Gurdit Singh is no
longer in this world otherwise there
might be some means of condueting the
case.

L=Panditji if yon are ready to appoint an
Enquiry Committee it might be possible
that Gurdit Singh will himself explain
the matter before you.
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(Note of Gurdit Singh).

lypon this the face of Pandit)i flashed with
astonishment and he asked me if
Gurdit Singh living then.

[.—Yes Pandit)i he is living but he is absolu
tely broken hearted and will not raliy

unless and until he is able to redress the
bratal wrong.

Panditji—1If he 18 alive ¢an he come to me ?

I.—Yes Panditji he is alive and whenever you
will send for hun he will eome to you.

Panditji~I want’ to sec him to-day if possible,
if not as soon ag he can.

I.—Panditji— { Gurdit Singh just now comes
to you how will you recagnise him.

Panditji—Yes I shall be able to recognise him
through my heart.

I.—1 am that unfortunate-always at your
service.

Panditji.—Yes you are one of the fortunate
sufferers but where is Gurdit Singh.

LS
k
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I.—1 am Gurdit Singh before you.

Nore—Puuditji was very muech astonished and
blusted out, “0" my God” you are the same
And immediately emhraced mo cordially and
gave me a seat by him. At this embracing
the major portion of my grief was removed,

{Conversation Continued).

Panditji—Babaji, How did you oscape the
clutches of the police ?

L—Our Almighty God is our saviour. If[
narrate my whole history 16 will take
you not only a few hours but a few days.
It you however have time and if youn
allow me sueh time I may narrate every
thing.

Punditji —I have not so mueh time but if you
can narrate by writing I shall gladly
read it.

I.—JIt will also take mueh fime to narrate in
writing.

Panditji—All right you may prepare it and I
will take it when I next come to Bombay
after 3/4 months,
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This time Punditji opened his trunk and
brought out a bundle of G. P. Notes to give them to
me but I said please take it back and utilise it for
the country's eause—I wish to live as a Sadhu-I
am determined to live upon my own earning.

I then prepared the history of the brutal inei-
dent and handed it over to Punditji when he next
came to Bombay.

For an interview with Lara T.aspar Rana,
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Once I came to know that Liala Lajpat Rai
had ecome to Bombay on the oeeagsion of a Tramway
strike, and attend the mecting of the strikers. A
little before my reaching there Lalaji left the meeting
I then heard he had goue to Kalva Devi Road to
meet the Punjabis living there. [ also went there
and was imformed that he was engaged at the
Marwari Mecting was a private meeting and tickets
were issued only to the members, I had no ticket-~I
stood at the gate—the volunteer at the gate fortu-
nately went on some business within the meeting.
In the meantime I took charge of his duties un-called
for. When he returned and saw ine officiating for
him hs was pleased and gave me & chalr before him to
sit on. In reward of my two ours duty 1 begged him
to find out Lala Lajpat Rai. I wrote iv a slip “I am
Gurdit Singh of S. S, Komagata Maru” and asked
him to hand the same over to Lalaji. After his
deéparture I scaned every one of his steps very earn.
estly to see what would happen when the slip was
handed to Lalaji. I saw that when the slip was
handed over to him he saw it and put it by on his
chair—thinking that Gnrdit Singh was dead and
gone and this man had come from C. I. D, to cheat
him. However as soon as [ saw the chit thrown I
rushed there and picked up the same so that except
Lalaji no one would be able to know of my arrival
there. At the door from which Lalaji was coming
out I stood before him and caught his arm and said
“I am rather tired to sent an interview with you=
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please allow me to speak. I showed the chit reached
the hauds of the poliec what would have been the
result.  S6ill bhe did not pay mueh attention to my
affairs-he told me to first have eorrcspoudence with
Master Sunder Singh Taral Puri at Lahore. “If
he ask tiilen only L cam nudertake your ease.”

Dewan Chiman Lall was delivering his specches
at Bombay whoen there was strike in the schools and
eolloges-1 too delivered several speeches with him but
he did not recogrise me nor id he ask me who I was,

I went to Scth Sanker Lal-Banker~but he did
not pay any attentian to my affairs,

One day af J. J. Hospital of Bombay there was
a mass meeting and Moulaua Saukatali was present, [
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- I delivered here my speech -to -the: studenta
as given below ;== S

“Boyeott of schools and colleges is necessary not
because the autocratic Government are doing no good
to us and in future there is no chance of their
doing anything for the Indians. They have taken
our little Dalip Singh and converted him to Chris-
tianity. They have heclonged the precious . stone
#Kohinoor” and broken it into pieces. '

The speoch inflamed the heart of a Punjabi C. L. D,
who was noting down the utterances of the speakers at
a little distance from the pandal, and who then made
a move to catch “hold of me. Bub immediately after
delivering the speech I lefb without their knowledge.

One day at the house of Rewa Shanker several
leaders with Mr, Moti Lal Nehru came and resided.
T wert and met Pandit Mofi Lal Nehru and Jawahar
T.a\ Nehru, his son, and repeated the conversation I
had with Pandit Ram Bhaj Dutt Chowdhury about

the Congress.

Pandit Ji admitted that his ultersnces in the
previous mesting as regards the Komagatamarn
incident were not quite true. “The Nagpur Congresa®
he said “is going to take place within a short time.
and you will come over there and I shall try to do

19
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sométhing for you” Bub owing te my serious
illness I could not attend the Congress.

January 1921.

I interviewed G. K. Desh pandey. At first he
did not recognise me. Then alter the recommenda-
hon of & gentlemsn who came from Ahmedahad he
came to know that I was *Gwdit Singh”,

Mr. G. K. Desh panday opened a S8waraj Asram ab
Anderi a village 20 miles away from the town. 1
- sent Charkba ete. from the Factory where I was a
manager

From “Ekdil Akhbar"—a news paper—I learnt
that 200 8ikhs died at Nankana Sahib at
Gurdwara—this news went desp down info my heart
and wounded me sorcly. I could not help going
there and join the agitation. At the time of deliver-
ing one of my lectures an inmate of S. 8, Komagata-
maru nsmed Bbai Puran Singh recognised me and
came to entertain me. But I told him to keep the
news to himself as I was roaming incognito,

I asked my master to grant me leave for some
days bub he was very sorry to part with me, How-
ever I could not remain there.

On 13th March 1921 I resched Ahmodabad and
{after being infroduced to Mahatmaji through a friend
+of mine I was requested o surrender to the police.
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Before my surrender I made up my wind to have
the necossary interview with other importanb persons,
I, sherefors, went to Hyderab1d, Bind, Karachl Seklmr,
Montogomery and Lahore.

The Governor of Bombay was to visit Karachi
when Swami Govindanand agitated for the boycott of
the Governor. At this time I was in Karachi. He in
course of his speech said that *It is rumoured that 200
Sikhs at Nankana wcre killed by the Mahanta at
the instigation of the Government, but on the other
side Government deny it. For the time being if we
take the view of the Govcrament to be true the
questions arise, that Governwent maintain the C, I. D.
Department and the duty of this Department is to
bring out each and cvery fault of the gencral public.
It is quite absurd that this depariment did not
succeed in antioipating the incident. Certainly they
anticipated but did not do anything. So the
blame lies on Government and this Government
should at once be removed®.

That time Pandit Lokeram, Pandit Bishnu Sharma
and all other Sindhis prohlbited me to go before the
police but I had no mind to dlagulse ‘myself any
longer. At Lahore I met Pandit- Ram- Bhaj Dutt
Chowdbury. 1 had been id Lahere for some time.
Then I went to Amritesr, Tarantarsn, ‘Ludhians,
Amballa, Mustupha, Saharanpur, Hardwar, Dehradun
&c. where I - established - Khilafat Committecs -and
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Congress Committees through my impassioned spee-
ches. If T describe all the details of these tours the
bulk of this will s considerably increased so I abbre-
viate my touring journal. Ia thesc places I mct with
woll-wishers. After the adventure I returned to
Lahore and ‘met the Ilcaders. I told them that I
intended to surrender myself as I was tired of
dlsgulmng myself. But they prohibited me to do so
saying “the 8ikh Leage is to meot ab Lyallpur within
three or.four months so please wait for their arrival as
wo intend to pub the matter before them.” In this
loague mecting several pamphlets were distributed
doolaring that Baba Gurdit Singh would no longer
remain in disguise and come amongst us very soon,
‘A Thistory of my adventures was regularly published
in the newa-papers; Owing to some ressons' I wus
prohibited by the Bikh League to go to Lyallpur sad
attend the Festival there.
"> "Po pay my last visit.-I wenb back to Sindh, Gujrat
and Bombay. On 3rd November I came back te
Delhi where the all India Congress Committee was’
-sitting. I represented the Khidrawad Amballa Con-
\gress Committes as.a delegate. With almost all
» thei Congress members I talked about my persecution.
Bub they unanimously restrained me from -surrender-
“ing to the Government. They said that the atmosphere
was poisonous:and the attitude of the Government
was not at-all good. 80:if you surrender the Govern-
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ment will hang you, and in coneequence we will
lose an ionocent worker and our work for country’s
cause will suffer greatly, So it was necessary to
remain amongst us a few days more. I said alright,
please refer this matter to Mahatma Ji

It was at last referred to Mahatma Ji. Ile said
%ib was nob much creditable for him to roam hither
and thither disguising himsclf—he who once shook
the Government made a voyage to Canada, awoke
the sleeping India and oxposed the bureancratic
policy before the general public, e whose adventures
helped the Indisns in Afriea in their distressed con- -
dition; I think his demise for country’s sake will
bring forth some good for the country”.

- Another question arose, if I have to surrender
to the police, when and where is it to be dome.
Lieaders were of opinion that when Ahmedabad Con.
gress will takc place then I sy be handed over
to  the pelice but Mahatma Ji was nob of that opinien,
he was of opinion that I shounld surrender myself
to the police at Delhi immediately.

After agreat discussion between tlic leaders and
Mahatma Ji it was seftled that when Nankans Festival
‘would take place at Nankena Sahib oan the.15th
November 1921 and where almost all the Sikhs wou]d
agsemble then before them I should be handed ovér to
the police. I have already written an open Ietter to
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the Government that repression has touched its
cxtreme point in my cas¢ and now I am coming
before you to bear further oppression.

On 7th November 1921 I wrote several letters to
tho news-papers and to several of my friends that
I am attending thc Nankana Festival on the 15th
instant and that I must be present at thc morning
prayers of the fostival that day when I shall disclosc
who I am. There they took it to be e :finc idea that
I intended to first attend the morning prayer and
afterwards before thousands of Sikhs would ask
the police \bo arrest me; but the machinations of
the police were that before I reached the meeting
they would arrest me and send me to any unknown
place they liked without the knowledge of wy
brethren.

The Government put forth all their ciforts to
arrest e, they arranged military force on such a
luge scale that before the British Raj Nankana
Sahib was not fortunate enough to be the centre of
such a a military display. No personz were allowed
to go there without showing their faces. The veiled
women had also to take out their veil. At that time
the Secretary of my ship Komagatamarn, 8ardar
Daljit Bingh whose name is at present Bardar- Rai
Singh was with me and tried to be there  before
‘'me. But I restrained him saying that let me go
“firit, * Tust fancy the act of this Government: “When
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200 Sikhs were shot dead ab Nankana not a single
momber of the force was in evidence there, bat
to arrest an innocent man—Gurdit Singh, they
requisitioned such a huge force.

However I reached anyhow a field two miles off
Nankana, I rose at 4 in the. morning and
bathed at Guru Hargovind Sahib’s well and then
went to the pandal where the prayers were going
on. It was arranged there that after the prayers
lectures would be delivered. It was also arranged with
the speakers that after the delivery of all the speeches
Sardar Harchand Singh of Lyallpur will deliver his
“speech and as soon as his speech will be finished my
turn will come.

Just ab the time Sardar Harchand Singh addressed
the maas saying “if Baha Gurdit Singh is here please
come and appear hefore us”, He then ordered the mass
to sit quietly and await the event.

When T appeared before the mass and stood up, a
man hehind me slapped on my back sayiag you old
man sib down let me first make the Darsan of Baha
Gurdit Singh. I told him, brother, why are you
prohibiting rae. I have also come to make the Darsan.
As soon as I stood and finished the prayer Master
Sunder Singh Lyallpuri came to me and requested me
to go to the pandal and to speak there. I delivered a
hot speech for two hours, Agsin I went upstairs
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where thousands of my brethren were praying and
delivered a speech for half an hour.

After taking some rest I went again to deliver
another speech in the evening. As soon as I uttered a
few words Master Motta Singh camie in with open
sword saying “Sat Sri Akal”. I stopped my speech
and let him deliver his sensational speech which
he delivered for ahout two hours. Darkness oapie
on and the evening prayers went on. In the mean-
time I conversed with Master Motta Singh. He said,
“Bahaji I have come to save you, don’t appear before
the police as you will unnecessarily be saerificed, I
answered yes, Master Motta Singh I am aware of
it but I cannot return now for two reasons (1) I
have already proclaimed in the newspapers that I shall
surrender mysclf fo the police after my appearance
before the public to-day at Naokana Sahib Festival
snd (2) If one innocent Gurdit Singh be sacrificed
for the country’s sako to-day, from to-morrow thore
will rise hundreds of Gurdit Singh. .

On this occasion I was questioned by a person
near by and I turned towards him for two seconds.
On my torning back T saw that Master Motta Singh
had disappeared. I searched for him hither and
thither but could not find him out. I was invited
by several persons and accordingly I met all these
persons from 9 p. m. to 1a. m,

Then after returning to Nankana Sahib I joined
the fire-works and prayer parties.
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At 9 a. m. a letter came from the Police Commise
sioner o the manager Nankana Sahib to the effect:—
Two Goveroment culprits have come to you—you
have neither sent them here nor given us any infor-
mation of them. You should hand them over to
me otherwise you will be prosecuted. I saw the
lettor and advised the mrnager to reply as follows:—

“It is true that Baba Gurdit Singh and Master
Motta Singh are remainiog here and delivering lecs
tures whole day long before thousands of your police
who were hearing the speeches and secing the perfor-
mance. Itis very shameful for you that you are
asking me to hard them over and to give informa-
tion about them to you. I amithe manager of the
Nankana Sabib and rot the servant of the Police and
so it is not my duty to hand ov.r the pilgrims to
you for arrest. Two months ago Baba Gurdit Singh
issued his notification that he was ready to surrender
himself and ahout Master Motta Singh I had seen
him oaly yosterday in the pandal. Under the circums-
tances if you want to bring me under your ¢lutch I
have no objection at all.

I also wrote a letter to the Police Commissioner
ag under:

4Your letter addressed to the manager Nenkana
3uhib had been seen by me. You felt no shame to write
woh 8 letter to the Munager. You tried your best
+ 20
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for seven yoars to arrest me hut without success. Con-
tinually for two months my notifications were being
out in the news papers but you could not do anything.
I am in Tndia and doing work in the Congress and
Khilafat Committees, Since 30 hours I have come
here and havo been delivering speeches before the
very cyes of your Police. Over and ghove, to avoid
showing further unfitness you are reprimandiny the
manager. Please let me know the time and placo
where I may meet you”.

At 3 in the evening I gob the reply «f my letter
that ¢ please come over to the Bungalow of Police
Commissioner at 4 p. m’,

A procession of over 2 lacs of Sikhs went with
me up to the Bungalow from the Nankana S8ahib
placing me in their midst. The spectacle of the time
was roally imposing. Thousands of my brethren
were ready fo give heir lives on my behalf. From the
midst of the masses 1 told them, *My brethren
after reading from tlie news papers you wanted to soe’
me in your midst which desire of yours has heen
fulfiled by me but now the time has come that you
should listen to me. If you love me whole-heareediy
please take your seat where you are standing and
wait so long I do not reach the Bungalow of the
Police Commissioner. This news spread from one
corner to another and all the men assembled accord-
ingly took -their seats on the field. This grand scene
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was witnessed by my old father aged about 100 ycars
and my sister of about 70 years. They loved me
very much. My ton aged about 12 years was on the
shoulder of a person whence he cried aloud “My father
is going to sacrifice himself for the welfare of the
Counfry— I shall also follow him when I shall grow
up.” -

' I, accompanied by Sardar Tejs Singh Samandari
and other five leaders reached the Commissioner’s
Bungalow. Assoon as I reached thore the Police
Commissioner came out to welcome me and wanted
to shake my hands which T declined saying I
regrot that I am not prepared {o touch the hands of

the unrightons policc and thereby contaminate
myself. With a smiling fuce he withdrew his hands,

After a while my comrades were asked to go back
with a promise that they would be informed if therc
be any fresh arrangement for Babaji. So they retired,
At about 2 in the night T was roused from my
bed in camyp where I was placed under military guards
and saw that about 60 armed police with their officors
‘were around me and asked me to accompany them
on fool. We went on in this manner and reacheda
place on the railway line about a mile from Nankans
Sahib Railway Station. Wa waited thera for some
time until an Bngine atfached to a third class Bogie
arrived on the spot. I was told by the olficer to get
into the train, I obeyed and the train without
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touching at any intermediate station reached Miaumir
at abouf 2 8. m. From there I was brought to Lakore
and harded over to the C.I.D. Police at about
3-80 a. m. At this time I requested them for leave to
make water but the police did not allow me untit I
reached the Lahore Central Jail at 9a.m. The
outeome of this was that I have been suffering fiom
urinal diseases since then.

The room allotted to me in-the Jail was one
meant for murdered and the iron ticket on my
neck was numbercd 828 ( Under Section 148, 149
and 803).

The Punjab Governinent was unable to deal with
my case a8 they had no evidence against me, so
they wrote to the Bengal Government to deal with my
case and transfer me there.

One night I was brought by motor to Mugalpura
Station whence we werc booked for Caleutta. During
the time we had to wait for the train I delivered
my lectures to the passengers on the platform; in,
the meantime an officer with a telegram came up
and said to the officer in charge of me “Don’t take
him to Caloutta as the Bengal Government declined
to interefere with the caso”. If there was any good
motive of the Government they might have released
me then and there but it was not their policy, so I was
brought back to the Central Jail.
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1.was then brought under the temporary’ law
that came into force during the war time.” Under this
law I was sent to Dehra Gazikhan, without any trial
in the law courts.

I was so long afraid of this sort of thing. 1
koew that I could go to the court where I mlght
cxplasin my grievancos for redress but if I be in’ the
hands of the police I shsll not be sble to explain
my grievances. But alas! at last I was put under a
temporary law. This temporary law was reoalled on
98th Febraary 1922 and I wus released accordingly.
After my release I roached Amrifsar Durbar and
explained to my friends and brethren the inhum.n
treatment of the bureaucratic Government towards
me. The next morning when I was about to start
for my native village the police came with the order
of my arrest and accordingly I was taken to the
court of law and was sentenced to five years rigorous’
imprisonment under Scction 124-A and was sent
tp Mianwali Jail. According to the rule of the Jail
ooly one lettcr can be received and one despatched
within a month.

September 1923.

I sent a letter to the address of Rai 8ingh asking
him to take care of the important court papers for
the ensuing case, which were lying in the trunk kept
ab my sister’s house. This letter was read by the police
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and accordingly they took away the trunk—broke it
and scattered all the papers hithcr and thither, I
found several important documents were missing and
after six months of my writing they roturned the
frunk in broken condition.

27th Novembe r1922,

~ The Governor of Punjab came fo Mianwali Jail
gor a visit and told me that my articles on 8. 8, Koma-
gatamaru were nob found. At this I referred him to
t:he paras 2, 10,17 and 49 of the report of the
Enquiry Committece appointed by Government. I
told him that the officers appointed by the Govern-
mgnt all agreed io these paras thit all the articles
were found and taken by the police. Now you are
denyiog. Can utrathfuiness go any further? He
said he would sce into the maiter, with a smiling fuce,
At this moment I had a statement of eight pages.
T said, “If you are agrecable to consider the matter
please take this for your perusal” and it was accord-
ingly taken by him. But I have up till now received
no reply to that statement.

The practical reader who has followed me so far
fju my futive wanderings would kuow that over
seven years the Police were not able to lay hands
on me., Nor did the Police make it known by pro-
olamation that I was a “wanted” wan and the
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erimes for which I was being watched for every step
I took. He:d the Police made it known that I was
wanted I would have eome out at once and endecvour-
ed to prove my innocence and the bigh handedness.
of the Government officials. I would have escaped
meny year’s sufferings in my wanderings. Had I
committed a crime why did not the Government
confiscate my property. From these facts it appears
that the inteuwtion of the Police was to do away with
me mysteriously and leave no trace.

There has been more than enough evidence to
prove that I never committed a crime for which
- the Police could prosecute mo logally auvd it was
injustice all through which was done to me. I
have facts in my possession which will clearly show
how I stood and the unjustifiable strong hand wused
by the Government todo away with me as I was
considered to be the disturber of peace in a period
when the English had lulled the sufferiny Indiansg
into a Ripvan Wincle’s sleep.

The Government could not put up a case for my
Charlering to trade the Komagatamara but the mueh
applainded British Justice sank to its lowest depth
when the Court seutenced to he hanged that hrave
aud noble Indian, Sardar Balwant Singh for a orime
that was not horrible enough to hang a dog for, The
court has recorded that there was no direct evidence
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sgainst the acoused yet it is proved that Sri Balwant.
Singh did meet the noforious Gurdit Singh at
Yokohama “in Japau” and that in bis possession was
found a copy of a vorse from the writings of Guru
Gobind Singh the purport of which was that *when
all other atlempts to gain liberty proved fatile the
the salvation of a nation lies with the sword® These
wore the words that were found copied in a note hook
in the pocket of Bardas Balwant Singa and these
brave and noble words made him climb the steps
of a scaffold, No doubt these were a thorn in the
side of the Government. Ilad the words been of the
gentle and Meok Jesus “turn your right cheek when
struok on the left check” then this brave man’s life
would have been spared.

I am still alive. I did not go to prison for any
crime with rezard to the Komagatamaru but a man
was hanged beeause he dared meet me in Yokohama.

I append papers of the case which is now pending
in the High Court of Calentta.



BRITISH JUSTICE.

Unce an English gentleman  prided on the  British Justics
and added that the English Law pormita a handred eriminals
to cseape in doubtful eases in order to eseape ihe sin  of
punizhing an imrocent person,  This theory iy moeant only for
preaching as the great saying of Jesus Chivst that “if you
are strnck on theleft Clicek, turn to to the striker your right
alxo” Christianity bonsts of these noble words but T'have never
come acroxs a single disetple of Christ doing as Christ bids,
Our English masters raise sky high the praises of the English
Law—the law which is only available for the wenlthy und not
the poor and the good missionaries preach the word of Christ to
the poor masses who swallow the only sweet dose and give
hoth their cheeks to be struck, These are some of the causes
of Iydian slavery, ‘

I will give here an example of Briti<h Justice in my own
[AH B -

It i been recorded in the previous pages how under tho
protence of Justice I lad to wusdergo a sentence of five years,
Thix sentence was passed on e becanse I dared to tell the
British Law the shallowness ol it Justice. When 1 was released
from Delira Gaji Khan on  28th Februnry 1922 1 came to

Amritsar.  On 7th March, 1922 when [ was givmg a lecture to
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a hoge crowd telling them how English Justice deals its
blows to the innocent without any pretence to legal procedure,
I was arrested and charged under Section 124A. T was pulled
before the courts where neme gave any defence owing to the
grent boycott and non-co-operation movement that was in full
swing at the time but I was advised to defend my case as it
wag hoped that the full story of the Komagatamaru shonld
come out and that Public may know for the first time the most
horrible deed committed upon Indians at Budge Budge. [
gave notice to defend and submitted a list of witnesses inclnding
Sir, Wm. Vincent, Kuwar Daljit Singh and Mabaraja of
Burdwan who drew upthe Report on the Komagata Maru while
the written law permits the calling of any witnosses but, by
what law I do not know, my request was refused. The only
reason for refusing this request was that most appalling revela-
tionsof Government deeds at Budge Budge would come to light.
In the Court of Justice of Lala Amarnath I gave my written state-
ment in defenee which later on was published in Gurmukhi ynder
the title of “Julmi Kuthah. As far us it was possible the whole®
story of the government of Canada as well as ofithe Government
of India’s atrocities ave writton down yeot that iz not the whole
truth but truth will be out when the flag of Swaraj flow at
Delhi.

By Justice Amarnath I was given five years, Before this
ool of the British Justice could send me away I gave him my
mjpd and what I thonght of the Justicc hesowed in that Court



Voyage of “Komaghtamaru.” 161

“I thank God almighty that the sens and daughters of India
fave learnt to suffer and out of these nufferings will spring up
the Young Indinn Nutiou the likeof whom the world have never
prodaced. May Gol bring that day nearer is the earnest prayer
of Goedit Bingh, the prisoner on his way to Mianwali  prison,
the Andamnns of the I'unjab,™

Bxpscting no justice no appeal wasx tendered and in meck
subimission the five years had to be spent,

It was very hard ub first to spend the days of captivity in a
recreation that I was not acecustomed to. I busied my-self
with collecting details in a endeavour to get back soine portion
of my property looted by police from the Komagatamara.

T wrete to my secretary to this effect und this letter some
thow went to the hands of the Police, who acting on the infor-
mation contuined in the letter ransacked the house of my
wister nnd took hold of my steel trunk und oll it contained., 1
sent several letters to the Police and the resuli of this corres-
pondence was that the trunk was returwed afler six months after
all the importunt documents wers removed.

With great difficulty and labour the papers were again
wollected and kept in a friend’s house from where the Police,
«clever than thieves, managed to get them and repeated
wequeats to the Police at Lahore were futile to get recovery of

the same.

‘Why the Police had gone to these length, tho reader might
agk., The reason, is most apparent that as far as they could,
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they wished the Budge Budge tragedy to ho forgotien and
that trath might not seo thie light l‘i‘gdt‘tﬁﬂg this matter. But
steuth will “out” and before T Taid the matter in front of the
public 1 again endeavoured fo britig the Grovernment té teqson
and comumiencel correspondence from “which  thi voatler will
clearly perecive the hollowness of tlm.gm‘nrmiwnt attitade and

the Ili'l]l‘!‘i:'ll of trath on which T stand,

True Copy. I’ 1. 50.

( By the grace of the True preeepter the one Wahigurw )

To

The Inspector General
Bengal Polnce,
CALCUTTA.
Dear Siry

SAT-SRI-AKAL.

It muy be fresh in your mentory that on the 26th of Septem-
ber 1014, the Steamship Koma (iata Maru arrived at the mouth
of “the Hugli; on the 27. 9. 14, the Punjab Police took
charge of the Oftier. the treasure and everything ihat helonged
to the ship, put it all under seal and appeinted Polies Gruard

over it and on 29. 9. 14, 1, along with my eompunions, was
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separated from the ship,  Uptill now the helongings of the =hip
have neither been given to me nor to any of the eluimants in
my abwenee,  The Government cannot eonfizente thereon any
prefones @ and it has issued no cirealar for the confizeation. Ho
without any delay everything that belonged to the -Rrei Gurn
Nanuk =hip’ be at onee returned tome.  In verification of the
above mentioned lot me refor to paras 2, 10, 17 & 49 of the
Report of Koma Gata Maru Enquiry Committee No. 2165 A,
dated e 3l Docombey 1915, which was xent by 8ir Willism
Vineent and other muanhors of the Commities to 1l Seeretary
to the Government of Iidin, Dome Department, The copy of
the sabd paras ix sent levewith,  Also it is your daty to take
the tronble of giving infornation with regard to the result of
the Bengal Police enguiry aboui the looting of the ship treasure
referred to in para 49 of the same veport,  The ahove nientioned
things ought to he in the possession of Mr.  Twynam, The com-
mittge’s Recretary referred to in parn 55 (of the sail report ).
Please tuke the trouble of giving me the reply very soon, as it i
necessary to seml s report to the world’s Boavd of  Commeree.
The copy wilt also he sent to the Government of  Tidin sl to

the British Parliament as well.

Yours sincerely,
. oy PRESIDEXT
i\ al ) L] *
Dated T4 5. 1923 COMA GATA MARU.
: { 8R1 GUrre Naxak S
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P. D. 51.

Copy of the paras 2, 1y 17, 49-& 85 of the Repert Koms
Gutn Maru Committee: No. 4465 A dated 3rd December 1914.

- *. » * -
PaRA 2.

2. lu order to obtain the-e¥idence on which this report is
basedd we have held meetings. at Caleutta and Budge Budge
and alse at Jollander in the: Punjab, in which provinee a num-
her of the witnesses examined reside.  Wo have lield 27 sittings
and examined 201 witnesses.. Many of these witnesses had
heen examined by responsible-authorities prior to our investiga-
tion, and where this was the-case we have admitted the state-
ment= so made in evidence hefore us, but befere doing so, We
have in cach case, where sugh w course was possible, cuused the
statement previously made to be read over to  the witness and
given him an opportunity of correcting it or-adding to it. We
have also visited the steamship Komagata Marn and the scene
of the actual occurrence near Budge Budge station and have-
serntinized a number of decuments which throw muel light on

the questions under examination,

» » - ‘- [

Paka 10.

The second suggestion is that Grurdit Singh conceived the
whole of this scheme purely for his own pecnniary benefit and
that he started proceedings by systematically misappropriati
the mouey paid by the passengars, bu% we find no safficient
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evidence to support this allegution. There is no doubt that
Grurdit Singh heped to obtain considerable pecuniary advantage
out of the venture, and if he had succeeded in effecting the
ontry of these immigrants inte Canada witin reasonable time
he would probably have wade a very large profit. The ordinery
fare from Hong Kong to Vuncouver is, as we are informed
£10 and Gurdit Singh charged £20 per passenger. He hoped
to hook 500 passengers, the full complement of the ship being
B33: if this number of tickets hud been sold he would have
renlised 100,000 dollars out of the fares, against which he
would have had to pay the cost of chartering the vessel for a
conple of meonths, 22,000 dollavs, plus the cest of coal, say
10,000 doilars, and of feeding the cmigrants on the outward
journey, say 10,000 more. Moreover, if the venture had suceced-
ed, the number of passengers on subssquent voyages would have
largely increased and the profits would lave been proportiona-
tely.greater. It is cloar from the cvidence thot if he had been
‘successful in the first voyuge Gurdit Bing intended to return to
Calcutta, and if he had done so he would certainly have heen
ablo to get o fresh complement of pussengers there without
difficulty. We are also inclined to the view that Gurdit Singh
was largely actuated by the dexire to pose ax a political hero
who had obtained for Indiunx the free right to enter Canada,
which is now denied them, und if he hal succeeded in seeuring
the admission of the passengers by t'hc Komugata Maru into

Canadn it appears that he would have heen sucvessful in both
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of hiz main objectz. In the resalt, however, his offorts to carry
this diffieult commorcial enterprise to a 'successfal termination
were i complete failure, and we  think in the cireumstances that
thix was to b expoeted.  For it appears that Gurdit Singh
started on lis venture with no capital and no knowledgr of
business methods or of acconnts and book-keeping.  Reveral
books of aeconnt have been Bled Before us, and we havie had
them examined and have epused o complete  translation to be
made of one which purported to e the daily eash Jook. 1t ix
howover, ntterly unintelligible and kept in such a manner that
il ix impossilide to get Trom ik any aceurate information = to the
Binaneial details of thix enterprise, It also appears that the
number of paszengoers was snialler than Gurdit Ringh anticipa
ted. ol it i the promissory notes found on boardureaecepted as
genuine decuments they indicate  that many of the intendiny
immigrants wore not able to pay the full amount of their Fares
in cash, as we find notes Tor nearly 24,000 dotlars exceuied by
varions passetggers for their dues on this aceount.

Para 17.

Lt may here be noticed that in a deseription of this incident
in a history of the voyage, compiled on hoard the Komagata
Murt aned Found amonyst the papers of Gurdit Singh this affray
is reforred to ns a defeat inflicted on 2 man-of-war and army
Ly unaemed Indians who only used coal to repel their assailaorts.
Para 430

.
We nmy now consider the incident referred to in paragraph
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33, which is the subject of a polive enguiry. It is in ovidence
that when the Komagatamarn came to Budge Budge there
were in (rurdit Singl’s safe on hoard the vessel considerable
sums of money, including about £300 in éold, some Re, 2000
in Indian cwrroncy and a large roll of Japanese notes. The
exact amount was anfortunately not ascertained. but the ovi-
deqwe of Wlr. Potrie who saw the money in the safe is to the
offeet stated above.  There i veason to Deliove that hefore
disembarking Gardit Ringh distribnted part of this money 10
some associates, ineluding one man  called Tehal Singl. and
that Tehal Ringh handed over a part or this whole of  the xam
so roceived to o Sikh named Namd Singh, who was subsoguently
arrexted in Bhowanipore in the suburbs of Calentin, A lurge
sum of money was found on the person of this prisener when
arvested, inchuding Re. 1,025 in cash and a nomber of notes
among which were 8 notes of a handred yen cach.  The money
giten to Grurdit Bingh by the Consul-General at Kohe  was,
it is believed, paid by the Hong Kong snd  Shanghai  Bauk in
yeu notes. On the Ist, sth aml 10th of October o Bombar-
dier of the Royal Garrison Artillery, at prescent-attached to
the wireless station in Fort Willkin, whoere the Fusiliors are
also stationed, eashed 28 hundred-yen notes of the approxi-
mate value of £29G at the Caleutta braneh of the Hong Kong
and Slunghai Bank, receiving in exchange rupec-notes of
various denemination, including a certain number of 100 rupee

notes, the numbers of which are known, Five of these 100-rupee
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notes lave been traced to a poddar or meneychunger in the fort
who deposes that he received them from four seldiers in the
Royal Fusiliers. The soldiers who changed thess notos
signed their names in the note register of the peddar, but
of the signatures, all cxcept one, are denied by the persons
whose names purport to be signed, and on a comparison
of the actnul signatures of these men with the signatures
in the book we think that the signatures are probably for~-
gevies,  The signatare in the register relating to the remain-
ing note ix admitted. This note was, as alleged reccived by a
private in the Fusiliers from an European dressed in  mufti at
the regimental cofee shop in exchange for small notes. It is
impiossibie at. present to areive at any definite decision s to the
proper inferences to be drawn from this cvidence, and the
malter is still under police investigation. We are informed
that this police investigation will not be concluded for some
tinme as offorts are being made to trnce othor notes issued hy
the bank in exchange for the 100-yen notes and to sscertain
who actually chunged the notes already traced with the podiler
It has beon suggested that some of the soldiers on duty at
Budge Budge looted the hundred-yen notes referred to fromn
some of the Sikhs, There is, however, no evidence of this, and
it i3 possible that the possession of the notes by the Bombardier
ny be accounted for in soms satisfactory manner or that the
Hotex were never the property of the Sikhs, We think, however,

that the matter calls for most searching enquiry by the police,.
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and that the facts referred to above should bo brought to the
notice of Government. The ouly other mention of any attempt
to loot is a statement by one witness that a European net in
nniform was seen on the night of the occurrence putting his
land inte a haversack lying on a bench near the lovel-crossing ;
buf, this man has not heen identified, and the story does not seem.
to us to he entirely above suspicion.

Para 55,

In conclusion we desire to thank the Government of Bengal
awel the various officers whom we have hal oceasion to eall
hefore us for the assistance rendered to us in the course of this
fony and complicated inquiry. We also desive in particular to
pluce on record our appreciation of the manner in which Mr,
Twynam has performed his duties az Seeretary tothis Commites,
Hix services were placed at our disposal by the  Bengul Govern-
ment and the assistanee he has rendered  to s in onr investiga-
. tions has been invaluable,

Teur Copy. I'. D. 52,
Commissioner of Police, Calentta.

Please wire what action re. my application to I, G. Polico
Bengal about Koma Gata Marn property”

8d. Gurdit Singh,

A. Class Prisoner.
31. 6. 1923.

Nole - This Telegrem I think was sent by Jail authospities on 7th of
June 1928,
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I D. 53.
Calentta Tolice form No. 638 { new ) 613 { Old ).
CONFIDENTIAL.
D. O. No, 3361
1972-¢. Oftice of the Deputy  Commissioner

of Police Speein] Branch, ( 14, Elly-
simn Row), Caleatta.
( Cannae St P(L)

The 1T1th Joane 1215,

LTo
GURDIT SINGH.
mAY Class Prizoner,
Miunwali Jail,
Cfo. The Dnspector=General of Pyisonz.
Panjab, Lahore,
Reference—Hix Telegram dated the Teh st .
He ix informed that the previons petition  was transferred
to the Ruperintendent of [Police, 24 Parganas, for disporsal
to whom further correspondence o the subject  might = be
adddressod, The prosent telegram is boing also sent there,
B F, Wl Kien,
Deputy Commissioner of Polics,
Special Branch,
CALCUTTA.
AL GO L P A TE37—28-2-1816—8816-4. H00.
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P. D, 54,
Confidential

No. 1972

Oftice of the Deputy Commissioner Police.
Speeial Branel, I 14, Flly<ium Row
Carourrs.

( Camrae 8t. P, O.)

The 8th June 1925,

GURDIT SINGH,
“A" Clasz Prisoner,
Mianwali Jail,
Clo, Inspeetor-General of Prisons,

Lahore,

MeMaR.

His petition dated the 18 th March 1923 and subsequently
'].'::ia'-gr:lphic reminder have been transferred to the Government
of Indin, Home Department for dizposal.  Any further commu-.

nication on the subject may be wldressed to that Depariment.

S8d. F. W. Xion,
Dopnty Commissioner of Police,

i ' ~8pecial Branch, Culeutta, -

( N. B. The letter was in typowriting )
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P. D. 85.
. 00549,
POST TELEGRAPHS.
.c. .
Notice. Charges to pay.

_'This form must accompany any Ra. As,

inquiry made respecting this

telegram. . Stamy,

Handed in at ( Qffice of Origin). Date Hour Mts. Words,
19. 17, 3.

i4.
Reed, hire at 21 H, 44 M.

To
GURDIT SINGH,
Mianwali Jail
Cjo Prisons, Lahore.

Pctition Transferred home
Dopurtment Simla.
8d. BANOTUM.
N. B. The name of the sender, if telegraphed is written
after the test. -
Lal Chand & Sons. 3617—27, 2. 22—200,060 Bks,
True Copy of wire,

Mote : 1, Wae Telegram form,

2, The stamp was indistinet Lehore & June 33 could be mmde out
only,
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P. D. 56.
The Beeretary, Govt. of India,
Home Department,

Simla.

DEAR SIR,

On the 18th March 1923, I applied to the Inspector Gone-
ral of Police Bengal copy of the letter cnclosed { marked A )
to kindly give me back my property taken charge of ly the
Poliee on 27, 9 1914 at Badge Budge.

On 15. 6. 1924, the Depnty Commissioner of Police Bpecial
Branch, Calcutta veplied that the matter has been referred to

the Government of [ndia. Home Depactment ).

{ Copy of his letter enclosed marked B )

I hope you will kindly arrange that my property ix returned
to me ut an early date and oblige.  Please reply by the return
of post for which T shall bo thankfual.

Mianwali Jail*
29, 6. 23 Yours
GURDIT BINGH.

P. D. 57.
Copy of memoranduin No. 2238 8. Jails dated the 30th
July 1923, from: the Home Secretary to Government Punjab to
the Inspector General of Prisons, Punjab.

Note—It appears that Jail authorities sent it on 10th July 1923
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Reference your letter No 186-8, dated 10th July 1923,
CGurdit Singh should be  informed that the Police took charge
of no property from the “Koma Gata Marn” The contents of
the snfe appear to bave heen removed by Gurdit Singh himself.
The personal luggage of the passengers was sent to Ludhiama
where most of it was claimed by the owners on  their release.
It ix mulevstood that the few artieles remuining  were of little
vilue :uui were ultimately anctioned, It is too late now to esta-

blish any claim to such articles,

Copy made over to Special Class Prisoner Gurdit Singh for-
infermation,
Sd. Ramji Dass Rai Sahil,
Superintendent  District Juil,

Mainwali

9.8, 23
P. D. 56

The Home Seeretary,
Giovernment Punjab,
Simla,
SR,

I acknowledge with thanks the veceipt of a copy of your
lottor No. 8-2236 dated 30-7-23 through the supdt;  Jail Mian-
wali amd in reply I g to say as follows :—

Your remark that.the ¢harge of my bolongings of thc hip

Koma Ginta Maru was not taken by the Police is wrong and it
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woeid bo 1 cah prove the faet satisfactorily. 'fhe fuct is thirt
Gitly Giraiith 8ahib was take oat of the steawsor dnd PYI‘I‘I}'t\hing
else was left in the 't':hufgh of the Pulise, _
Yon writd in your Jetter that lugguge of passengers was
trihsferred 1o Lindhiahn wherrfeom muost of it was delivered to
the teepostive owiets, With tespeet to this I draw ybur kind
atteation to iy letter dasid 18<3-23, A« far #x [ know 1 have
ot asked you shout the whercubouts of tho luggupe of my
pussengers, 1 only dnado ettquiries about sy goods referred in
Official Report. of the Stewn Koma Guta Maru para 2, 10, 17
and 46 the copies of which have already been supplied with my
letter dated 18, 3. 23, In conncetion of my cnquiries about the
goods I draw your special attention to the abstract of above-
said pavus enclosed herewith,  Your vemark that the luggage
have boen given to the passengers is not a satisfuctory reply to’
my lust letter.  'What 1 required from you was that how my
articles including one iron safe with the money in it, Diary of
the Ship, Hundis { promissory notex} worth 24,000 dollars,
. steatner account hooks, which I left with the Police ut the time
of my leaving the ship were disposed off. Along with o olear and
adefinite reply to my above enquirite, I would £uel oblige if you
very kindly send me 2 coinjilete statement of the articles said
to ve auctioned ont of my belongings. The statement should
contain the names of the acticles and persons to whom sold, the
price fetched and the date when auctioned. T would be further
obliged if yon also let me know under the orders of which Court
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the articles rs‘..forrml in vour ahove letter were auctioned and
when that order was passed and if this all has been done without,
the ordors of any Court, then under what law ?

You write in your lotter that it ix teo late on my part fo
institute any claim ahout my goods, in reply I would say that
in the first place my claim iz within time 3 secondly it does not.
appear  proper to raise snch a technien] objection on the part of
of the Government, I would therefore he obliged if you kindly

give a final and definite reply to my enquries.

I am yours,
Sir,
Sd, GURDIT SINGH,
Special Class Prisoner,

15. 8, 23.

L D LR

Home S(‘crvtnry,
Purjab, Lahore,
Your letter dated 30. 7. 23 in veply to Inspector General
Prisons letter No, 136{S. dated 10, 7. 23 being ‘wnsatisfactory

W e ——— e e e —

Noie; Noreply.
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wan agitin replied by my lettor duted 15, 8, 23 A reply 1o which

ix anxionsly awaited.  Wire reply.

GURDIT SINGH.
‘Mianwali Jail,
Clo. The Saperintendent,
15, 11. 23,

1’ .o,
To

‘His EXCELLEXCY THE (ZOVERNOR 0k THE [PUNJAn,

In Council, Lahore.

The petition of the undersigned Guordit Singh. Most
roxpectfully Shewoth '

I. Thai on the 18th Mareli 1923 ’_):'onr }mtitioﬁcr sent. o
le Hn te the Inspector General of Police Bengal (Lupy =
' ~c|0-ml marked #A") asking him en flln b 1-:|~¢ of puras 2 10,17 &
49 of the report of “the Koma Gata Mary" Enquiry Cﬂmmlttce
No 4:41-('51\“11 itedd the 3rd D('t emhber 1914, to give lnm back
the pmportv taken over (,lmrgb by the Police from “the 8, M.
Koma Gata Marn,” _

II. That the Bengal Dolive Forwarded his lettor to the

Beerctary, Home Departnu“nt Government of India,  In mp]y

Note; Woreply
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he toooived n lotter datead the 10th July 1988. from- the Bbere
tary, Home Departmentt Goveriinetit of the Prinjab ¢ Copy of
lotter enclosed murked “B™ ), informirig him sbout the disposal
of hix property. As this ply was net satisfuctory, your
petitioner wrote anothor letter on the 5th August 1923 ¢ Copy
of letter enclosod nunrkesd “C” ) uskinig faethec aboub his pro-
perty, no reply wus given to this, On the” 15th Nevemler
1923, he sent a telegraphic eeminder { Copy enclosed marked
“1)"), this again remains unanswered,
1L That now your peditienor hegs te hring the fellowing:
to vour kind notier —
(n) That necording te parns roferred fo above ad
other documonts in his possossion, it is quite clear
that “Koma Gata Marn™ preperty was taken charge
of by the Police : otherwise hew could the Committer
refer to documents ote., in third report
{1) That yeur petitiencs had not asked for the: lugge
uge of the passengers, as the Homo Socretary repltex,.
but the property of the ship “Kome Gatn: Marn™
roferral to in officiel roport in puran 3, 10, 17 & 49.
(¢) That your petitioner specially asked the Homw-
Seceretary about the iron safe with the- money in it.
Diary of the ship, and steamer account beoks ete.
which are referrml to in the parns  mentioned
above.
(d) Toat be asked about the humdies { promissory
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notes } for 24;800 dollars which are referred to in
parg 10 of the said report.

{o) That there was nothing in the reply of the Home
Sccretnry as regards the resplis ol the Palice ongpiry
about the leat at Budgoe Budge as roferred to in para
49 of the said report,

{F) That the listof the property auctionsd, the copies
of the orders of the authoritics who ordered the auction
and the lnw under which the order For auction wax
siven have wot yei been sapplied to your petitioner and
no reason givon For the same,

{g) That your petitioner’s claim was within the  {ime
limit and it was wat propar for a high (overnment
Offigial te raise sueh techuical objections when ealing
with o man like your petitioner who has ruffered so
much. .

IV. That in the end your petitioner most earnestly roquests
“Your Excellency to kindly order the [ull  investigation of his
s, Your Excellency, by a perusal of the paras of the “Koma
Giata Maru™ report referrence to nhove, shall ba convinend  that
your etitioner thas heen dealt with most earclessly, i not
ishonestly, hy the officers concerned, In the interest of
Jostice and fair play und to suve the veputation of the British

-+ Administration; it is ‘nogessary that his praperty be givon heck |
to him and no 'preverication or fulse cxcuses be allowed. Your

petitioner hopes that an carly aud favouruble settlement would

*
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be made of hix case or he should be allowed to approch His
Excellency the Viceroy on the subject. He is prepared: tos
substantiate hix allegation by decunwntry evidence in liis possos.-
sion, anil also by the evidenee of the members of the "Koma
Gata Marn Enquiry Cemmniittee™ before whom the  Poliee pro-

dueed the property eeferved to in the pratition.

Tor an early reply shall feel highly obliged..
Beg to remain,
Sir
Your most obedint petitioner,
sl GURDIT SINGH,
Npeeinl Class Prisoncr,
Distriet Juil,

Miunwali Mianwali,.

Dated 22nd January 1924,

B i),

Copy of 2 wemorandum  No, 20683, Jails dated the 7th
December 1923, from  the Home Secretary to Government

Punijab, to the Inspoctor General of Prisons, Punjab.
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- Referenee your letter No. 21}-cdated i
3rd December 1923, '

In reply to Gurdit Singh' letter dated [5th Augost 1923,
which was addressed ta the Inspector General of Police, B.
Rundhir Singh’s original receipt for the trunk seized by the
Police was sent to the Saperintendent  Mianwali Jail, for ln.;-
pection by Gurdit Singh. [t wax returned by the  Superinien-
deut Mianwali Juil, with his letter No, 141JC dated 22, 9, 1923
Presumably Gurdit Singh saw it and hix telegram ix not ander-

stood.

Copy of endorsement No, 1/Clated 2nd January 1924, from
Erom the Inspector General of Prisons, unjab, to the Superin-

tendent Distriet Jait Minnwali,

Copy forwarded fo the Superintendent * Bistriet  Jail Mian-
wali for information iu continuation of this offfer ondorsement
No. 1212-¢ dated 3rd Decomber 1923,
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Copies of the foregaing mndn over to special plass prisoner
Gurdit Singh for informatign.

Sd. Ramji Dass Rai Sahib,
- Superintendent Jail,

23. 1, 24,
1.D. 62
To
The Home Secretary,
Jovernment 1’ugjab,
Luhore.
SR,

I have to awknuwlmlge”-tbe receipt of a copy of your lefter
20683 Jails, daied 17. 12. 23 addressed to the 1. 6. Prisans,
Punjab und delivered to me hy the locat Jail authoyities da the
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23rd Jdanuary 1924,  Tn this letter you have writien nbeut my -
trunk and its receipt ete. and that you could not understand my
Ctelegram duted 15th Navember 1923, In reply 1 beg to refor
my Jetter dated 15th Auguet afdressed to yon wmgarding the
helongings of the Kemuggtamaru referred to in pyras 2, 10, 17
und 49 of fhe Official report of the said ship, I Further wish to
‘bring to your kind notice that your leng silence on the mutter
has cowsed e to write to 1. B, in Coneil on the matter. 1
Tope yon would bo kind enough to take special p'uin in this case
and would xave imnecessary trouble.  Regarding my  telogram
said to be not understood 1 beg to inform  you that thix wasa
reminder to my lotter dated 15th  August 1923, regarding the
property of the Komagatamarn and not abont the trank refeyred

to by you.
An early reply aml settlement in the matter wouhl highly

oblige,

¥d. GURDIT SINGH,
25, 1. 1924
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P. D, GA
WIRE.
H. E. Governor, Laliore.

DRAW YOUR KIND ATTENTION MY PETITION
22ml JANUARY. BARLY REPLY REQUESTED.

. 8d, Gurdit Singh, . :
CjO. The Superintendent,

Mianwah District Jail,.

Written on :— 1. 4. 1924
et o 1 - 2’.. £ 1924

P. D. 64.
daetter reeeived by Superintendent from L G P. Punjab to
say that it ix useless for him to send Further letters and  telew
grams to Government with regord te his “Kemagntamarn™
elaims as he has already  heen fornished all the information

that can be given on the sabjeet.

Sl GURDIT SINGH.

Note: 1. The aignature appearss 1o lbeoif A0 Fonlum,  the Supesntendent
2. The signature is made such that it cannot be maude oal,
3, The wbove letter was coterned in Ko Gunlic Ringl's histgy

teact of Minnwaki Jailon 13§ M4,
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P.'n. 65.
Copy of tefegram sent by me to the Deputy Commissioner

of Police Specinl Branch, Caleatty,

WILL YOU GIVE MY IRON SAFE RECOVEREI»
FRGM KOMAGATAMARU AND [OPENED BY POLICE
IN LALBAZARVJULY LAST. IF NOT WHY.

GURIAT SINGH.
Mpevial Class Prisoner,

‘Mianwali Jail,
Dited 20. 12, 1924,

P D. 66,

Copy of Reply tothe ahove..

Calenttn 2%th December 1'5"24'..
GURDIT SINGH-JAIL MTANWALL
1RON SAFE SOLD PUBLIC AUCTTON
A8 UNCLAIMED.

NANCTD M
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P. D. %3,
28th Felwuary 1825.

To
The ®eeretary,
‘Government nf Bengal,
Baba Gurdit Singh,
Agi.
The Roeretary of stute for Indin
in Council,
Dear Sir,

Under instructions From our client Baba  Grardit Singh son
of Bal Hookum “Singh, Resident of Sichali Kalan, District
Amritsar and now a prisoner, special class in Jail, Mimwali,
Punjab, we send yon hepewith a copy of the Plaint, which our
client filed agninst the Seeretary of State For Jndia in Couneit
mless the Becretary -of State for India in Couneil pay to opr
«lient the value.of the goods particulurly mentioned in the said
Plaint. The cause-of action-of our client, name of our client,
description and place of residence of our client aud the relicks
sought for 'hy -our elient are givon in the said copy of the

glaint,

Yaur taithfally,
sl K. K. Dutt & Co,
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Ruit Ko, 1126 of 1998.

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUDFCATURE AT FORT
WILLIAM IN BENGAL. ORDINARY ORIGINAL
CIVIL JURISDICTION,

BABA GURDIT 8INGH, son of Babu
Hookum Singh, resident of Sirhali Kalan,.
Dirteiot Ainritsitt, and oW & Prisoncr,l.
Bpeoidl Clasy in Jwil, Mianwall, Pun-
§abecnscvenen.. PSTARF.
Vs,

THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR
INDIA IN COUNCIL...............DE-
FENDANT,

The Plaintifi’ above namell states as follows 1w

1. In 1914 the plaintiff startod tho: sohemo of BH Gurw
Nanak Stearier Compahy with the objeot of eurtying imigrants
and other pussengers to Canada and it was a commerdial ventare
of great profit,

2, Oh the 24th March 1914 in pursusnce of the suid Sche--
me and ax part thoreof the pluintiff charteted a steamship named
“Komagatamarn™ at Hongkong and ~qulpped and fitted up the
said stenmer for catrying imigrants -aitd ether passengers te
Canarla.
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3. The said steumer arvived at the mouth of Hooghly on
the 26th September 1914 with many passengers on board  the
safidd steamer. : ' : R

4. At the time of tho arrival of the said  steamer Lis afore
said the plaintiff had on bourd the said steamer helonging to

him many moveables ineluding cash, iron safe, account hooks,

TFurnitare and Hundies of the valne of about Rx, 2,50.000 /—

5. On the 27th the Government of Bengal at Caleutta
#hrough the Police scized and took pozsession of and brought fo
Caleutta from the said steamer the axid u(!nsll iron safe, sceoumt
books, furnitures and Hundies helonging to the plaintiff and

aetainedt the same inspite of the plaintiffs protests.

6. The suid Government of Bengal reevived the said pro~
perties of the plainfiff and held the sume for and on behalf of
the plaintiff anl it waa its duty to keep the same for the plain-
tiff until called for by the plaintiff.  In the premises as afore-
said the said propertiex beeame vested in the plaintiff and plain-
1iff, and the said Government of Bengal vecognised that it was®
holding the properties in that capacity.

7. The sald Government of Bengal assumed the said trnst
and in pursuance thereof appointed an enquiry committee and
also held a Police enquiry with reference to the said proportios,
but the plaintiff is now aware of the results of the said enqui-
rics, The said properties were produced before the suid enquiry

<committee and the plaintiff states that the said enquiry comnmi-
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ttee received mud took. possession of and detained the ime in

" trnat the same to the plaintiff.

8. The «id Government of Bengal and the said enquiry
conmiittee had fled and neglected to vetuen the stid - pro-
pertiex to the plaintiff though repeatedly  called  for by the
plaintiff,

% On or about the 30th July 1923 the (Government wrong-
folly took up an adverse attitwle with releroncee to the plain-
tift’s claim to the said propertics and wltimately in April 1924
wrongfully and fnally rejected  the said elaim of the plainiiff

to the said properties altogether,

10,  On landing on shore from on bhoard the sﬂidl‘ stemmer
the plaintiff and the other passengers of the said steamer were
attacked Dy the DPolice without uny justiﬁuuti!ml whatsover
undd there after the Police continned a wrongful (hreatening
attitnde with the result that the plaintiff had to remain in exile
for ubout 8 years.  After plaintiff came out of the said forced
axile the plaintiff -was put into prison aml he iy still dhotained
there,

1. The plaintiff was accordingly nltogether precleded from
enforcing hix elaim against the defendant so long.  In any
arvent the plaintiff states that he 'could not have enforead his
claim against the defendant before the 28th Febuary 1922

svhen the Ingress of India Ordinance elapsed,

12. A noties in.writing for the said claim of the plaintiff
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Sec. 80, of the C. P. C. has been duly deliverm te-the Secre--
tary to Bengul Government.

13. The plaintlff’s ciuse of action arose in Caleutb i
April 1924 and thercafter is not barred by limitatisn.

14, The plaintiff has been advised to- take lenve under: ¢lu-
use 12 of the Charter to institote this suit in this Hon'ble: Court
in as intich as it miay be coitended that' part of the- cuuse of
action arosb outside Caléutta.

The plaintiff therefore prays for :—

(i) Leave as aforesaid.

(ii) A declaration that the said properties belong
to the plaintiff.

(iii)}  For an cnquiry as to the nature- and  value of
the said propertics,

(iv)  Decree for retum of the saidl preperties, or-

{v) Costs of this suit.

{vi) Such further and other ordirs as fo this.

Hon'ble Court may secin fit and proper..

Drawn by,
Mr. 8. C. Roy..

Settled by
N. K. Sircar.
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Suit No. 1128 of 1925.

IN THE HIGH COURT OF JUDICATURE AT FORT
WILLIAM IN BENGAL. ORDINARY ORIGINAL
CIVIL JURISDICTION.

BABA GURDIT S8INGH, son of Baba
Hookumin Singh, resident of Sirhali Kalan,
District Amritsar, and now a Prisoner,
Special Class in Jail, Mianwali, Pun-
jabe.eosenl s Plaintiff,
V.
THE SECRETARY .OF STATE FOR
INDIA IN COUNCIL...............DE-
FENDANT,
WRITTEN STATEMENT on behalf of the Seccretary of State
for India in Couneil. '
The Defendant abovenamed states as follows :—
1. The Defendant is advised and submits that this Hon’blo
Court hus no jurisdiction to entertain this suit,
2. The Detendant is Further advised and submits that the
'Pl'a:int as franied discloses no cause of action against him,
3. Relying on the above contentions and not waiving the
same the defendant pleads to the fuets of this case,
4. The defendant has ne knowledge of the facts alleged in
paragraphs 1 and 2 of the plaint.
. 5. The defendant denics that the plaintiff®s moveables on
board the steamer including cash, iron safe, account-hooks, Fur-
niture and hoondies were of the value of Rs. 2,60,000/-—as allew

ged ip paragraph 4 of the plaint.
!

4
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6. With reference to the statements made in paragraph g
of the plaint, the defendant denies that the Government of
Bengal through the Police seized the cash, iron safe, aceount
books, furnifure and hoondies at Calenita or clsewhere, He
denios that the said Government of Bengal took possession of
any of the articles at any time or brought them to Calcutta or
dotained them inspife of protests execpt the iron safe which was
abandoned on board the vessel and which was subsequently soM
as mmelaimed property by the Government,

7. The defendant denies the allogations in pavagraph 6 of
the Plaint. The Government of Bengal never received any of
the said articles exeept the iron safe. He denies that any of
the properties hecame vested in the Government of Bengal in
trust or otherwise. He further denies that there was any recog-
nition of any trust by the said Government of Bengal,

8. With regard to the statements made in paragraph 7 of
the Plaint, the defendant denies that the Government of Ben-
gal assumed any trust or that any cnquiry commitdee was
appointed in pursuance of any assumption of any trust as wﬂ.‘
traly alleged thercin,  He denies that any of the properties
except the iron safe wore produced before the said Commitee.
He further ch:ics that the said Committee received or teok
possession of or detained the same in trust or otherwise for any
purpose whatever.

9. Without prejudice Lo this contentions, the defendant is
Mdy and willing to pay the pricc (realised by the sale of) of i
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from safe to the plaintiff. Ho denies any Liability either in Govern-
ment of Bengal or in tho said enquiry committee to o so.

10 The defendant denies that the Government of Beagal
took up azy adverse attitude wrongfully or otherwise on thoe
30th Jelv 1923 or any other dote whatever or rejected any
rightfull claim of the plaintiff

11.  The defedant dcnics the statement in paragraph 10 of
the Plaint. The attack by the Police wus not without justi-
ficalion or was the alleged exile of the plaintiff due to any
wrongful attitude continuel by the Police. He lenigs that the
alleged exile was for 8 years.  In fact the plaintiff was a fugi-
five from justice.

12, The defendant is advised and submits that the plaintiffs
claim is barred by the law of limitation of actions and is nok
sostuinable.

1% That defeidant denies the validity of the excuse put
forward by the plaintiff in paragraph 11 of the plaint or thaé
he'had uny excuse at all,

" [4. The defendant denies that the plaintiff has any cause
ol ‘btiort“agninst him or that it arese in April 1924 and submits

that this suit should be dismissed as vexatious und Frivolouns.

8d. G, C. Gooding,
Defondant’s Attorney.
Settied by Mr. B. L. Mitter,

Advocate General,
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It will not be possible for the Police to deny that they laid
no hand on my goods that were in the Kamagatamarn., The
proof has been admiited before the Enguiry Comsnittec, the
oxistence of Hundics and the Yen note affair in Fort William.
which came out before the public.

T value my property taken charge by Police not loss than
two and half lakhs and for this [ have taken a case in the Cal-
cutta High Court against the Secretary of State for Indin.
But it scems knocking my hcad against the rock of DBritish
Justice,

The Government is bent on ruining me, and with all my
evidential papors with Government, and myself reduced to most
pecuniary embarrasment, where is the hope for me to fight a
successfnl case agninst the mighty British India Governiment ?

If the Government will only read Sir Wm. Vincent's re-
port whore my property is mentioned and as the said property
was not confiscated, why do the Government hesitate to return

the property to the rightful owner ?

It is not justice to keop another man’s property in your
possession without any veason merely becasse you are a mighty
Government.

In a lotter dated 30th July 1923 the Punjab Home Depurt-
ment denies having taken any of my property and vide case
No. 1125/1925 para 6. In more than onc place the Govern-
ment admits having taken charge of my property and in another

place it ‘denicx.
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Once more I appeal for the sake of public peace of mind
and openly ask the Government to go into the affairs of the
Komagatamarn when T am available to give evidenee and to

raturn my property unlawtully scized,

Tt is difficult to say what will be the findings of the Coeurt
in the above case about which readers will be informed later on.

The Enquiry Committecs Report clearly states the quantity
of the property bronght before them by the poliee and on the
other hand the Goverment Lawyer deaies the existance of any
property but T do not desire to touch this sghject any further
but would appeal to those Countrymen of mine who has the
wolfare of their motherland at hoart to respond to this noble
object. After conntless sufforings and prosccutions, after lo<ing
all my worllly possessions and at such an advaneed age of 70
years 1 am still at the helm and would not prefer any other
death hut in harness of my country. Would you not follow my
~«xample youths and wealthy of my beloved land ?

Agsist us by any means you can to fit up a Stramship Com-
pany wherehy we can assist our poor countrymen to go to Fore-
ign shores and learn and earn and come back better men.

Brazil wants you. This will be a befitting memorial to thosn
grandmen who after cndless sufferings gave their lives af
Budge Budge. I appeal to yoau very strongly and ask for
Funds though however little they be to make this project a

RUCONER,
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The Dircetion General of Service of Population
RIO DE JANEIRO,
BRAZIL.
DeAR SiR,

I am in receipt of ynulr rules and regunlations for immigrants
through kind favour of Mr. Chander I. Singh of Brazil ftor
which [ thunk him,

I find in your regulation Deerce No. 4247 that you have
provided muny facilities for agriculturists immigrants to Brazil.
I or my committee ix in position te xend out to Brazil lucks of
Indian agricultosists to organize the Farms and settle up in the
National tervitory of Brazil, but we are afraid to attempt to
send them ont to Brazil when we review the treatment meted
ouf to Indians by other colonies, for instance I would point out
that in Africa and other colonies Indhians went wind established
themselver undergoing  lots of havdships in cufting ap the
Jungles, suffering From buad elimates and thux suerificing the
lives of thousands who were Killed while undergoing variogs
hardships and when the time came that they could lead a h:lppi’
life, the Government of Africa formed sach rulex and laws by
which Indians were deprived of their rights. Tuking S‘llc‘lll'l
exmuples before us we wish to bave a definite assarance E‘l}u\t‘l_
the Indians' rights in the Nationd territory of Bruzil will be
retained as shown in your regulations in the coming future.

I teast that you will let me have a kind reply on the subject
at an early date and will give a Eavonrable censideration to the

following questions and advise accordingly.
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1. Whethor Euaropeans, Asiatics, and partieularly Indians
will be given the same privileges in all respeets whatsoever wnl
will have the same rights, or thare is ang diffevence in rights,
privileges and treatment with auy particular nationality men-
tioned above, and if thero is then what aml why ?

2. Can you give ne any assurance that no laws will be
formed in coming futurc. which may deprive ladian inumigrants
of their rights in the National territory in Brazil ( As they have
been deprived of in Affien or other colonies.)

3. Can you give us an assurance that there will he no
-ghjection For an Indian steamship company to bring  their
steamers to Brazil and load and land cargo, passengers to and
from any port of Brazil and that the Brazilian authorities will
assist in such trade,

4. Vide your Art No : 3 of Doeree No: 4247, uny Forciner
whe is in the National territory of Brazil forapoeriad of over live
years becomes a citizen, Can you give us any assuranee as to the
Indians after five years when they become Braziliyn subjeets and

citizons will be given the situations and rights of Counsils ete.,
according to their qualifications and will have the mume priviloges
as of Brazilians in the Governmeat constitution, and if not why 2

We request you to give a duc considortion to the ahove
.questions because those intended immigrants will come to your
-country, will have to leave their mother land with the object of
settling up for good at the National territory of Braxil, thers-
fore gur committee fecls it thelf duty to discuss aud settle wp

7!

‘s
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the troubles and difficultics which may come between their
happiness in the coming future.

We understand from your rules of reception and ledging of
immigrants in the port of Rio de Jeniero that you have inter
preters speaking several languages, thercfore we have the plea-
sure in enclostng herewith a pamphlet issued ( In Punjabi
fanguage ) and distributed in millions i:‘_v our committee With
ihe results that lacks of agriculturists are at our disposal willing
to ge to Brazil awaiting instructions from us.

If yon approve the aforesaid questions No : 1 to 5 we shallbe
glad to receiveanofficial sanction from you as many agriculturists
immigrants you will require or allow so that we may get busy
at an early date. Wo only await your favourable sanction and
we assure you that wo have lacks of agriculturists to place at
your disposal.

We furthor wish to advise you that before the first trips of
imniigrants is shipped, our committeo prepose to send out three
reprosentatives to visit the National territory of Brazil. Thewy
three representatives may be sent out to Brazil before the
immigrants arc shipped or with the first batch of immigrants,
and trust that the Brazilian authorities will assist these represen-
tatives during their stay and visit to National territory of Brazil
in obtaining whatever further information they may require.

Awsiting an carly kind roply.

32, Asutosh Mukherjee Road, Yours faithfully,
Caleutta.

( INDIA.) $S4. (Baba) Gurdit Singh,
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It is difficult to say now what will be the ecision of the
Court in my case against the Secretary of State for India for
the recovery of Rx. 2,530,000/~ or what ;\'ill"lw the Tate of the
scheme of establishing a steamship sevviee between India and
Brazil for the purposeol trade and Immigraton Tor which T have
been  trying. To part ILT of thix Book which will bee published
an the near fature, T shall enlighten my reuders ax to the fate of
my cuse and the scheme, My heart now heats casy 1o readise
that to some extent Thave done my iluty to my brave comrades
who Tell at Bulge Budge by exposing the methods by which

they came to their early end.

1 would record here my greatest appreciation of fhose of my
dearest Feionds who freely, without any grwlge gave their
vihnadble tine in assisting 1o put these pages together,

Onee more Lask my readers, to give teir suggestion or
point oul any ervors that they might come acrosz =6 that Fufure
editions may be corrected and improved.

Part three of this volume whicli will follow will vontain life
sketches ol the heroes who fell at Budge Budge, of those whe
Leeame Ingitives after the shootings at that place.  How with
wounds stitl blewding, with bullets still in their bodies, with
sword cuts, clothless, without foad trying hard to swim across
rivers like Ganges and Sone with pelice hands close hehind chae
sing them like n hunter pursaing victims. 1"art three will tell
the blood comdling stories of the Komagatatraru passengers’

suffuings in prisons also storfes of those noble souls like
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Nurkar Balwant Singh, Sardar Kartar Singh and others, whe,
after learning the massacre of their friends at Budge Budge
eume out to the motherland from free America to avenge on
behalf of their fallen comrades but had themgelves to go to the

gallowy,

May I hope the government will irarn a Little lesson Erom
the story of their sufforings ?  May 1 hope the sad story of the
‘Komagatemara® passengers which - [ have related, relent
_ xome proud officir’s heart to deal more patiently with the suffer-
ing Indian humanity ? 1 stand ready to substantinte word by
word the happenings herein rocorded, 1 have living witnesses,
I have deeuments and other proofx to lny before any impartial

Judge wilking to go over the ‘Komagatamary® details,

Part three will also relate the part taken by Indians in the
new world to agsixt the movement for freedom fimaneiatly and by

all other possible ways.

This portion of the book will also advunce indeas as to h&\
andd when probably India will be India for Indians”. The writer
regretfulty have to mention that there might be delay in putting
part three inte the bunds of the Pubiic for want of sufficient
fund= und the Author will greatfully accept assistance from any

quurter in order to aceomplish this book with all possihble haste.

The following lines should have come carlier in the hook
tw: through an oversight they were omitted. Considering ther
as very essértial I insert them at the end :—
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The readers of this book might-and I am-certein they will
wonder as to why I did not at once surrchder to the. anthoritios
instead of leading the lifo of « fugitive for 7 years with Police
at the heels harrassing me. My nnswer to this has been in my
mindl for yoars and this I now lay befor my readera. 1 always
feared that once I foll into the hands of the Police they will
do xway with me withont a trial. Unce out of the way and all
my history gone with me the Police had all ihe means ab their
disposal to suppress any enquiry regarding myself, i thaere be
any one to enquire. To support this viow I am prepared to name
scvoral of my comrades whose whereabouts are not known since
the bloody Budge Budge day. What hecume of these brave
men is and will always remain a Police seeret and thut of God.

I assure the reader that I was always ready to appear hefore
any Conrt of Law if the Police hal taken action .ugainst me
under Hecton 187, T ways always on the look out it the Police

., was taking any aetion against me but they did not and this
¥act led me further to suspeet the Police motive. It i« a Bael
heyond any doubt that the Polive winted me and that badly
How they arrested & wrong person believing him to be myself
and how that poor man had 1o fight to save himsell from the
gallows will be told in Pare [IT of this hook.

I would draw the attention of the kind reader o the last lines
in para 7 of the Report of Enquiry Comunittee of Komagutamaru
which reads as follows :—

We think, however, that it is only Fair (o Gardit Bingh to
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observe that this and the other opinions expressed here and
elsewhere on this point are hased on Exparte Evidence, and
that we have not had the opporfunity of hearing his version
of the facts.”

The above clearly shows that owing to the fear of the Police
P had to hwa fugitive for 7 years and had T loen able to give
ovidence hefore the Faquiry Committes the Report would have
road muceh differently.

Now I appeal to the sense of Justiee of the world at Jarge
aml the Goevernmont of Indin to consider whether or nat a
wreat injustice wax dous to me by the Government of Insin
through the sabowdinute efficers. I am convinced of my righ
andd dlo demand [rom the Govermment te lay my case hefore the
Court of Law and ¥ am prepared to andergo any judgment that
may be passed against me.  IF the Government of India is nof
prepaved o do this then, in justice honnd I e demand Full
repuration oF the sum of Rupees twa and half lakhs plas litiga-
tion charges of the High Court of Caleotta and  the lossex ot
other passengers, [If the Government does this justice then  the
name of Government will shine and it will ba a proof that Jos-
tice do woeigh with an impartial hand.

To suppress the country is the eusiest thing for a mighty
(lovernment to do bot if the Government wants the country's

love then let her give justice.

Recd. wﬂ"ﬂ'

R |1 NO---.;.sd.&oh
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